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QUESTION PRESENTED

In determining whether an error in a civil case is harmless
for the purposes of 28 U.S.C. § 2111, should a court use the
same standard established for criminal cases in Kotteakos v.
United States, 328 U.S. 750 (1946), as eight courts of appeals
have held, or should it establish a divergent and less rigorous
standard for civil cases, as the Tenth Circuit and three other
courts of appeals have held?
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PARTIES TO THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW

Plaintiffs-appellants below, and petitioners in this Court,
are:

William I. Koch, Oxbow Energy, Inc., Northern Trust
Company, as trustee, Spring Creek Art Foundation,
Inc., Frederick R. Koch, and The Fiduciary Trust
Company International, as trustee.

Plaintiffs-appellants below, and petitioners in a separately
filed petition to this Court, are:

L.B. Simmons Energy, Inc. d/b/a Rocket Oil Com-
pany, Gay A. Roane, Ann Alspaugh, Paul Anthony
Andres Cox, Holly Antoinette Andres Cox Farabee,
and Ronald W. Borders.

Also appearing as plaintiffs below were:

United States Trust Company of New York, as trustee,
Marjorie Simmons Gray, as trustee, Marjorie L. Sim-
mons, as trustee, and Nationsbank, N.A., as co-trustee
of the Louis Howard Andres Cox Trusts B & D.

Defendants-appellees below, and respondents in this
Court, are:

Koch Industries, Inc., Charles G. Koch, David H.
Koch, Sterling V. Varner, Donald L. Cordes, and
Thomas M. Carey.
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CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

Neither Oxbow Energy, Inc., nor Spring Creek Art Foun-
dation, Inc., have any publicly traded parents or subsidiaries.
The Northern Trust Company and the Fiduciary Trust Com-
pany International are appearing solely as trustees for William
I. Koch and Frederick R. Koch.
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Supreme Court of the United StatesSupreme Court of the United States

WILLIAM I. KOCH; OXBOW ENERGY, INC.; SPRING CREEK ART
FOUNDATION, INC.; NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY; FREDERICK R.
KOCH; and THE FIDUCIARY TRUST COMPANY INTERNATIONAL,

Petitioners,
v.

KOCH INDUSTRIES, INC.; CHARLES G. KOCH; STERLING V.
VARNER; DAVID H. KOCH; DONALD L. CORDES;

and THOMAS M. CAREY,

Respondents.

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari
to the United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Petitioners William I. Koch, et al., respectfully petition
for a writ of certiorari to review the judgment of the United
States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit in this case.

This case presents the Court with a rare opportunity to re-
solve a deep and intractable inter-circuit conflict concerning
the proper standard of harmless error review in civil cases.

Adopting the standard established by this Court in Kot-
teakos v. United States, 328 U.S. 750 (1946) (a criminal
case), a majority of circuits have held that a trial error in a
civil case can be deemed “harmless” only if the court is
“fairly assured” or if there is a “high probability” that the er-
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ror did not influence the jury’s verdict.  However, a minority
of circuits – beginning with the Ninth Circuit, and followed
by the Seventh, Eighth, and Tenth Circuits – have expressly
rejected the use in civil cases of the Kotteakos harmless-error
standard.  These circuits instead have embraced a less exact-
ing standard by holding that a trial error in a civil case should
be deemed harmless whenever it can be said that the verdict
“more likely than not” would have been the same if the error
had not occurred.

The panel below applied the minority view to affirm a
judgment in a billion-dollar securities fraud case that was
tainted by egregious evidentiary errors.  Under the correct
harmless-error standard followed by the majority of circuits,
the judgment should be reversed.

OPINIONS BELOW

The opinions of the district court denying petitioners’
motion in limine and a related motion for reconsideration are
published as Koch v. Koch Industries, Inc., 2 F. Supp.2d 1385
(D. Kan. 1998) and Koch v. Koch Industries, Inc., 6 F.
Supp.2d 1207 (D. Kan. 1998) and are reproduced as Appen-
dices B & C (pages B1-B51 and C1-C13, esp. B9-B14, B49-
B50, and C4-C10), attached hereto.  The opinion of the dis-
trict court denying petitioners’ motion for mistrial is not pub-
lished in the official reports but is available as Koch v. Koch
Industries, Inc., 1998 WL 975598 (D. Kan,. 1998)  and is re-
produced as Appendix D (pages D1-D12), attached hereto.
The Tenth Circuit’s decision affirming the district court is
published as Koch v. Koch Industries, Inc., 203 F.3d 1202
(CA11 2000), and is reproduced as Appendix A (pages A1-
A70, esp. A37-A41), attached hereto.  The Tenth Circuit’s
order denying rehearing and rehearing en banc is unpublished
and is reproduced as Appendix E (pages E1-E2), attached
hereto.
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JURISDICTION

The Tenth Circuit issued its decision in this case on Feb-
ruary 14, 2000 and its order denying rehearing and rehearing
en banc on April 4, 2000.  On June 23, 2000, Justice Breyer
extended the time for filing a petition for certiorari to and in-
cluding August 2, 2000.  This Court has jurisdiction to hear
this petition pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1254(1)

STATUTORY PROVISION INVOLVED

This case presents a question involving the proper stan-
dard to be used when engaging in harmless-error review pur-
suant to 28 U.S.C. § 2111, “Harmless Error,”  which pro-
vides:

On the hearing of any appeal or writ of certiorari in any
case, the court shall give judgment after an examination
of the record without regard to errors or defects which
do not affect the substantial rights of the parties.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE1

This is a securities-fraud case arising out of one of the
most notable private securities transactions in American his-
tory.  As much as $2 billion is at stake.

Respondent Koch Industries, Inc. is a privately-held inte-
grated oil company based in Wichita, Kansas.  With annual
revenues of as much as $35 billion, Koch Industries currently
ranks as the second largest privately-held corporation in the
United States.  Respondents Charles Koch and David Koch
are two of the four sons of the company’s founder.  Charles
and David currently control Koch Industries, and own sub-
stantially all of its outstanding stock.  The other respondents
are former corporate officers and directors.

                                                
1 Unless otherwise noted, the facts are taken from the Tenth Circuit and
district court opinions, attached as Appendices A through D.
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Petitioners William Koch and Frederick Koch are the
other two of the four sons of the company’s founder.  Until
1983, petitioners collectively owned 48% of the company’s
stock.2  The other 52% of the company’s stock was controlled
by respondents Charles Koch and David Koch.

In 1983, respondents bought out petitioners’ 48% interest
in Koch Industries for $1.1 billion.  After the buyout, peti-
tioners discovered information indicating that respondents
had made false representations concerning the value of the
company’s assets and its financial condition.

Petitioners brought suit in the United States District Court
for the District of Kansas under sections 10(b) and 20(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, SEC Rule 10b-5, and
for fraud, breach of warranty, and breach of fiduciary duty.
Jurisdiction in the district court was based upon 28 U.S.C.
§§ 1331, 1332, and 1367.

In 1998, the case was tried to a jury.  At trial, respondents
defended themselves, in part, by falsely portraying petitioner
William Koch, the lead plaintiff and the plaintiffs’ most im-
portant witness, as a greedy, litigious villain.  In support of
this “defense,” respondents introduced misleading and highly
prejudicial evidence of other, unrelated litigation between the
parties, including evidence that William and Frederick Koch
even “sued their own mother.”

Respondents’ conduct at trial was expressly permitted,
over petitioners’ objections, by the district court.  Prior to
trial, petitioners filed a motion in limine to exclude the evi-
dence of unrelated litigation.  The district court denied the
motion.  It concluded that such evidence, including evidence
of the lawsuit involving William Koch’s mother, was “cen-
tral” to respondents’ case.  App. B12.  The district court fur-

                                                
2 This figure includes stock formerly owned by members of the Simmons
family, who have filed a separate petition for certiorari.



5

ther noted that the exclusion of this evidence would “eviscer-
ate” respondents’ defense.  App. B12.3

At trial, petitioners objected to the prejudicial demoniza-
tion of William and Frederick Koch at every opportunity.
Petitioners objected during the relevant portion of respon-
dents’ opening statements to the jury, and again when the
evidence was admitted during the cross-examination of peti-
tioner William Koch.  After the evidence was admitted, peti-
tioners moved for a mistrial.  The district court overruled the
objections, and denied the motion for mistrial.

At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found that the de-
fendants did in fact make misrepresentations and/or omissions
in connection with the buyout.  However, the jury awarded no
damages.  App. A7.

Petitioners appealed to the Tenth Circuit, pursuant to 28
U.S.C. § 1291.  The Tenth Circuit affirmed.  Although the
court expressly found that the inflammatory evidence was
“not relevant” and that “the district court erred in admitting
it,”  App. A41, it held that the error was harmless.

Restating the law of the circuit concerning harmless-error-
review, the panel stated that “[the Tenth Circuit] deems such
wrongly admitted evidence prejudicial only if we reasonably
conclude that the jury would have reached a different result
without that evidence.”  App. A41.  The panel then remarked
that it was not convinced “that the jury would have found for
the [petitioners] had it not learned of these other lawsuits.”
Id.

Petitioners sought rehearing and rehearing en banc on this
issue.  The petition expressly argued that the panel decision
                                                
3 In response to a motion for reconsideration, the district court made mat-
ters even worse.  The court ruled that the respondents could admit superfi-
cial information about the unrelated lawsuits (i.e., that William Koch sued
his brothers on several other occasions and that William and Frederick
Koch even “sued their own mother”), but that petitioners could not re-
spond by explaining the underlying merits or details of those lawsuits.
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exacerbated an existing inter-circuit conflict on the civil
harmless-error standard.  The Tenth Circuit denied rehearing
and rehearing en banc without comment.

This petition for certiorari followed.

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE WRIT

Certiorari should be granted because the Tenth Circuit’s
decision applying the “probable-harm” standard for whether
an error in a civil case requires reversal conflicts with the
“significant-possibility-of-harm” standard applied by eight
other circuit courts of appeals.  The question presented raises
an important national issue potentially affecting every single
civil case filed or reviewed in the federal courts.

Although this Court has addressed the appropriate stan-
dard of harmless-error review in the criminal and habeas
contexts, it has never defined the harmless-error standard in a
civil case.  The result is a festering inter-circuit split on a fun-
damental issue of federal court procedure – the degree of
certainty a court must have in order to disregard an error as
“harmless.”  This case presents an opportune vehicle with
which to resolve this important issue affecting the quality of
civil justice throughout the country.

I. THERE IS AN INTRACTABLE 8-4 SPLIT OVER THE
STANDARD FOR HARMLESS ERROR IN CIVIL CASES .

In Kotteakos v. United States, this Court set forth the
standard to be followed by appellate courts in determining
whether a trial error should be deemed harmless  The Court
explained:

If, when all is said and done, the [court’s] conviction
is sure that the error did not influence the jury, or had
but very slight effect, the verdict and the judgment
should stand ….  But if one cannot say, with fair assur-
ance, after pondering all that happened without stripping
the erroneous action from the whole, that the judgment
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was not substantially swayed by the error, it is impossi-
ble to conclude that substantial rights were not affected.
The inquiry cannot be merely whether there was enough
to support the result, apart from the phase affected by
the error.  It is rather, even so, whether the error itself
had substantial influence.  If so, or if one is left in grave
doubt, the conviction cannot stand.

328 U.S. at 764-65; see id. at 776 (error not harmless if it had
“substantial and injurious effect or influence” upon the jury).

Kotteakos was a criminal case.  However, because the
harmless-error statute, currently codified at 28 U.S.C. § 2111,
applies equally to civil and criminal cases, eight courts of ap-
peals – the First, Second, Third, Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Elev-
enth, and D.C. Circuits – have held that the standard set forth
in Kotteakos should also be employed in civil cases.  See
Lataille v. Ponte, 754 F.2d 33, 37 (CA1 1985) (applying
Kotteakos standard of whether court can say “with fair assur-
ance … that the judgment was not substantially swayed by the
error”); Cohen v. Franchard Corp., 478 F.2d 115, 125 (CA2)
(same), cert. denied, 414 U.S. 857 (1973); McQueeney v.
Wilmington Trust Co., 779 F.2d 916, 923-28 (CA3 1985)
(Kotteakos standard applies in both criminal and civil cases,
i.e., errors “are not harmless unless it is ‘highly probable’ that
they did not affect a party’s substantial rights”); Glass v.
Philadelphia Elec. Co., 34 F.3d 188, 191 (CA3 1994) (“error
is harmless only ‘if it is highly probable that the error did not
affect the outcome of the case.’”); Taylor v. Virginia Union
Univ., 193 F.3d 219, 235 (CA4 1999) (adopting Kotteakos
test of “‘whether the error itself had substantial influence’”),
cert. denied, -- U.S. --, 120 S. Ct. 1243 (2000); Howard v.
Gonzales, 658 F.2d 352, 357 (CA5 Unit A 1981) (applying
Kotteakos standard that if, “in the reviewing court's convic-
tion the error did not influence the jury or had but very slight
effect, the error is harmless”); Schrand v. Federal Pacific
Elec. Co., 851 F.2d 152, 157 (CA6 1988) (adopting Kotteakos
standard as applied by the D.C. Circuit); Aetna Cas. & Surety
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Co. v. Gosdin, 803 F.2d 1153, 1159 (CA11 1986) (“in civil
cases courts should apply the same standard as announced in
Kotteakos”); Williams v. United States Elevator Corp., 920
F.2d 1019, 1022-23 (CADC 1990) (applying Kotteakos sub-
stantial influence test); Jordan v. Medley, 711 F.2d 211, 219
n. 6 (CADC 1983) (Scalia, J.) (Kotteakos standard “is used by
this court and others to determine effect upon ‘substantial
rights’ in civil cases”).

The Seventh, Eighth, Ninth, and Tenth Circuits, however,
do not apply Kotteakos in civil cases, but instead apply a less
rigorous civil harmless-error standard that requires reversal
only if the error “more probably than not” altered the result in
the case.  Haddad v. Lockheed Cal. Corp., 720 F.2d 1454,
1458-59 (CA9 1983) (rejecting a “possibly influenced” stan-
dard applied in criminal cases and holding that “an error in a
civil trial need only be more probably than not harmless”);
see also Smith v. Chesapeake & Ohio Ry. Co., 778 F.2d 384,
389 (CA7 1985) (applying more-probable-than-not standard);
McIlroy v. Dittmer, 732 F.2d 98, 105 (CA8 1984) (“jury
would more probably than not still have reached the same re-
sult,” citing Ninth Circuit standard); United States Indus. v.
Touche Ross & Co., 854 F.2d 1223, 1252-53 n. 39 (CA10
1988) (rejecting the Kotteakos standard and instead asking
“whether the substantial rights of the parties were more
probably than not unaffected by the error”), impliedly over-
ruled on other grounds as recognized in Suiter v. Mitchell
Motor Coach Sales, Inc., 151 F.3d 1275, 1288 (CA10 1998).

The Tenth Circuit in this case applied its established
harmless-error standard, asking whether the “jury would have
reached a different result.”  App. A41.  As the Tenth Circuit
has previously recognized, United States Indus., 854 F.2d at
1252-53 n. 39, that standard conflicts with the Kotteakos sub-
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stantial-influence standard applied in the majority of the cir-
cuits on the opposite side of the issue.4

This well-developed split has no realistic prospect of re-
solving itself.  Courts on both sides of the issue have ac-
knowledged the existence of the split and have expressly dis-
agreed with their sister circuits on the opposite side.

On the majority side of the split, the D.C. Circuit has ob-
served that it is “well aware that the circuits are divided on
the appropriate standard of review to apply in gauging the ef-
fect of an error in a civil case.”  Williams, 920 F.2d at 1023.
Likewise, in the most recent addition to the majority view, the
en banc Fourth Circuit in Taylor v. Virginia Union University
collected cases, expressly joined the majority of circuits in
applying the Kotteakos standard to civil cases, and recognized
that a minority of circuits “have refused to apply the Kot-
teakos standard in the civil context.”  193 F.3d at 235 & n. 10.
On the minority side of the split, the Tenth Circuit likewise
has held firm despite having “recognize[d] that the circuits
are divided on the appropriate standard of review to apply in

                                                
4 Beyond the primary split on the substance of the harmless-error standard,
there is a related split over who bears the risk of uncertainty or doubt as to
whether an error is harmless.  Justice Thomas, dissenting in O’Neal, has
recognized the existence of this further split as to the “burden of showing
prejudice” in a civil appeal.  O’Neal, 513 U.S. at 450 (Thomas, J., dis-
senting); compare Morrison Knudsen Corp. v. Fireman’s Fund Ins. Co.,
175 F.3d 1221, 1241 (CA10 1999) (allocating “risk of doubt” as to harm-
lessness to appellant); Hygh v. Jacobs, 961 F.2d 359, 365 (CA2 1992)
(“burden of demonstrating prejudice requiring reversal rests with the party
asserting error”); Smith v. Wal-Mart Stores (No. 471) , 891 F.2d 1177,
1180 (CA5 1990) (per curiam) (“party asserting error has the burden of
proving that the error prejudiced a substantial right”); United States v.
Killough, 848 F.2d 1523, 1527 (CA11 1988) (same); and Flanigan  v.
Burlington Northern Inc., 632 F.2d 880, 889 (CA8 1980) (“it is the ap-
pellant’s burden to establish the prejudicial effect”), cert. denied, 450 U.S.
921 (1981), with Ahern  v. Scholz, 85 F.3d 774, 786 (CA1 1996) (grave
doubt as to effect treated as harmful); Barth v. Gelb, 2 F.3d 1180, 1188
(CADC 1993) (same), cert. denied, 511 U.S. 1030 (1994).
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gauging the effect of an error in a civil case.” United States
Indus., 854 F.2d at 1252-53 n. 39.

Thus, notwithstanding the recognized opposing views of
the other circuits, courts on both sides have continued to hold
to those opposing views as to whether the Kotteakos standard
applies in both civil and criminal cases.  Indeed, the Tenth
Circuit, from which this case arises, had long ago aligned it-
self with the minority view of the Seventh, Eighth, and Ninth
Circuits and there is no reason to believe that it will revisit
that choice, as corroborated by its denial of rehearing en banc
in this case.  App. E1.   See also Aetna, 803 F.2d at 1160 n. 13
(CA11) (recognizing split); McQueeny, 779 F.2d at 925-27
(CA3) (extensively analyzing and expressly rejecting less
stringent standard from Eighth and Ninth Circuits); cf. Had-
dad, 720 F.2d at 1458-59 & nn. 6-7 (CA9) (noting distin-
guished commentary on alternative harmless-error standards
and nonetheless rejecting unified standard for civil and crimi-
nal cases).  There is no indication that these courts of appeals
will alter their long-held views without controlling direction
from this Court.

The need for this Court to resolve this split expressly and
decisively is demonstrated by the persistence of the split even
after this Court’s decision in O’Neal v. McAninch, 513 U.S.
432 (1995).  O’Neal contains strong language in support of
the majority position.  This Court wrote in O’Neal that “civil
and criminal harmless-error standards do not differ in their
treatment of grave doubt as to the harmlessness of errors af-
fecting substantial rights.”  513 U.S. at 441.  The significance
of the O’Neal case for the merits of this petition will be dis-
cussed in the following section; what is important regarding
the circuit split, however, is that the Tenth Circuit and other
courts in the minority continue to apply a less stringent stan-
dard despite the highly significant language from O’Neal.
See Kennedy v. Southern California Edison Co., -- F.3d --, --,
2000 WL 991836, at *9 (CA9 2000) (harmless-error review
in a civil case asks whether the “‘error is more probably than
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not harmless,’” and “is ‘less stringent’ than review for harm-
less error in a criminal case”) (citations omitted); cf. ATD
Corp. v. Lydall, Inc., 159 F.3d 534, 549 (CA Fed.1998) (post-
O’Neal case noting the split and the use of the different “more
probable than not” standard by the Seventh, Eighth, Ninth,
and Tenth Circuits).  There is thus no realistic prospect of the
split resolving itself without this Court’s intervention.

II. THE TENTH CIRCUIT’S PROBABLE-CHANGE-IN-
OUTCOME TEST CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT’S
CASES INTERPRETING THE HARMLESS-ERROR
STATUTE, 28 U.S.C. § 2111.

In becoming the most recent circuit to join the majority
view regarding harmless error, the en banc Fourth Circuit
succinctly summarized the merits of applying the Kotteakos
standard in civil cases:

[W]e can fathom no sound justification for using a
different test for determining whether a lower court’s er-
ror affected an appellant’s substantial rights in the civil
context as compared to the criminal context.  Indeed, by
its own terms, § 2111 makes no distinction between civil
and criminal cases, thereby implying that Congress in-
tended uniform treatment of the statute’s language in the
civil and criminal contexts.

Taylor, 193 F.3d at 235.  Not only does this view make sense
as a construction of § 2111, it finds substantial support in this
Court’s cases interpreting the harmless-error statute.

Over 50 years ago in Kotteakos itself, this Court observed
regarding § 2111’s predecessor that the “statute in terms
makes no distinction between civil and criminal causes.”
Kotteakos, 328 U.S. at 762.  And in discussing the statute, the
Court cited to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 61, as well as
to various criminal rules.  Id. at 757 n. 9.  Twenty years later
in Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 22 n. 5 (1967), the
Court again cited to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 61, even
though discussing § 2111 in the context of a criminal case.
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More recently in a civil case, this Court addressed gener-
ally the application of the harmless-error statute in a civil
case, but did not clearly state a particular formulation of that
standard.  McDonough Power Equip., Inc. v. Greenwood, 464
U.S. 548 (1984).  What the McDonough Court did do, how-
ever, was repeatedly cite to Kotteakos without any indication
that that criminal decision was inapplicable in the civil con-
text.  Id. at 553-54.  It also characterized harmless error as
mere “abstract imperfection,” while holding that the inability
to challenge a juror for cause would warrant a new trial with-
out any suggestion that the litigant need further show a prob-
able different result had the juror been challenged.  Id. at 556.

Most recently in O’Neal, a habeas case addressing who
bears the risk of uncertainty whether an error is harmless, this
Court observed that “precedent suggests that civil and crimi-
nal harmless-error standards do not differ in their treatment of
grave doubt as to the harmlessness of errors affecting sub-
stantial rights.”  513 U.S. at 441.  Discussing Kotteakos and
its construction of the predecessor to § 2111, the Court further
noted, as Kotteakos had a half-century before, that the “stat-
ute, by its terms, applied to both civil and criminal cases.”  Id.

The O’Neal Court observed that “the current harm-
less-error sections of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and
the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure (which use nearly
identical language) both refer to” the predecessor to § 2111 as
their statutory source.  The Court further explained that:

[E]ven if, for argument’s sake, we were to assume
that the civil standard for judging harmlessness applies
to habeas proceedings (despite the fact that they review
errors in state criminal trials), it would make no differ-
ence with respect to the matter before us.  For relevant
authority rather clearly indicates that, either way, the
courts should treat similarly the matter of “grave doubt”
regarding the harmlessness of errors affecting substan-
tial rights, and as Kotteakos provides.

O’Neal, 513 U.S. at 441-42.
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This Court’s various considerations of the harmless-error
statute, although yet to provide a definitive statement of the
correct standard in the civil context, strongly support the ma-
jority view that the Kotteakos standard applies in both civil
and criminal cases.  The standard applied by the Tenth Circuit
in this case, and by the other circuits in the minority, thus
constitutes an erroneous interpretation of § 2111 warranting a
grant of certiorari to enable this Court to establish a uniform
and correct interpretation of that statute.

III. THE HARMLESS-ERROR STANDARD IN CIVIL CASES
PRESENTS AN IMPORTANT NATIONAL QUESTION

REQUIRING RESOLUTION BY THIS COURT.

The proper standard for harmless-error review in civil
cases raises an important national issue requiring resolution
by this Court.  The standard potentially comes into play in
virtually all of the civil cases filed each year.  Indeed, a
Westlaw search demonstrates that “harmless error” was dis-
cussed in approximately 427 opinions in civil cases in 1999,
and has already been discussed in approximately 244 opinions
in 2000.5

The question also arises in all manner of civil cases, from
diversity actions involving contracts and torts, to federal
question cases involving securities law and civil rights.  See,
e.g., Williams, 920 F.2d at 1020 (diversity case alleging neg-

                                                
5 The harmless-error standard under § 2111 also, as a practical matter,
determines the harmless-error standard applied in district courts under
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 61.  See McDonough Power Equip. v.
Greenwood, 464 U.S. 548, 554 (1984) (harmless-error statute applicable
to appellate courts, “incorporates the same principle as that found in Rule
61”); McQueeny, 779 F.2d at 923 n. 10 (“Although in this discussion we
will often speak of the appellate court’s standard of review, our discussion
is also relevant to the trial court’s harmless error analysis on consideration
of post-trial motions.”).  As a result, the split over the appellate standard
for harmless error also affects numerous cases and rulings that may never
even reach the courts of appeal.
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ligent infliction of emotional distress); United States Indus.,
854 F.2d at 1226 (federal securities case with various pendant
state claims); Lataille, 754 F.2d at 34 (§ 1983 civil rights ac-
tion).  Given the great volume and topical breadth of cases
affected by the harmless-error standard, it is all the more im-
portant that the law defining that standard be uniform
throughout the country. 6

At bottom, the standard of harmless-error review applied
by the courts of appeals has a profound effect on the very
quality of civil justice in the federal courts.  If the majority of
circuits are correct in holding that an error can be deemed
harmless only if there is a high probability that the error did
not affect the judgment, then the thousands of plaintiffs and
defendants who are forced to litigate in the Seventh, Eighth,
Ninth, and Tenth Circuits are being denied a sufficiently ac-
curate and reliable determination of their rights and liabilities.
This case thus presents an important question for the admini-
stration of civil justice in the federal courts that can only be
resolved by this Court.  Cf. Kotteakos, 328 U.S. at 752 (“We
granted certiorari because of the importance of the question
for the administration of criminal justice in the federal
courts.”).

IV. THIS CASE PRESENTS AN EXCELLENT VEHICLE FOR

RESOLVING THE INTER-CIRCUIT CONFLICT.

The tremendous financial stakes in this litigation give the
parties an obvious incentive to brief the competing views on
this issue vigorously and thoroughly.  Both sides are also
well-represented by experienced counsel familiar with federal
court procedure and with Supreme Court practice.  Perhaps

                                                
6 Consistency and uniformity in this area also have “certain administrative
virtues” that “[i]n a highly technical area such as this one” will bring
“simplicity, a body of existing case law available for consultation, … and
a consequently diminished risk of further, error-produced, proceedings.”
O’Neal, 513 U.S. at 443.
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most importantly, the split is squarely and meaningfully pre-
sented by this case.

The evidence that was improperly admitted by the district
court included the following: (1) that William and Frederick
Koch had sued Charles and David on several other occasions;
(2) that William and Frederick had even “sued their own
mother” over a family foundation; (3) that William Koch had
“greatly upset his mother by subpoenaing her into court”; (4)
that the foundation lawsuit left their late mother so “broken
hearted” that she disinherited them; (5) that William and Fre-
derick then challenged their late mother’s will; (6) and that
the court found against William and Frederick “on every is-
sue” in the will contest case.  App. A38; Trial Transcript Vol.
T1, at 354-55; Trial Transcript Vol. T4, at 2723-24.

The potential impact of this improperly admitted evidence
cannot be understated.  A juror need only hear once that the
plaintiffs “sued their own mother” to be hopelessly prejudiced
against them.  Indeed, in denying petitioners’ pretrial motion
in limine to exclude this evidence, the district court itself con-
cluded that it was “central” to respondents’ case and that their
defense would be “eviscerate[d]” without it.  App. B12.

If the standard set forth by this Court in Kotteakos were to
be applied in this case, reversal would be necessary.  It cannot
be said “with fair assurance” that the erroneous introduction
of this inflammatory evidence did not have “a substantial and
injurious effect or influence” in determining the jury’s ver-
dict.  Only by invoking Tenth Circuit authority rejecting Kot-
teakos and applying a far less exacting standard of review did
the panel below justify affirming despite the district court’s
error.

The panel below offered no alternative rationale for af-
firming the district court.  If this Court concludes that the
majority of circuits are correct in applying the Kotteakos
standard in civil cases, the Tenth Circuit’s judgment in this
case must be reversed.
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CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for a writ of certio-
rari should be granted.
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APPENDIX A

203 F.3d 1202

William I. KOCH;  Oxbow Energy, Inc.;  L.B. Simmons
Energy, Inc., doing business as Rocket Oil Company;  Spring
Creek Art Foundation Inc.;  Gay A. Roane;  Ann Alspaugh;
The Northern Trust Company, as trustee;  Paul Anthony An-
dres Cox;  Holly A.A.C. Farabee;  Ronald W. Borders’  Fre-

derick R. Koch;  The Fiduciary Trust Company International,
Plaintiffs -Appellants,

and

United States Trust Company of New York, as trustee;
Marjorie Simmons Gray, as trustee;  Marjorie L. Sim-
mons, as trustee;  Nationsbank N.A., co-trustee of the
Louis Howard Andres Cox Trusts B & D, Plaintiffs,

v.

KOCH INDUSTRIES, INC.;  Charles G. Koch;  Ster-
ling V. Varner;  David H. Koch; Donald L. Cordes;  Tho-

mas M. Carey, Defendants-Appellees.

No. 98-3223.

United States Court of Appeals,

Tenth Circuit.

Feb. 14, 2000.

Arthur R. Miller, Cambridge, Massachusetts, (Fred H.
Bartlit, Jr., Donald E. Scott, Ellen A. Cirangle, Ryan D.
Downs, Glen E. Summers, of Bartlit, Beck, Herman, Palen-
char & Scott, Denver, Colorado, Attorneys for Plain-
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tiffs-Appellants William I. Koch, Oxbow Energy, Inc., North-
ern Trust Company and Spring Creek Art Foundation;  Harry
L. Najim, of Najim Law Offices, Wichita, Kansas;  Russell E.
Brooks, Eugene F. Farabaugh, of Milbank, Tweed, Hadley &
McCloy, New York, New York, Attorneys for Plain-
tiffs-Appellants Frederick R. Koch and The Fiduciary Trust
Company International;  Gregory S.C. Huffman, L. James
Berglund, II, Christopher L. Barnes, of Thompson & Knight,
P.C., Dallas, Texas, Attorneys for Plaintiffs-Appellants L.B.
Simmons Energy, Inc. d/b/a Rocket Oil Company, Gay A.
Roane, Ann Alspaugh, Paul Cox, Holly Farabee and Ronald
Borders, with him on the briefs).

Robert L. Howard, of Foulston & Siefkin L.L.P., Wichita,
Kansas (James M. Armstrong, James D. Oliver, and Timothy
B. Mustaine with him on the briefs) for Appellees.

Before EBEL, McWILLIAMS, and MURPHY, Circuit
Judges.

MURPHY, Circuit Judge.

I. INTRODUCTION

In June of 1983, a group of Koch Industries, Inc. (“KII”)
stockholders entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement
(“SPA”) with KII. Under the SPA, the selling stockholders
(the “Plaintiffs”), who owned 47.8% of KII stock, received
$200 per share, a total value of approximately $1.1 billion.
Two years later, the Plaintiffs sued KII and individual KII
officers (the “Defendants”), claiming the Defendants misrep-
resented and omitted material facts during the negotiation of
the SPA, which resulted in the Plaintiffs’ undervaluation of
KII stock.  Thirteen years later, the case finally went to trial.
Following an eleven week trial, a jury returned a verdict in
favor of the Defendants.  The Plaintiffs now appeal a host of
district court rulings, made both prior to and during trial.

Specifically, the Plaintiffs challenge the district court’s
summary judgment ruling; its construction, application, and
unwillingness to vary the terms of the pretrial order; various
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evidentiary rulings; jury instructions on state law claims;  the
district court’s restrictions on the Plaintiffs’ fraud claims;  its
limitation of damages;  and, generally the trial court’s admini-
stration of this litigation.  With the exception of the district
court’s jury instructions on two fraud claims premised on
Texas state law, this court affirms the judgment of the district
court.
II. BACKGROUND

A. Factual Background

The subject of this dispute, KII, is the second largest pri-
vately-held corporation in the United States.  Based in Wich-
ita, Kansas, KII owns an array of energy-related operations in
the United States and Canada.  Specifically, KII’s assets in-
clude oil refineries, service stations, pipelines, coal mines, oil
and gas exploration properties and processing plants, and a
fleet of trucks.  KII also owns numerous ranches and several
hundred Chrysler dealerships.

Originally named the Rock Island Oil and Refining Com-
pany, KII was founded by Fred C. Koch, the father of plain-
tiffs William and Frederick Koch and defendants Charles and
David Koch. Fred Koch launched the company after World
War II, when his mentor, L.B. Simmons, sold a refinery and
several pipelines to Fred. In exchange, L.B. Simmons re-
ceived stock and cash and he soon purchased additional
shares of Rock Island Oil and Refining.

L.B. Simmons’ stock eventually passed individually and
in trust to the following plaintiffs:  Gay Roane, Holly Fara-
bee, and Ronald Borders (the “Texas Plaintiffs”), Ann Al-
spaugh, Paul Cox, and L.B. Simmons Energy, Inc. (collec-
tively, the “Simmons Family”1).  For decades, the Simmons
Family elected a director to KII’s Board of Directors.  Those

                                                
1 The Simmons Family includes the Texas Plaintiffs as well as Alspaugh,
Cox, and L.B. Simmons Energy, Inc.
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members of the Simmons Family involved in the instant suit
are cousins to the four Koch brothers.

In 1966 and 1967, Fred Koch gave all his common shares
of KII stock to trusts created for his four sons, granting equal
shares to plaintiff William and defendants Charles and David,
but a lesser amount to plaintiff Frederick.  When Fred Koch
died in 1967, Charles succeeded his father as a director and
chief executive officer of KII, positions he retains today.
David went to work for KII in 1970 and presently serves as an
executive vice-president and a director.  William joined KII
full-time in 1974, becoming vice-president of corporate de-
velopment five years later and continuously serving as a di-
rector from 1967 to 1983.  Frederick, however, displayed sub-
stantially less interest in the company;  he was never a KII
employee and did not place a representative on the board until
March of 1981.

In 1980, a dispute erupted over the management of KII,
pitting William, Frederick and the Simmons Family against
Charles and David.  During this contentious power struggle,
Charles and David purchased the 4 % of KII stock owned by
Howard Marshall III, the son of director J. Howard Marshall
II. As a result, the voting percentage of stock retained by
William, Frederick and the Simmons Family stood at 47.8 %,
while Charles, David and the family of J. Howard Marshall II
controlled 49.7 %, with employees and others owning the
balance.  In addition, the Board voted to terminate William’s
employment at KII.

At that point, KII began negotiating with William, Fre-
derick and the Simmons Family either to buy back some or all
of their stock or to take KII public and have the now dissident
shareholders sell their stock on the public market. Both sides
then retained law firms and investment banking companies to
represent them in the negotiations.  On behalf of the dissident
shareholders, the investment banking firm Goldman Sachs
undertook an extensive valuation study of KII, beginning in
the spring of 1982.
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These efforts culminated in the June 1983 SPA. Signed by
all parties on June 4, 1983, the SPA provided that William,
Frederick and the Simmons Family would sell their shares of
KII common stock back to the company for $200 per share. In
addition, the selling shareholders received their pro rata inter-
ests in an offshore oil concession.  The SPA contained two
relevant warranties by KII: The first provided that all KII fi-
nancial statements disclosed to the selling shareholders had
fairly presented KII’s financial condition and were prepared
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
The second warranty promised that since December 31, 1982,
the Defendants had provided all information “which if fully
disclosed might materially affect the valuation of [KII]
stock....”

B. Procedural Background

In June of 1985, two years after signing the SPA, the
selling shareholders filed suit, claiming the Defendants had
misrepresented or failed to disclose material facts which, if
properly provided, would have increased the Plaintiffs’
valuation of KII stock at the time of the SPA. Specifically, the
complaint detailed three alleged misrepresentations concern-
ing KII’s oil and gas properties in the Persian Gulf, Utah, and
North Dakota and further alleged a general scheme to conceal
the true value of KII stock.  The Plaintiffs asserted federal
claims under sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Ex-
change Act of 1934 and Securities and Exchange Commission
Rule 10b-5, and state claims for breach of fiduciary duty,
breach of warranty, and fraud.  They requested actual dam-
ages of over $2 billion.  The Defendants named in the action
were KII; Charles and David Koch; Sterling Varner, the
president and a director of KII;  Tom Carey, KII’s
vice-president of finance; and Donald Cordes, KII’s
vice-president of legal affairs.

On November 5, 1986, the district court granted summary
judgment in favor of the Defendants on the Persian Gulf and
Utah claims, but denied summary judgment on the North Da-
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kota claim.  The district court also determined the Plaintiffs’
allegation of a general scheme to conceal the value of stock
failed to meet the particularity requirement of Rule 9(b) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  After several failed at-
tempts to bring the excluded claims before other fora,2 in
1989 the Plaintiffs persuaded the district court to grant them
leave to amend their complaint, adding both general and spe-

                                                
2 The Plaintiffs first filed a motion for reconsideration of the grant of
summary judgment and a motion for leave to amend their complaint to
meet Rule 9(b)’s particularity requirement, but the district court denied
these two motions.  The Plaintiffs then unsuccessfully petitioned this court
for a writ of mandamus compelling the district court to vacate the order
denying them leave to amend.  See Koch v. Koch, 1988 WL 130669, at *2
(D.Kan., Nov.4, 1988).  Later that year, the Plaintiffs brought a separate
suit before another judge of the United States District Court for the Dis-
trict of Kansas, again alleging fraud and misrepresentation regarding the
SPA.  See Oxbow Energy, Inc. v. Koch Indus., Inc., 686 F. Supp. 278,
279-80 (D.Kan.1988).  The district court, however, granted summary
judgment to the Defendants, because it “required [the Plaintiffs] to bring
all claims of misrepresentation arising out of the [SPA] in one action.”  Id.
at 282.  In that order, the district court stated,

[T]he court cannot condone plaintiffs’ practice of running to a dif-
ferent city within the district and filing a new case every time a
judge in a prior action makes a ruling adverse to that litigant’s posi-
tion.  The court cannot be made a party to what is in effect an ap-
peal from Judge Crow’s ruling in the 1985 action.

Id.  Finally, in 1988, in a suit brought by Charles and David  Koch against
William Koch requesting specific performance of a sales contract con-
cerning a coin collection and real property, William counterclaimed, al-
leging he was excused from performance due to Charles’ and David’s
misrepresentations regarding the SPA. See Koch, 1988 WL 130669, at
*1-* 2.  Yet a third judge of the same district court dismissed William’s
counterclaim as precluded by the summary judgment order issued in  Ox-
bow Energy, Inc. v. Koch Indus., Inc.  See Koch, 1988 WL 130669, at
*3-*4.  After reciting the above-quoted language from the Oxbow Energy
summary judgment order, the district court concluded, “This counterclaim
is the third vehicle which defendant has used to raise the same issues....
This court is even more emphatically unwilling to overrule the clear deci-
sions of two learned brothers.”  Id. at *4.
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cific allegations of fraudulent accounting policies and prac-
tices.  Based on this amended complaint, the Plaintiffs then
sought broad discovery from several non- parties, requests
which a magistrate judge and the district court strictly limited.

In 1993, the district court closed discovery.  The Defen-
dants then filed a motion for summary judgment on all of the
remaining claims.  On July 11, 1997, the district court issued
its order, granting summary judgment to the Defendants on
several of the Plaintiffs’ claims.  The district court, however,
denied summary judgment on one of the Plaintiffs’ account-
ing claims, which alleged the Defendants failed to disclose
that certain expenses were “unusual or infrequently occur-
ring.”  In addition, the district court preserved the Plaintiffs’
claims that the Defendants withheld information about two
expansions of KII’s Pine Bend Refinery in Minnesota.  Just
prior to trial the district court further ruled that Texas law
governed the Texas Plaintiffs’ state law fraud claims.

In 1998, an eleven week jury trial proceeded on the ac-
counting and Pine Bend claims.  The jury eventually returned
a verdict in favor of the Defendants. With respect to the Pine
Bend claims, the jury found that the Defendants had withheld
information but that their misrepresentations or omissions
were not material.  It also found the Defendants had not
breached their fiduciary duty, because they disclosed all ma-
terial facts and KII had paid a fair price for the stock.  On the
accounting claim, the jury found the expenses at issue were
not infrequently occurring as defined by generally accepted
accounting principles.

The Plaintiffs, including the Texas Plaintiffs, now cha l-
lenge a litany of district court rulings issued both before and
during the trial.  This court exercises jurisdiction pursuant to
28 U.S.C. § 1291 and affirms in part and reverses in part.
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III. DISCUSSION

A. Pine Bend Claims

The Plaintiffs challenge two district court rulings relating
to their claims that, prior to the SPA, the Defendants withheld
information about expansion plans for KII’s Pine Bend Refin-
ery.  First, the Plaintiffs argue the district court improperly
granted summary judgment against the Plaintiffs on their
claim that the Defendants did not disclose KII’s plans to ex-
pand the refinery to a crude processing capacity of 175,000
barrels per day (“B/D”).  Second, the Plaintiffs assert the dis-
trict court erred by denying their motion to amend the Pretrial
Order to conform to evidence at trial indicating that just prior
to the SPA, KII had plans to increase the refinery’s capacity
to 200,000 B/D.

1. Summary Judgment on the 175,000 B/D Claim

In a 1993 Pretrial Order,3 the Plaintiffs asserted the fol-
lowing claim:

As of the date of the stock sale, defendants knew but did
not inform the selling shareholders that KII already was
increasing, and making plans for further increasing, the
crude processing capacity of the Pine Bend Refinery to

                                                
3 Although this 1993 Pretrial Order is not dated, file-stamped, or signed by
the District Judge, and does not set a date for the pretrial conference, the
parties appear to have treated this proposed order as defining their claims
and defenses for purposes of the summary judgment motion.  This court
will similarly treat the 1993 Pretrial Order.

     After the district court issued its summary judgment order in 1997, the
parties drafted a new pretrial order (the “1998 Pretrial Order”) which re-
flected the determinations made at summary judgment.  Thus, the 1998
Pretrial Order looks much like the 1993 Pretrial Order, except that it does
not include those claims which the district court had ruled insufficient as a
matter of law.  This 1998 Pretrial Order, which was subjected to the for-
malities normally required for such orders, constituted the final pretrial
order prior to trial and was used to measure the dimensions of the trial.
See infra note 9.
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approximately 145,000 B/D by June 1983;  to approxi-
mately 155,000 B/D by the end of 1983;  and to ap-
proximately 175,000 B/D within the next two years
thereafter.

... Defendants’ plans included delivering and selling the
increased Pine Bend output into existing and new mar-
ket territories to be accessed more effectively by the re-
versal of the direction of flow of the Williams Pipeline
and by other means.

1993 Pretrial Order, 9-10 (first emphasis added).  The
Plaintiffs sought to recover for these alleged omissions under
the following legal theories:  (1) breach of contractual war-
ranty;  (2) breach of fiduciary duty;  (3) common law fraud;
and (4) securities fraud.  See id. at 16.

The Defendants moved for summary judgment on each of
the 145,000, 155,000, and 175,000 B/D claims.  The district
court denied summary judgment on the 145,000 and 155,000
B/D claims, allowing those claims to go to trial, but granted
the Defendants’ motion on the 175,000 B/D claim.

In its summary judgment order, the district court first
posed the issue in these terms:  “Is there enough evidence
from which a reasonable jury could find that as of June of
1983 KII had firm plans to expand Pine Bend’s capacity to
175,000 bpd within two years?”  Summary Judgment Memo-
randum and Order, July 11, 1997, at 127-28 (emphasis
added).  In answering this question, the district court went on
to rule,

The court believes a reasonable jury could not find that
the defendants in June of 1983 had reasonably firm or
definite plans to expand Pine Bend’s capacity to
175,000 bpd within two years.  At most, the evidence
sustains the inference that [KII] officials believed in
early 1983 that the economic forecasts and other projec-
tions were sufficiently favorable that they should recon-
sider now increasing refinery capacity under two previ-
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ously defined cases....  The plaintiffs do not submit any
evidence from which one can reasonably infer that as of
the SPA the defendants had already decided on a spe-
cific schedule for expanding refinery capacity regardless
of [the engineering firm] Litwin’s engineering results
and cost summaries.  Instead, the evidence overwhelm-
ingly indicates that the defendants remained uncertain
about the timing, amount and type of any expansion and
that any decision to expand remained contingent on
among other things, Litwin’s results.  The mere decision
to consider refinery expansion and to set parameters for
estimating costs is not what the plaintiffs allege in this
claim.  They allege that the defendants planned to ex-
pand the refinery to 175,000 bpd within two years. Quite
simply, the plaintiffs do not come forth with the evi-
dence to sustain this allegation of “planned” expansion.
Id. at 128-29 (emphasis added).

The Plaintiffs appeal this decision on two grounds.  First,
the Plaintiffs contend the district court erroneously required
evidence of “firm” or “definite” plans, even though neither
the Plaintiffs’ claim in the 1993 Pretrial Order nor the con-
trolling law on any of their legal theories uses those terms.
Second, the Plaintiffs assert that a reasonable jury could find
that the evidence supported the exact claim articulated in the
1993 Pretrial Order, i.e., KII was “making plans” for a
175,000 B/D expansion.

This court reviews a district court’s grant of summary
judgment de novo.  See Anderson v. Coors Brewing Co., 181
F.3d 1171, 1175 (10th Cir.1999).  Summary judgment is ap-
propriate “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interroga-
tories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if
any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material
fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a
matter of law.” Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(c).  “When applying this
standard, we view the evidence and draw reasonable infer-
ences therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving
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party.”  Simms v. Oklahoma ex rel. Dep’t of Mental Health &
Substance Abuse Servs., 165 F.3d 1321, 1326 (10th Cir.),
cert. denied, -- U.S. --, 120 S. Ct. 53, 145 L.Ed.2d 46 (1999).
This court has held that failure of proof of an essential ele-
ment renders all other facts immaterial.  See Treff v. Galetka,
74 F.3d 191, 195 (10th Cir.1996).  Thus, to succeed on sum-
mary judgment on the 175,000 B/D claim, the Defendants
must demonstrate that no material facts regarding this claim,
or at least regarding any essential element of the claim, are in
dispute and that these undisputed facts fail to prove as a mat-
ter of law any essential element of the claim.

In Air-Exec Inc. v. Two Jacks Inc., this court noted that
when parties to a lawsuit fail to object to or move to amend a
pretrial order, that order “measures the dimensions of the law-
suit both in the trial court and on appeal.”  584 F.2d 942, 944
(10th Cir.1978);  see also Fed.R.Civ.P. 16(e) (the pretrial or-
der “shall control the subsequent course of the action unless
modified by a subsequent order”).  For purposes of summary
judgment, therefore, the pretrial order coupled with the gov-
erning law establish the quantum of evidence required for the
Plaintiffs to survive the Defendants’ summary judgment mo-
tion on the 175,000 B/D claim.

In the 1993 Pretrial Order, the Plaintiffs asserted KII was
“making plans” to expand the refinery’s crude capacity to
175,000 B/D by the end of 1985.  As this order plots the di-
mensions of the Plaintiffs’ claim, they must reference suffi-
cient record evidence for this court to conclude a reasonable
jury could find KII was “making plans” for this 175,000 B/D
expansion by the end of 1985.  Additionally, although each of
the Plaintiffs’ four legal theories impose upon the Defendants
slightly different disclosure standards,4 this court can look to

                                                
4 Due to the terms of the SPA, the breach of warranty claim requires the
Plaintiffs to prove a failure to disclose any “event, condition, or state of
facts ... which if fully disclosed might materially affect the valuation of
stock of [KII] by a prudent and knowledgeable investor....” SPA, § 5(d)
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the least burdensome of these standards to determine whether
any of the claims should have gone to trial.  Among these
four slightly different disclosure standards, the least rigorous
for the Plaintiffs is that flowing from their breach of warranty
claim.  Thus, in order for even the warranty claim to survive
summary judgment, this court, viewing the evidence before
the district court at summary judgment in a light most favor-
able to the Plaintiffs, must answer the following three ques-
tions in the affirmative.  (1) Could a reasonable jury find that
at the time of the SPA, KII was making plans to expand Pine
Bend’s crude refining capacity to 175,000 B/D by the end of
1985?  (2) If so, did KII withhold this information from the
Plaintiffs prior to the SPA? (3) Might knowledge of this in-
formation materially affect the valuation of KII stock by a
prudent and knowledgeable investor?

Without needing to address the last two of these three in-
quires, this court concludes that a reasonable jury could not
have found KII was making plans for a 175,000 B/D expan-

                                                                                              
(emphasis added).  Under their breach of fiduciary duty claim, the Plain-
tiffs must demonstrate that the Defendants withheld some facts affecting
the value or price of stock or any other matters which would tend to in-
crease the value of the corporation’s stock.  See Sampson v. Hunt, 222
Kan. 268, 564 P.2d 489, 492 (1977).  The common law fraud claim re-
quires the Plaintiffs to show KII knowingly or recklessly withheld infor-
mation to which a reasonable person would attach importance in deter-
mining at what price to sell KII stock, and that Plaintiffs did in fact rely on
this non-disclosure to their detriment.  See McGuire v. Gunn, 133 Kan.
422, 300 P. 654, 656 (1931) (defining common law fraud); Griffith v.
Byers Constr. Co., 212 Kan. 65, 510 P.2d 198, 205 (1973) (establishing
when an omission or non-disclosure constitutes a material fact for pur-
poses of common law fraud).  Finally, to succeed on their securities fraud
claim, the Plaintiffs must show a substantial likelihood the non-disclosed
information would have been viewed by a reasonable investor as having
significantly altered the total mix of information made available.  See 17
CFR § 240.10b-5 (defining securities fraud under Rule 10b-5 of the Secu-
rities Exchange Act of 1934);  Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 231,
108 S. Ct. 978, 99 L.Ed.2d 194 (1988) (establishing when a fact is mate-
rial under 10b-5).
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sion at the time of the SPA. In reaching this determination,
we have reviewed all of the record evidence which might
support the Plaintiffs’ claim, though this court is not obligated
to locate or inspect materials not referenced by the parties in
their briefs.5  See Adler v. Wal-Mart Stores, 144 F.3d 664,
672 (10th Cir.1998);  see also Gamble, Simmons & Co. v.
Kerr-McGee Corp., 175 F.3d 762, 773 n. 5 (10th Cir.1999)
(“In the absence of sufficient citation to record support for a
party’s allegations, we decline to search for the proverbial
needle in a haystack.”).

The crux of the Plaintiffs’ 175,000 B/D expansion claim
is this:  as far as the Plaintiffs knew, at the time of the SPA
the Pine Bend Refinery utilized two crude units, No. 1 having
a capacity of approximately 40,000 B/D and No. 2 having a
capacity of approximately 90,000 B/D, for a total capacity of
approximately 130,000 B/D. Unbeknownst to the Plaintiffs,
however, KII was in the process of revamping unit No. 2 to a
capacity of 110,000 B/D, while also working with Litwin En-
gineering (“Litwin”) either to expand No. 1 to a 65,000 B/D
capacity or to replace No. 1 with a new unit with a 65,000
B/D capacity. The Litwin project, combined with the revamp
of unit No. 2, would allegedly result in a total capacity of
175,00 B/D, all of which information the Plaintiffs claim the
Defendants hid from them prior to the SPA.

In opposing summary judgment on the 175,000 B/D
claim, the Plaintiffs also rely heavily upon evidence that KII
had struck a deal with the Williams Pipeline Company to re-
verse the flow of the Williams pipeline, but failed to inform
the Plaintiffs of that agreement.  The Plaintiffs maintain that
the Williams reversal provided KII access to new markets for
gasoline, thus indicating a plan to increase crude production
capacity to 175,000 B/D. Evidence of general market expan-
sion, however, does not specifically support the Plaintiffs’
                                                
5 Attached as an appendix to this opinion is a detailed list and discussion
of the relevant evidence.  See infra Appendix.
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discrete claims for crude production expansion to 145,000;
155,000;  175,000;  or 200,000 B/D. Indeed, to succeed on
each of these claims, the Plaintiffs must direct this court to
evidence of distinct plans to expand production capacity to
each specifically alleged number of barrels per day, inde-
pendent of evidence demonstrating efforts to expand general
markets.  When the Plaintiffs’ stated claims so discretely ref-
erence 145,000 B/D, 155,000 B/D, and 175,000 B/D and fur-
ther include anticipated dates of accomplishment for each ex-
pansion, they must provide evidence differentiating between
the three claims.  With respect to the 175,000 B/D claim,
therefore, the Plaintiffs need to demonstrate evidence of the
alleged plan through Litwin to expand Pine Bend’s crude
production capacity to 175,000 B/D. 6

Viewing the relevant evidence in a light most favorable to
the Plaintiffs, this court concludes that a reasonable jury could
not find that prior to the SPA KII was making plans to expand
Pine Bend’s crude production to 175,000 B/D. At most, KII
was merely contemplating this expansion possibility.  Al-
though the evidence does not reveal definitively whether KII
ever contracted with Litwin to conduct design and cost stud-
                                                
6 The Appendix to this opinion, therefore, does not include any evidence
of the alleged secret deal to reverse the Williams pipeline.  See infra Ap-
pendix.  The summary judgment order did not in fact preclude introduc-
tion of such evidence, because, as discussed above, that evidence also was
relevant to the 145,000 and 155,000 B/D claims; indeed, the Plaintiffs
presented such evidence at trial.

     Similarly, the Appendix does not include the “doom and gloom” evi-
dence which the Plaintiffs contend is also relevant to the 175,000 B/D
claim. See infra Appendix.  In short, the Plaintiffs allege the Defendants,
while secretly planning for these expansions, communicated to the Plain-
tiffs dire predictions about the economic future of the refinery. This court
need not consider such evidence to determine whether the Plaintiffs pre-
sented a material issue of fact regarding the existence of a 175,000 B/D
expansion plan, because this evidence really bears on the separate issue of
whether the Defendants withheld information about the alleged expansion.
As stated above, this court need not address that question.
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ies for this possible expansion, this court concludes that a rea-
sonable jury could infer such a contract existed and even that
Litwin performed this work.  What a reasonable jury could
not find, however, is that KII’s contracting with Litwin to per-
form preliminary design and cost studies rises to the level of
KII’s making plans for this expansion. According to Mer-
riam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary, “to make plans” is
synonymous with “to plan,” which is defined as “to devise or
project the realization or achievement of.”  Mer-
riam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary (10th ed., 1993) (em-
phasis added).  “To study,” however, merely means “to con-
sider attentively or in detail.”  Id. (emphasis added).  Resort to
dictionaries thus confirms that which common parlance ind i-
cates:  “studying” is not “planning,” and, in this case, the term
“making plans” connotes a higher level of commitment to the
expansion than mere evidence of initial cost and design stud-
ies indicate.

Moreover, the totality of the remainder of the evidence
provides an even stronger sense that KII’s approach to this
potential 175,000 B/D expansion was rather tentative, at least
at the time of the SPA. In November of 1983, five months
after the SPA, KII announced plans for a more aggressive ex-
pansion to over 200,000 B/D, a plan predicated on an entirely
different technical approach than the ones studied by Litwin
to effectuate the 175,000 B/D expansion.  This approximately
200,000 B/D expansion envisioned adding a third crude proc-
essing unit, as opposed to the options studied by Litwin of
either replacing or upgrading existing unit No. 1. Despite the
200,000 B/D expansion announcement, one month later KII
was still merely considering the lesser, intermediate step of
expanding to 175,000 B/D, as evidenced by an announcement
at the December 1983 Board of Directors Meeting that KII
was continuing to analyze the technical and economic feasi-
bility of the 175,000 B/D expansion options studied by Lit-
win.  It was only in February 1984, eight months after the
SPA, that KII apparently committed in any way to an ap-
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proximately 175,000 B/D expansion. 7  In sum, the evidence
before the district court at summary judgment, viewed in a
light most favorable to the Plaintiffs, shows at most that KII
was considering an expansion to 175,000 B/D when the par-
ties signed the SPA, but it does not demonstrate that KII was
actually making plans for this expansion, as the Plaintiffs al-
leged in the 1993 Pretrial Order.  Thus, this court affirms the
district court’s grant of summary judgment for the Defendants
on the 175,000 B/D expansion claim.

Alternatively, the evidence in no way establishes KII had
firm plans for a 175,000 B/D expansion at the time of the
SPA and, although the district court erred in requiring evi-
dence of such firm plans, the Plaintiffs invited this error and
thus cannot appeal it.  This court has long recognized the eq-
uitable doctrine of invited error.  See United States v. John-
son, 183 F.3d 1175, 1179 n. 2 (10th Cir.1999);  Air-Exec.,
584 F.2d at 944.  “The invited error doctrine prevents a party
from inducing action by a court and later seeking reversal on
the ground that the requested action was error.”  Johnson, 183
F.3d at 1178-79 n. 2.

Here, the Plaintiffs induced the district court at the sum-
mary judgment stage to view their claim as asserting KII had
made “firm plans” for a 175,000 B/D expansion.  Both the
Plaintiffs’ expert witness, in his report, and their Brief in Op-
position to the Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment
stated KII had “firm plans” for this expansion in June of
1983.  One important purpose of written briefs and expert
opinion evidence is to focus the court’s attention on the spe-
cific nature of the legal theories and factual allegations at is-
sue in a case.  By claiming these “firm plans,” the Plaintiffs
themselves induced the district court to focus on whether KII
had made such firm plans.  Cf. Air-Exec., 584 F.2d at 944
                                                
7 This February 1984 commitment, however, was actually to expand Pine
Bend’s crude capacity merely to 170,000 B/D, something less than the
amount pleaded by the Plaintiffs.
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(holding defendants could not appeal an inferential admission
they had made in the pretrial order, as the pretrial order
“measures the dimensions of the lawsuit”).

This court acknowledges that it is the pretrial order which
measures the dimensions of a lawsuit, and not a summary
judgment brief or an expert’s testimony, and therefore the
district court erred in requiring evidence of “firm plans”
rather than “making plans.”  Nonetheless, the Plaintiffs in-
duced the district court into making this error, and thus they
cannot challenge this heightened evidentiary requirement on
appeal.  Because the evidence before the district court on
summary judgment, viewed in a light most favorable to the
Plaintiffs, provides no indication whatsoever that KII had
made firm plans to expand Pine Bend to 175,000 B/D at the
time of the SPA, this court affirms the district court’s grant of
summary judgment.

2. The Motion to Amend the Pretrial Order to Add a 200,000
B/D Expansion Claim

At the close of their case, the Plaintiffs moved to amend
the 1998 Pretrial Order to conform to the evidence, asserting
the Defendants had impliedly consented to the trial of a new
claim:  that the Defendants failed to disclose KII’s pre-SPA
plan to expand Pine Bend’s capacity to 200,000 B/D. The
district court denied that motion for several reasons.  First, it
resolved that the evidence at trial presented no new issues at
all, but instead was the same evidence the Defendants pre-
sented at summary judgment to show the Plaintiffs always
knew about KII’s ideas for expansion.  The district court thus
concluded the Defendants did not consent to the trial of a new
claim. Second, the district court reasoned that because the
subject evidence was also relevant to the claims already being
tried, the Plaintiffs could not rely on that evidence to amend
the 1998 Pretrial Order in conformity with the evidence.
Third, the district court determined its reasoning for granting
the Defendants summary judgment on the 175,000 B/D claim
applied with equal force to any possible 200,000 B/D claim.
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Finally, the district court concluded that forcing the Defen-
dants to defend this new claim would unfairly disadvantage
them.  This court reviews the district court’s denial of the
motion to amend for an abuse of discretion.  See Trierweiler
v. Croxton & Trench Holding Corp., 90 F.3d 1523, 1543
(10th Cir.1996).

During defense counsel’s cross-examination of William
H. Hanna, the President of KII at the time of trial, Hanna
stated the following:

We really wanted very badly to do this, to be able to re-
verse [the Williams] pipeline, because we could see--as
you’ve heard earlier, starting in ‘76 there was more
product, more product, more product.  We weren’t na-
ive.  We knew we were heading to 200,000 barrels a day
so we were looking for every outlet.

 Later in the trial, the following exchange occurred be-
tween defendant David Koch and Plaintiffs’ counsel during
their direct examination:

Q: Did you know in the fall of 1982 that the Pine Bend
Refinery was heading to 200,000 barrels a day?

A: Yes, Bernie Paulson had been talking about expand-
ing the refinery to that number for many years.
Q: This was the--Paulson starting talking about this--

A: Yeah, in the 1970[s].

Q: in the 1970[s]. ‘70s.  He’d advocated 200,000.
Right?
A: Well, it was a long-term objective, yes.
. . . .

Q: That you, David Koch, then did know in the fall of
1982 that the company was heading to 200,000 barrels a
day?

A: Yes, at some distant point in the future.  I mean, we
were trying to get there eventually.
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. . . .

A: The 200,000 barrels a day was in the future.  Now, I
don’t think we had any idea of--during the early 80s at
what point we were going to reach 200,000 barrels a
day, but it was almost certain that sooner or later we
were going to get there.

In addition, Plaintiffs’ counsel questioned both Bernard
Paulson and William Koch about this alleged 1982 plan for
expansion to 200,000 B/D.

The Plaintiffs contend that by eliciting Hanna’stestimony
and failing to object to the other testimony, the Defendants
impliedly consented to the trial of a new claim, i.e., that the
Defendants failed to disclose to the Plaintiffs KII’s 200,000
B/D expansion plan.  Because of this implied consent, the
Plaintiffs argue, the district court erred by denying them leave
to amend the 1998 Pretrial Order to include this additional
claim.

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(b) provides:

When issues not raised by the pleadings are tried by ex-
press or implied consent of the parties, they shall be
treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the
pleadings.  Such amendment of the pleadings as may be
necessary to cause them to conform to the evidence and
to raise these issues may be made upon motion of any
party at any time, even after judgment....

Fed.R.Civ.P. 15(b).  A party impliedly consents to the
trial of an issue not contained within the pleadings either by
introducing evidence on the new issue or by failing to object
when the opposing party introduces such evidence.  See Har-
din v. Manitowoc-Forsythe Corp., 691 F.2d 449, 457 (10th
Cir.1982).

Contrary to the Plaintiffs’ characterization of Hanna’s and
David Koch’s testimony, the Defendants neither introduced
evidence on a new issue nor failed to object to that type of
evidence.  Indeed, this testimony presented anything but a
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new issue.  Both before and during the course of this litiga-
tion, the Plaintiffs were fully aware that beginning in 1977,
KII President Bernard Paulson had lobbied to expand Pine
Bend to a capacity of 200,000 B/D. The Defendants presented
evidence at summary judgment demonstrating the Plaintiffs
possessed knowledge of Paulson’s aspiration to expand Pine
Bend’s capacity to 200,00 B/D. See 6A Charles A. Wright &
Arthur R. Miller, Federal Practice & Procedure § 1527, at
287-89 (1990) (“[I]f the evidence or issue was within the
knowledge of the party seeking modification [of the pretrial
order] at the time of the [pretrial conference] ... then it may
not be allowed.”)  Moreover, in both the 1993 and 1998 Pre-
trial Orders, the Defendants attempted to refute the Plaintiffs’
non-disclosure claim by contending that the Plaintiffs were
aware of KII’s engagement in a process for expansion.  Thus,
this longstanding objective to expand Pine Bend to a 200,000
B/D capacity was both known by the Plaintiffs and raised in
the pleadings.

The Plaintiffs now argue that prior to the early 1980s, KII
had abandoned Paulson’s idea for expansion, and therefore,
the trial testimony pointed to some new 200,000 B/D expan-
sion plan first proposed in 1982 and about which the Defen-
dants were not informed.  The only fair, contextual reading of
the testimony, however, does not support the Plaintiffs’ inter-
pretation.  Both Hanna and David Koch unequivocally stated
that this 1982 200,000 B/D expansion objective had origi-
nated with Paulson back in 1976.  Therefore, the district court
did not abuse its discretion in concluding that the Defendants
had not consented to the trial of an issue not raised in the
pleadings.

In addition, Hanna’s and David Koch’s testimony about
the 200,000 B/D expansion plan was relevant to issues al-
ready being tried.  “When the evidence claimed to show that
an issue was tried by consent is relevant to an issue already in
the case, and there is no indication that the party presenting
the evidence intended thereby to raise a new issue, amend-
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ment may be denied in the discretion of the trial court.”  Har-
din, 691 F.2d at 457;  see also Dole v. Mr. W Fireworks, Inc.,
889 F.2d 543, 547 (5th Cir.1989) (“The evidence that [plain-
tiff] alleges to have shown implied consent was also relevant
to the other issues at trial and cannot be used to imply consent
to try the present issue.”).  The Plaintiffs’ awareness of all
KII’s ideas for expanding Pine Bend was relevant to whether
the Plaintiffs were unaware of the purported 145,000 and
155,000 B/D expansions, claims that were being tried.  Un-
doubtedly, that is why defense counsel elicited this testimony,
not because the Defendants intended to raise a new issue.
The Defendants were merely attempting to demonstrate that
KII embraced a healthy corporate philosophy to act aggres-
sively, move ahead, and increase market share, a philosophy
of which the Plaintiffs were aware.  The evidence regarding
the 200,000 B/D expansion goal was introduced simply to
illustrate the Plaintiffs’ knowledge of that philosophy and
thus of the two lesser expansions, not to inject evidence of a
specific or discrete plan, as argued by the Plaintiffs.  The dis-
trict court, therefore, did not abuse its discretion in denying
the Plaintiffs’ motion to amend the 1998 Pretrial Order.

Alternatively, the Plaintiffs argue that even if the Defen-
dants did not consent to trial of a 200,000 B/D expansion
claim, the district court still should have granted the Plain-
tiffs’ motion to amend the 1998 Pretrial Order because the
Defendants failed to show that they would be prejudiced by
the trial of the new claim. 8  This argument, however, relies on

                                                
8 Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(b) provides,

If evidence is objected to at the trial on the ground that it is not
within the issues made by the pleadings, the court may allow the
pleadings to be amended and shall do so freely when the presenta-
tion of the merits of the action will be subserved thereby and the
objecting party fails to satisfy the court that the admission of such
evidence would prejudice the party in maintaining the party’s action
or defense upon the merits.
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an incorrect interpretation of the district court’s reasoning.
The district court did not conclude merely that the Defendants
failed to consent, but also that the evidence at issue presented
no new claim.  Although Rule 15(b) does allow a court, under
certain circumstances, to amend pleadings to conform to evi-
dence even when the opposing party objected to that evi-
dence, application of any portion of Rule 15(b) is appropriate
only when an issue “not raised by the pleadings” has, in fact,
been presented.  Fed.R.Civ.P. 15(b).  As discussed above, the
district court did not abuse its discretion in concluding the
testimony about the longstanding aspiration to expand Pine
Bend to 200,000 B/D presented no issues not raised in the
pleadings, both because the Plaintiffs were previously aware
of this evidence and because this evidence was relevant to
other issues already being tried.  Rule 15(b), therefore, does
not apply at all to this testimony, and this court need not un-
dertake a Rule 15(b) prejudice analysis with respect to that
testimony.  Thus, we affirm the district court’s denial of the
Plaintiffs’ motion to amend the pleadings to conform to the
evidence.

B. Accounting Claims

During discovery, the Plaintiffs obtained, for the first
time, a document entitled “Extraordinary Items 1982,” a list
of company expenses and other accounting items from 1982
prepared by KII’s controller, Milton Hall. After discovering
the existence of Hall’s list, the Plaintiffs were granted leave
of court to amend their complaint, adding allegations about
KII’s accounting treatment of the items on Hall’s list.  They
contended the Defendants’ 1982 financial statements, upon
which the Plaintiffs relied when valuing KII stock for the

                                                                                              
Fed.R.Civ.P. 15(b); see also Hardin v. Manitowoc-Forsythe Corp., 691
F.2d 449, 457 (10th Cir.1982) (“Even where there is no consent, and ob-
jection is made at trial that evidence is outside the scope of the pretrial
order, amendment may still be allowed unless the objecting party satisfies
the court that he would be prejudiced by the amendment.”).
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SPA, failed to identify the items on Hall’s list as
non-recurring.  Because these expenses were, according the
Plaintiffs, actually non-recurring in nature, the Plaintiffs un-
dervalued the company by approximately $283 million.

The Plaintiffs sought recovery for these alleged mischar-
acterizations as a violation of both the Full Disclosure and the
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) war-
ranties contained in the SPA, as well as the Defendants’ fidu-
ciary duty of full disclosure.  With respect to these accounting
claims, the Plaintiffs raise three issues on appeal:  (1) whether
the district court improperly required the Plaintiffs to prove,
as a predicate for all of their accounting claims, that these ex-
penses were “unusual” or “infrequently occurring” as defined
by GAAP;  (2) whether the district court abused its discretion
by failing to amend the 1998 Pretrial Order9 to make clear
that the accounting claims did not hinge on the jury’s finding
the items were “unusual” or “infrequently occurring” as de-
fined by GAAP;  and (3) whether the district court errone-
ously denied the Plaintiffs an opportunity to present certain
rebuttal testimony to the defense theory on these claims.

1. Requiring Proof of “Unusual” or “Infrequently Occurring”
Losses Under GAAP

In the 1998 Pretrial Order, the Plaintiffs set forth the fo l-
lowing claims:

KII employed accounting methods that were designed
intentionally to understate KII’s earnings and assets in
the financial statements....

To diminish its apparent earnings, KII therefore em-
ployed the following accounting practice which violated

                                                
9 Unlike the 1993 Pretrial Order, this order was file-stamped, signed by
the district court, and subject to a Pretrial Conference.  See supra note 3.
Indeed, this was the final Pretrial Order prior to trial, which incorporated
the summary judgment rulings and ultimately controlled the course of the
trial.
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GAAP and constituted breaches of both warranties in
the Stock Purchase and Sale Agreement (quoted above):
KII failed to disclose its unusual and/or infrequently oc-
curring losses.  KII categorized these losses as recurring
expenses or depreciation, thereby artificially reducing
what appeared to be KII’s ordinarily recurring income.
(emphasis added)

Later that year, in ruling on a defense motion in limine
seeking to exclude some of the Plaintiffs’ expert testimony on
the accounting claims, the district court responded to the par-
ties’ arguments about the parameters of these claims:  “If the
plaintiffs intend to pursue an allegation that the defendants
failed to disclose information on items that are neither un-
usual or infrequently occurring under GAAP, then the court
rules that such an allegation or theory is outside the plaintiffs’
accounting claim as pleaded in the pretrial order....”  The dis-
trict court looked to the 1998 Pretrial Order, which articulated
only one factual basis for the Plaintiffs’ accounting claim re-
garding these expenses:  “KII failed to disclose its unusual
and/or infrequently occurring losses.”  Additionally, the dis-
trict court noted the Plaintiffs “chose to define these losses
with accounting parlance borrowed from GAAP.” Thus, the
district court concluded the Plaintiffs must prove the Defen-
dants failed to disclose “unusual” or “infrequently occurring”
items, as defined by GAAP, to prevail on their accounting
claims and therefore excluded any expert testimony on disclo-
sure requirements for losses that were not “unusual and/or
infrequently occurring.”

At trial, Alfred Eckert, a former Goldman Sachs invest-
ment banker who led the team hired by William Koch to
value KII for purposes of the SPA, explained that when
valuing a company’s stock, he would add back into the com-
pany’s earnings certain non-recurring losses.  He furthe r testi-
fied that his decision to add back these items depended not on
generally-accepted accounting principles, but simply on
whether, in his opinion, the losses likely would recur.  On the
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Defendants’ motion and over the Plaintiffs’ objection, the
district court then instructed the jury that the “plaintiffs’ ac-
counting claim is limited to the defendants’ failure to disclose
items that are unusual and/or infrequently occurring as those
terms are defined by [GAAP]” and to disregard Eckert’s tes-
timony addressing the treatment of non-recurring items that
do not fall within these definitions.  The district court also
issued an order (the “May 12, 1998 Order”) consistent with
these instructions resolving that the accounting claims were
predicated on the Plaintiffs’ ability to prove the losses at issue
were unusual or infrequently occurring under GAAP. Finally,
both the instructions which the court gave the jury at the close
of the trial and the jury’s verdict form all indicated that to
prevail on their accounting claim, under any legal theory, the
Plaintiffs were required to prove the Defendants failed to dis-
close infrequently occurring losses as defined by GAAP.

On appeal, the Plaintiffs challenge the district court’s or-
ders and actions hinging their accounting claims on proof that
the items at issue were unusual or infrequently occurring as
defined by GAAP. This court reviews for abuse of discretion
a district court’s exclusion of evidence or issues from trial on
the basis of a properly-drawn, detailed pretrial order.  See
Grant v. Brandt, 796 F.2d 351, 355 (10th Cir.1986).

It is first important to note that the failure to disclose “un-
usual and/or infrequently occurring losses” constitutes the
sole factual basis pleaded by the Plaintiffs in the 1998 Pretrial
Order to support their claims regarding the Defendants’ ac-
counting treatment of KII expenses.  Because a pretrial order
defines the scope of an action for trial, the Plaintiffs were thus
obligated to prove this one specific factual contention to pre-
vail on their accounting claims.  See Fed.R.Civ.P. 16(e) (pro-
viding that a pretrial order entered after a pretrial conference
“shall control the subsequent course of the action unless
modified by a subsequent order”);  Trujillo v. Uniroyal Corp.,
608 F.2d 815, 817 (10th Cir.1979) (“When issues are defined
by the pretrial order, they ought to be adhered to in the ab-
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sence of some good and sufficient reason.” (citation and in-
ternal quotation marks omitted)).  The question then is
whether the district court properly determined the Plaintiffs
needed to prove the losses were unusual or infrequently oc-
curring as defined by GAAP, or whether infrequent occur-
rence under some other standard would have sufficed.

As the Plaintiffs point out, this court has recognized that a
pretrial order “should be ‘liberally construed to cover any of
the legal or factual theories that might be embraced by [its]
language.’”  Trujillo, 608 F.2d at 818 (quoting Rodrigues v.
Ripley Indus., Inc., 507 F.2d 782, 787 (1st Cir.1974)).  A
careful reading of this court’s cases reviewing trial courts’
construction of pretrial orders, however, reveals that a district
court may more strictly construe a pretrial order when that
order has been refined over time, properly drawn, and drafted
with substantial specificity.  See, e.g., Cleverock Energy
Corp. v. Trepel, 609 F.2d 1358, 1361-62 (10th Cir.1979) (af-
firming trial court’s exclusion of breach of fiduciary duty is-
sue as beyond the scope of the pretrial order when the ob-
jecting party “failed to take timely advantage of an opportu-
nity to enlarge upon the general terms used in the order”);
Rigby v. Beech Aircraft Co., 548 F.2d 288, 291-92 (10th
Cir.1977) (affirming trial court’s exclusion of evidence of de-
fects in 40-gallon fuel cells of airplane when the plaintiffs’
answers to interrogatories and the pretrial order consistently
alleged defects only in the plane’s 31-gallon fuel cells).  On
the other hand, this court has more liberally construed pretrial
orders when the orders are not drafted with substantial care
and specificity.  See, e.g., Whalley v. Sakura, 804 F.2d 580,
582-83 (10th Cir.1986) (liberally construing pretrial order
when “pretrial order ... stated the claims of the plaintiff in
general terms”);  Trujillo, 608 F.2d at 817- 19 (broadly con-
struing a pretrial order that was “not properly drawn, [was]
not definitive, specific, complete or detailed”).
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In Cleverock Energy this court elaborated on the reasons
for allowing two divergent approaches to construing pretrial
orders:

This court is acutely aware of the evils of the inflexi-
ble application of a pretrial order.  These evils are ag-
gravated when the pretrial order is unrefined.  We re-
cently held [in Trujillo ] that a coarse pretrial order
could not be narrowly applied to exclude one of three
subtheories fairly encompassed within its general terms.
However, we should not lose sight of the important poli-
cies behind the pretrial order mechanism, i.e., the nar-
rowing of issues to facilitate an efficient trial and to
avoid surprise.

Cleverock Energy, 609 F.2d at 1361-62 (citations omit-
ted).  Ultimately, the court held, “We cannot in these circum-
stances conclude that the trial judge, who presided over the
pretrial conferences of this extensive litigation and had before
him the pleadings, motions and various pretrial statements of
the parties, abused his discretion in striking the ... issue as be-
yond the scope of the litigation.”  Id. at 1362.  In sum, while
pretrial orders generally should be construed liberally, a dis-
trict court may more strictly construe such an order when the
party favoring a liberal construction has had ample opportu-
nity to refine the order and when the final order is properly
drawn and substantially specific.

The Plaintiffs do not allege that the 1998 Pretrial Order
was improperly drawn.  Indeed, a pretrial conference was
held on August 25, 1997, after which a proposed order was
drafted.  See Fed.R.Civ.P. 16(d).  The district court signed the
1998 Pretrial Order on February 6, 1998.  See Fed.R.Civ.P.
16(e).  Further, this court has noted a proper pretrial order is
“definitive,” “sharpen[s] and simplifie[s] the issues to be
tried,” and “represents a complete statement of all the conten-
tions of the parties.” Trujillo, 608 F.2d at 817 (citations and
internal quotations omitted).  The 1998 Pretrial Order in this
case fits that bill, as many years of draft pretrial orders, dis-
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trict court orders, and discovery served to focus the legal and
factual contentions of the parties and culminated in this final
pretrial order.  Additionally, because numerous draft pretrial
orders were produced over the many years of this litigation,
the Plaintiffs cannot claim that they lacked opportunities to
draft the order to clearly encompass their claims.  Because the
1998 Pretrial Order was properly drawn, with relative speci-
ficity and definitiveness, and because the Plaintiffs had ample
opportunity to refine the order, the district court was not re-
quired to afford the Plaintiffs overly- generous leeway in its
construction of their accounting claims.

Indeed, a contextual reading of the 1998 Pretrial Order
leads this court to conclude that the district court did not
abuse its discretion in determining that the Plaintiffs’ ac-
counting claims predicated recovery on their ability to prove
the losses at issue were unusual or infrequently occurring as
defined by GAAP. Again, the 1998 Pretrial Order frames this
accounting claim in the following terms:  “To diminish its
apparent earnings, KII therefore employed the following ac-
counting practice which violated GAAP and constituted
breaches of both warranties in the Stock Purchase and Sale
Agreement (quoted above): KII failed to disclose its unusual
and/or infrequently occurring losses.” (emphasis added).  As
the district court noted in its May 12, 1998 Order, the words
“unusual and/or infrequently occurring” are terms of art used
in GAAP literature, which the Plaintiffs earlier referenced at
the summary judgment stage.  Furthermore, this lone factual
allegation mentioning unusual and infrequently occurring
losses immediately follows a portion of the sentence which
asserts a GAAP violation.

To support their reading of the 1998 Pretrial Order, the
Plaintiffs point to the conjunction “and” between the asserted
GAAP violation and the alleged breaches of two warranties,
as well as the reference to “both warranties.” This language,
however, bolsters, rather than subverts, the district court’s
construction of the pretrial order.  The first of the two refe r-
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enced warranties (the “GAAP Warranty”) warranted that the
financial statements disclosed to the Plaintiffs as of December
31, 1981 and December 31, 1982 “fairly present the ... finan-
cial condition ... of ... [KII] ... in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles....”  The second warranty (the
“Full Disclosure Warranty”) stated that since December 31,
1982, the Defendants had provided all information “which if
fully disclosed might materially affect the valuation of the
stock of [KII]....”  Although only the first of these warranties
explicitly required GAAP compliance, by pleading that the
Defendants’ accounting practices violated GAAP “and” “both
warranties,” the Plaintiffs appear to assert that because these
practices violated GAAP they necessarily violated the Full
Disclosure Warranty as well as the GAAP Warranty.  Other-
wise, the initial reference to the GAAP violation which pre-
cedes the word “and” would be superfluous, given the factual
allegation using GAAP terminology which follows.  Thus, the
claim ties GAAP requirements to both warranties, as well as
to the words “unusual” and “infrequently occurring.”

Similarly, this court rejects the Plaintiffs’ argument that
because they separately pleaded breach of fiduciary duty,
along with breach of these two warranties, the court should
not read the words “unusual” and “infrequently occurring” as
GAAP terms of art when applied to their breach of fiduciary
duty claim.  In its May 12, 1998 Order, the district court re-
sponded to this argument:  “There is no reasonable construc-
tion of this pretrial order that is so liberal as to permit a court
to read terms of art in the same sentence as having two differ-
ent meanings simply because the party subsequently asserts
an alternative legal theory.”  This court concurs with that as-
sessment.  Further, as the district court noted in that May 12,
1998 Order, the Plaintiffs failed to exercise their drafting pre-
rogative to include a different, alternative, or additional defi-
nition in the 1998 Pretrial Order. Instead, they effectively ex-
pressed their satisfaction to be bound by the GAAP definition.
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Finally, in analyzing the 1998 Pretrial Order, the district
court properly considered the parties’ motions, briefs, and ar-
guments regarding the accounting claims that came before it
throughout the thirteen years in which that court presided
over this litigation.  The district court stated, “[T]he plaintiffs
did not allude during the summary judgment proceedings to
any position that their two legal theories on the accounting
claim were based on alternative meanings to ‘unusual and/or
infrequently occurring losses.’ “  The record bears out the ac-
curacy of this statement.  For example, in its Memorandum in
Opposition to the Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judg-
ment, the Plaintiffs assert, “Thus, Koch ... failed – contrary to
GAAP – to disclose its 1982 writeoffs as unusual,
non-recurring expenses.” (emphasis added).

In conclusion, this court holds that the district court, with
its thirteen years of reading and listening to the parties’ asser-
tions and arguments concerning these accounting claims, did
not abuse its discretion when it construed a properly drawn,
refined, and specific pretrial order as excluding any account-
ing claims not predicated on proof that the losses at issue
were unusual or infrequently occurring by GAAP definitions.

2. The District Court’s Failure to Amend the Pretrial Order

The Plaintiffs further argue the district court erred by
failing to amend the 1998 Pretrial Order to permit the trial of
accounting claims not predicated on proof of unusual or in-
frequently occurring losses as defined by GAAP. Although
the Plaintiffs never formally moved for an amendment of the
1998 Pretrial Order, this court “interpret[s] the assertion of an
issue not listed in the pretrial order as the equivalent of a for-
mal motion to amend the order....”  Trierweiler, 90 F.3d at
1543.  Thus, by opposing the Defendants’ in limine motion,
eliciting Eckert’s testimony, and opposing the Defendants’
motion to strike that testimony as beyond the scope of the
1998 Pretrial Order, the Plaintiffs effectively moved for an
amendment of the order.
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This court reviews a district court’s failure to amend a fi-
nal pretrial order for an abuse of discretion.  See id.  Federal
Rule of Civil Procedure 16(e) provides, “The order following
a final pretrial conference shall be modified only to prevent
manifest injustice.” Fed.R.Civ.P. 16(e).  Furthermore, the
burden of demonstrating manifest injustice falls upon the
party moving for modification.  See R.L. Clark Drilling Con-
tractors, Inc. v. Schramm, Inc., 835 F.2d 1306, 1308 (10th
Cir.1987).  This court considers the following factors when
faced with a challenge to a district court’s exclusion of an is-
sue by failing to amend a pretrial order:  (1) prejudice or sur-
prise to the party opposing trial of the issue;  (2) the ability of
that party to cure any prejudice;  (3) disruption to the orderly
and efficient trial of the case by inclusion of the new issue;
and (4) bad faith by the party seeking to modify the order.10

Cf. Roberts v. Roadway Express, Inc., 149 F.3d 1098, 1108
(10th Cir.1998);  Smith v. Ford Motor Co., 626 F.2d 784, 797
(10th Cir.1980). This court should also consider whether the
party favoring amendment of the pretrial order formally and
timely moved for such modification in the trial court.  When a
party fails to formally move for modification, it neglects to

                                                
10 The Plaintiffs contend the district court was required to consider these
factors and its failure to do so itself constitutes an abuse of discretion.
This court has never imposed such a requirement upon a district court
when deciding whether to amend a pretrial order or allow evidence or
issues outside the pretrial order to be presented;  rather, we have always
discussed these factors as matters which this court should consider to de-
termine if the district court’s decision constitutes an abuse of discretion.
See Roberts v. Roadway Express, Inc., 149 F.3d 1098, 1108 (10th
Cir.1998);  Smith v. Ford Motor Co., 626 F.2d 784, 797 (10th Cir.1980).
Thus, the district court’s failure to make explicit findings under these four
factors does not render its decision an abuse of discretion.  The argument
raised here by the Plaintiffs is particularly disingenuous, given their own
failure to formally move to amend the order. The Plaintiffs simply cannot
claim an abuse of discretion by the district court for not reciting the fac-
tors for consideration of a motion to amend a pretrial order when they
failed to formally make such a motion.
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focus the trial court’s attention on the factors informing the
amendment determination and generally prevents the creation
of an adequate record as to the other four factors, thus limit-
ing our effectiveness in reviewing the trial court’s decision.
Cf. Hullman v. Board of Trustees of Pratt Community Col-
lege, 950 F.2d 665, 667-68 (10th Cir.1991).  The failure to
formally move to amend the 1998 Pretrial Order in this case
resulted in exactly those consequences.  This court must
therefore independently surmise the import of amending the
pretrial order to allow the trial of accounting claims not
theretofore made.

Allowing the Plaintiffs to pursue any accounting claims
without having to prove the expenses at issue were unusual or
infrequently occurring as defined by GAAP would have sig-
nificantly prejudiced and surprised the Defendants.  When the
district court issued its March 1998 in limine order, it fully
apprised all parties of its understanding of the pretrial order
and the parameters of the accounting claims for trial.  The De-
fendants undoubtedly relied upon that ruling to prepare their
own presentation of evidence as well as anticipate the Plain-
tiffs’ case.  As a consequence, the Plaintiffs’ sudden attempt
to inject into the trial evidence which the in limine order had
precluded necessarily surprised the Defendants.  Additionally,
a proper defense of these essentially new accounting claims
would have justified a mid-trial reopening of discovery, the
addition of new witnesses, and further motions and brie f-
ings.11  After spending thirteen years honing their defenses,

                                                
11 Even if this court construes the Plaintiffs’ opposition to the in limine
order as the equivalent of a motion to amend the pretrial order and thus
views the surprise and prejudice from that point in time rather than from
the elicitation of evidence during trial, the Defendants still would have
suffered the prejudice of having just four months to prepare defenses to
legal theories which the pleadings up until that point had failed to articu-
late.  Furthermore, and as discussed below, analysis of the other factors
firmly supports our conclusion that the district court acted within its dis-
cretion in not amending the 1998 Pretrial Order.
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this sudden amendment of the 1998 Pretrial Order would have
significantly prejudiced the Defendants.  Cf. Joseph Mfg. Co.
v. Olympic Fire Corp., 986 F.2d 416, 420 (10th Cir.1993)
(stating that defendant’s failure to raise specific defense at an
earlier possible juncture “cuts deeply against his claim of
manifest injustice”).  Although the court could have allowed
the Defendants to undertake this additional work in order to
cure the prejudice of injecting new issues into the trial, to do
so might have so severely disrupted the orderly and efficient
course of an ongoing trial that we cannot say the district
court’s refusal was an abuse of discretion.  Finally, the Plain-
tiffs’ neglect in not formally moving for amendment of the
pretrial order weighs against overturning the district court’s
decision.  An analysis of the applicable factors leads this
court to conclude the Plaintiffs have not demonstrated that
manifest injustice resulted from the district court’s failure to
amend the 1998 Pretrial Order and correspondingly they have
failed to demonstrate the district court abused its discretion in
not amending that order.

3. The Rebuttal Testimony

During the Defendants’ case, three defense witnesses tes-
tified that KII was by nature a risk-taking company and the
losses at issue resulted from risky ventures.  With this testi-
mony, the Defendants sought to demonstrate that these losses
did not constitute unusual or infrequently occurring losses
under GAAP definitions.  Because those definitions account
for “the environment in which the entity operates,” the De-
fendants presented testimony that KII operated within a bus i-
ness environment in which it routinely took risks and suffered
resulting losses.  In addition, according to the Plaintiffs, one
of these defense witnesses, Lynn Markel, on
cross-examination disputed the testimony of Milton Hall,
KII’s controller, about some of the facts underlying the items
on Hall’s list of “Extraordinary Items,” which had triggered
the Plaintiffs’ accounting claims.
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The Plaintiffs then sought to recall one of their accounting
witnesses, Gary Gibbs, on rebuttal.  The Plaintiffs proffered
that this witness would testify the Defendants’ interpretation
of the GAAP definitions was incorrect and Markel’s testi-
mony disputing Hall was contradicted by the underlying
documents and financial statements.  The district court pre-
cluded this rebuttal testimony, concluding the Plaintiffs rea-
sonably could have anticipated this defense theory and evi-
dence in their case-in-chief.

The Plaintiffs now challenge that decision, arguing that
prior to the testimony of these defense witnesses, the Defen-
dants’ theory “had always focused on the likely recurrence of
a type of event or write-down.”  With the introduction of this
testimony, the Plaintiffs assert, the Defendants’ theory “sud-
denly twisted into whether [KII] was a type of company that
had to report its non-recurring losses the same way as other
companies.”  Thus, the Plaintiffs contend they were entitled
to present rebuttal testimony to this new defense theory and
the district court erred by denying them the opportunity to do
so.

This court reviews for an abuse of discretion a district
court’s refusal to allow rebuttal testimony.  See Marsee v.
United States Tobacco Co., 866 F.2d 319, 324 (10th
Cir.1989).  “[W]here the evidence rebuts new evidence or
theories proffered in the defendant’s case-in-chief, that the
evidence may have been offered in the plaintiff’s
case-in-chief does not preclude its admission in rebuttal.”
Bell v. AT & T, 946 F.2d 1507, 1512 (10th Cir.1991).  When
plaintiffs, however, seek to rebut defense theories which they
knew about or reasonably could have anticipated, the district
court is within its discretion in disallowing rebuttal testimony.
See Comcoa, Inc. v. NEC Tel., Inc., 931 F.2d 655, 664 (10th
Cir.1991) (“Because plaintiffs were warned that rebuttal evi-
dence would be restricted and because they reasonably could
have anticipated defendants’ evidence ... [i]t was within the
district court’s discretion to disallow plaintiffs’ rebuttal evi-



App. A35

dence.”); Fashauer v. New Jersey Transit Rail Operations
Inc., 57 F.3d 1269, 1287 (3d Cir.1995) (holding that district
court acted within its discretion by precluding rebuttal testi-
mony to that which reasonably could have been anticipated).
This court in fact endows the district court with “broad dis-
cretion” in deciding whether to admit or exclude rebuttal evi-
dence.  United States v. Olivo, 80 F.3d 1466, 1470 (10th
Cir.1996);  see also Geders v. United States, 425 U.S. 80, 86,
96 S. Ct. 1330, 47 L.Ed.2d 592 (1976) (discussing trial
court’s broad powers to manage a trial, including rebuttal tes-
timony).

The GAAP definitions for “unusual” and “infrequently
occurring” should have alerted the Plaintiffs to the likelihood
that the Defendants would argue the nature of KII’s business
endeavors rendered the expenses at issue usual and frequently
occurring.  The Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30,
an opinion at the heart of these accounting claims, refers to
the following GAAP definitions for “unusual nature” and “in-
frequency of occurrence”:

Unusual nature - the underlying event or transaction
should possess a high degree of abnormality and be of a
type clearly unrelated to, or only incidentally related to,
the ordinary and typical activities of the entity, taking
into account the environment in which the entity oper-
ates.

Infrequency of occurrence - the underlying event or
transaction should be of a type that would not reasona-
bly be expected to recur in the foreseeable future, taking
into account the environment in which the entity oper-
ates.

Reporting the Results of Operation-Reporting the Effects
of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary,
Unusual, and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transac-
tions, APB Opinion No. 30 (June 1973) (emphasis added).
These definitions explicitly underscore the need to consider
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accounting items within “the environment in which the entity
operates” when determining whether to classify such items as
unusual or infrequently occurring by GAAP standards. In-
deed, in opposing the Defendants’ motion for summary
judgment, the Plaintiffs themselves referenced the language
found in APB Opinion No. 30 and pointed out the signifi-
cance of this language.  The Plaintiffs should not have been
surprised, therefore, when the defense witnesses discussed the
risk-taking business environment in which KII operates and
the effect of this environment upon the accounting treatment
of expenses.

Furthermore, testimony which the Defendants elicited on
cross-examination early in the Plaintiffs’ case-in-chief also
should have put the Plaintiffs on notice of the Defendants’
“risk-taking environment” theory.  In cross-examining Milton
Hall about his list of “Extraordinary Items,” defense counsel
took Hall through his list item-by-item, having Hall explain
the particular business context in which each of the losses was
sustained.  Hall thus provided a broad overview of KII’s vari-
ous business enterprises, describing how each of these enter-
prises both sought to make money and yet routinely suffered
losses.  One particularly relevant example of this testimony
occurred when Hall described KII’s practice of trading in fu-
tures markets, which resulted both in occasional profits and
losses;  Hall analogized KII’s involvement in the futures mar-
ket to an individual who trades in the stock market.  The ef-
fect of this testimony should not have been lost on the Plain-
tiffs.  Even at this early stage of the Plaintiffs’ case-in-chief,
the Defendants sought to establish the significance of KII’s
specific and unique business practices to their accounting
treatment of particular expenses.  Having listened to Hall’s
testimony, the Plaintiffs reasonably should have anticipated
the Defendants’ further elaboration on this theory during their
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own case.  Indeed, the Plaintiffs could easily have countered
this testimony prior to closing their case-in-chief. 12

Finally, it is significant that the Plaintiffs never objected
to the testimony elicited by the defense as outside the scope
of the defenses articulated in the 1998 Pretrial Order.  Had the
Plaintiffs raised such an objection, the district court might
have limited the controversial testimony and thus obviated the
Plaintiffs’ asserted need to call a rebuttal witness. Because the
Plaintiffs should reasonably have anticipated the evidence
they sought to rebut and then failed to object to the evidence
as supportive of a new theory beyond the 1998 Pretrial Order,
the district court did not abuse its broad discretion in pre-
cluding the rebuttal witness.

Regarding the Plaintiffs’ contention that this rebuttal wit-
ness was necessary to counter defense witness Lynn Markel,
who allegedly contradicted the factual testimony of Milton
Hall, the record both undermines the Plaintiffs’ characteriza-
tion of Markel’s testimony and reveals that Plaintiffs’ counsel
himself elicited the disputed testimony on cross-examination.
Markel initially disagreed with facts and conclusions testified
to by a different Plaintiffs’ witness, Gary Gibbs, even stating,
“I don’t know where Mr. Gibbs got his information.”  The
Plaintiffs’ attorney then asked, “Did you know that, in fact,
Mr. Gibbs had gotten that information from Milton Hall?”
Markel replied, “No.” The Plaintiffs’ attorney then made a
final attempt to draw out Markel’s disagreement with Hall,
eliciting testimony which the Plaintiffs now claim demanded
a rebuttal witness:  “Q:  You told the jury last week that Mr.
Gibbs had his facts wrong.  And in truth, you disagree with
Milton Hall, don’t you?  A:  Mr. Gibbs had his facts wrong,
sir.”  Contrary to the Plaintiffs’ assertion in support of their

                                                
12 Only the seventh of twenty-four witnesses called by the Plaintiffs, Hall
testified on April 16, 1998.  The trial had begun a mere ten days earlier,
and the Plaintiffs did not close their case until one month later on May 18,
1998.



App. A38

argument for a rebuttal witness, Markel did not dispute Hall’s
testimony, but rather disagreed with the testimony of Gibbs.
Further, even if Markel had disputed Hall’s testimony, the
Plaintiffs’ attorney intentionally elicited such testimony.  The
record makes clear that Markel was not an out-of-control or
unresponsive witness, or one aggressively attempting to ad-
vocate on cross-examination.  When an attorney conducting
cross- examination affirmatively draws out specific testi-
mony, as occurred here, the district court does not abuse its
discretion by disallowing rebuttal to that testimony.

C. Evidentiary Rulings
1. Admission of Evidence of Other Lawsuits

Prior to trial, the Plaintiffs moved in limine to exclude any
evidence of other lawsuits which they filed against the De-
fendants after filing the instant action in 1985.  The court
ruled, however, that evidence of these other lawsuits, includ-
ing that plaintiff William Koch named his own mother as a
defendant in one, demonstrated William’s ongoing hostility
toward his brothers Charles and David.  The court further
ruled that the evidence of these lawsuits was relevant to Wil-
liam’s purported reliance on Charles and David prior to the
SPA, as well as to his bias and credibility as a fact witness.
The Plaintiffs then moved for reconsideration and modifica-
tion of this in limine ruling.  In response, the district court is-
sued another order clarifying that evidence of other lawsuits
could not be offered to show William “likes to file lawsuits,
that [he] files lawsuits devoid of merit, or that [he] lacked
proper feelings and consideration for his mother.”  In addi-
tion, the district court stated that William should have an op-
portunity to explain his reasons for filing these lawsuits, but
that there was no need for either side to introduce evidence,
comments, findings, or rulings from these other suits.

During opening statement and over the Plaintiffs’ objec-
tion, defense counsel noted that William’s hostility toward his
brothers was the motive behind the instant suit, as evidenced
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by his and Frederick Koch’s later suit against the Koch Fam-
ily Charitable Foundation and its trustees, which included
“their own mother.”  Furthermore, while cross-examining
William, defense counsel elicited testimony that William had
sued his brothers and mother in the Foundation litigation, that
he greatly upset his mother by subpoenaing her into court,
and that he later brought suit challenging his mother’s will.
The Plaintiffs objected to this line of questioning as irrelevant
and a violation of the court’s in limine order.  As a conse-
quence, the court instructed the Defendants not to delve into
the specific facts of these lawsuits.  Two days later, the Plain-
tiffs filed a motion for a mistrial because the Defendants had
unfairly elicited testimony about William’s suing his mother
and injected evidence of the outcome of one post-1985 law-
suit.  The district court denied that motion.  Two weeks later,
however, the district court precluded the introduction of any
further evidence that William sued his mother.  Finally, be-
fore submitting the case to the jury, the district court gave an
instruction only to consider evidence of these other lawsuits
“on issues of the motives, intent, bias, and credibility of the
parties,” and not to consider whether any party is overly liti-
gious or to cast judgment on the propriety of the intra-family
relationships.

The Plaintiffs now challenge the district court’s rulings
which allowed introduction of this evidence of post-1985
lawsuits.  They argue this evidence lacked relevance or, at
best, had de minimis probative value which was substantially
outweighed by the danger of prejudice resulting from Wil-
liam’s admission that he sued his own mother.  “[T]he admis-
sion or exclusion of evidence lies within the sound discretion
of the district court and will not be reversed absent an abuse
of discretion.”  Seymore v. Shawver & Sons Inc., 111 F.3d
794, 800 (10th Cir.1997).  To determine whether a district
court properly admitted evidence of other acts, this court re-
quires:
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(1) the evidence was offered for a proper purpose;  (2)
the evidence was relevant;  (3) the trial court determined
under Fed.R.Evid. 403 that the probative value of the
evidence was not substantially outweighed by its poten-
tial for unfair prejudice;  and (4) the trial court gave the
jury the proper limiting instructions upon request.

United States v. Lazcano-Villalobos, 175 F.3d 838, 846
(10th Cir.1999) (quotation omitted).

The Defendants offered the disputed evidence for proper
purposes.  The Defendants first claimed that evidence of these
lawsuits demonstrated William Koch’s bias.  See United
States v. Abel, 469 U.S. 45, 51, 105 S. Ct. 465, 83 L.Ed.2d
450 (1984) (holding that the use of evidence of bias to im-
peach a witness is permissible);  United States v. DeSoto, 950
F.2d 626, 630 (10th Cir.1991).  Additionally, the Defendants
asserted that this evidence bore directly on an essential ele-
ment of several of William’s claims:  whether William relied
on the Defendants’ misrepresentations.13  See United States v.
Shumway, 112 F.3d 1413, 1421-22 (10th Cir.1997) (“Prior
acts evidence is clearly relevant to show an essential element

                                                
13 The district court gave the following instruction to the jury:

I have instructed you, with respect to the plaintiff(s)’ claims
based on theories of state law fraud, breach of fiduciary duty and
Section 10(b), that the plaintiff(s) cannot prevail without proof of
actual reliance, that is, they would not have sold their shares at the
price actually paid without the defendant(s)’ misrepresentations or
omissions....  [I]f you find that the plaintiff(s) did not actually rely
on any belief that the defendant(s) had completely and truthfully
disclosed the material facts but instead actively doubted the defen-
dant(s) and relied on the expectation that they could later sue the
defendant(s) for breach of warranty, then your verdict should be for
the defendant(s) on the plaintiff(s)’ claims asserting theories of state
law fraud, breach of fiduciary duty and Section 10(b).

The Plaintiffs never objected to this instruction.  As a consequence, reli-
ance was treated as an essential element of these three legal claims.
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....” (quotation omitted)). The evidence therefore was offered
for permissible purposes.

Evidence of the post-1985 lawsuits, however, did not in
fact bear upon these two stated purposes.  Thus, the district
court should have excluded the evidence as irrelevant.  Fed-
eral Rule of Evidence 401 defines relevant evidence as “evi-
dence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact
that is of consequence to the determination of the action more
or less probable than it would be without the evidence.”
Fed.R.Evid. 401.  Federal Rule of Evidence 402 bars the in-
troduction of any evidence that is not relevant. See
Fed.R.Evid. 402.  This court first fails to understand how evi-
dence that William filed these lawsuits actually demonstrates
to any degree that William’s testimony may be less credible
due to his bias against his brothers, particularly when the De-
fendants did not, and perhaps could not, show that these law-
suits were frivolous.  The Second Circuit rejected the precise
argument advanced by the Defendants, concluding that evi-
dence of other suits brought by a plaintiff against the defen-
dants “go[es] to character rather than bias.”  Outley v. City of
New York, 837 F.2d 587, 594 (2d Cir.1988).  Although the
Outley court recognized the possibility that evidence of other
lawsuits could be probative as to bias, “the particular details
of each action, and the extent to which the bringing of each
action was justified, must be before the jury” to render the
evidence relevant and admissible.  Id. at 595.  Here, the dis-
trict court precluded such an examination of the details and
merit of the lawsuits, and thus, the evidence admitted was not
relevant to William’s alleged bias.

Additionally, the evidence admitted was not relevant to
the issue of William’s reliance on his brothers’ representa-
tions in signing the SPA.  The evidence concerned lawsuits
filed at least two years after the SPA and in part indicated
William had sued his mother.  Though the filing of these law-
suits might demonstrate William’s distrust of his brothers af-
ter 1985, the parties entered into the SPA in 1983.  This evi-
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dence thus lacks probative value as to William’s reliance on
his brothers in entering into that 1983 agreement.  Furthe r-
more, evidence that William sued his mother, even if such a
suit had been brought prior to the 1983 SPA, demonstrates
nothing about his attitude toward and reliance upon his broth-
ers.  Because the contested evidence is irrelevant to the stated
purposes for which it was offered, this court concludes that
the district court erred in admitting it.

When a trial court erroneously receives evidence, this
court will reverse the jury’s verdict “only if the error prejud i-
cially affects a substantial right of a party.”  Sanjuan v. IBP,
Inc., 160 F.3d 1291, 1296 (10th Cir.1998).  This court deems
such wrongly admitted evidence prejudicial only if we rea-
sonably conclude that the jury would have reached a different
result without that evidence.  See id.  Having reviewed the
transcript of this trial, this court cannot reasonably conclude
that the jury would have found for the Plaintiffs had it not
learned of these other lawsuits.  In the context of this eleven
week trial, it is extremely doubtful that the lone, brief collo-
quy between defense counsel and William about suing his
brothers and mother and one passing mention of this evidence
in the Defendants’ opening statement caused the jury to find
for the Defendants.  Therefore, although the district court did
err in admitting the disputed evidence, that error did not suffi-
ciently prejudice the Plaintiffs to warrant reversal of the
judgment.

2. The Denial of Cross-Examination on Charles Koch’s
Character

A number of defense witnesses, including Charles Koch
himself, testified to Charles’ honesty and integrity, as well as
his positive management style.  The Plaintiffs repeatedly
sought to ask these witnesses whether in rendering their char-
acter opinions they knew about or considered certain in-
stances which might call into question Charles’ honesty.
Specifically, the Plaintiffs wanted to ask about three such in-
stances:  (1) a United States Senate Report which detailed
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KII’s widespread theft and fraudulent reporting practices in
the 1980s;  (2) a 1974 federal court decision finding KII liable
for fraud;  and (3) two 1997 retaliatory discharge and age dis-
crimination lawsuits filed against KII.

The district court denied the Plaintiffs the opportunity to
ask about these instances, concluding there was “little or no
probative value” regarding Charles’ honesty, and the danger
of confusion, prejudice, and delay substantially outweighed
the probative value.  The Plaintiffs maintain the district court
erred in precluding their cross-examination.  This court will
not reverse a district court’s exclusion of evidence absent an
abuse of discretion.  See Seymore, 111 F.3d at 800.

In Securities & Exchange Commission v. Peters, this
court held that the district court had abused its discretion in
refusing to allow the SEC to ask, on cross-examination, both
Peters and seven of his character witnesses whether they had
heard about other fraud suits filed against him.  978 F.2d
1162, 1164 (10th Cir.1992).  The questions which the Plain-
tiffs in this case sought to ask, however, differ significantly
from those at issue in Peters.  In Peters, the SEC sought to
test the accuracy of Peters’ factual testimony and his wit-
nesses’ character testimony by asking if they were aware of
two previous fraud suits brought against Peters personally.
See id. at 1169.  In contrast, these Plaintiffs undertook to
challenge the character testimony by asking the witnesses if
they had heard about instances of dishonesty by KII, the cor-
poration, not by Charles Koch the individual.

Although the Plaintiffs maintain these instances of KII’s
dishonesty also implicate Charles’ own trustworthiness, the
nexus between KII’s conduct and that of Charles in these in-
stances is not nearly as strong as the Plaintiffs suggest.  In its
1974 order finding KII liable for fraud, a federal district court
may have noted some of Charles’ activities within the com-
pany relevant to the fraud action, but it never concluded that
he personally committed fraud. The Senate Report focuses
almost entirely on the deceptive and illegal practices of KII,
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and, although the report does impliedly question the veracity
of Charles’ statements to committee investigators, it does not
explicitly state, as the Plaintiffs assert, that Charles lied.  Fi-
nally, the retaliatory dismissal and age discrimination com-
plaints name KII as the defendant and allege no wrongdoing
whatsoever by Charles Koch; even had these complaints tar-
geted Charles, this court fails to see how allegations of re-
taliation and age discrimination bear upon the alleged wrong-
doer’s honesty.  This court thus agrees with the district
court’s conclusion that these instances have no real probative
value regarding Charles’ character for honesty.

The district court also did not abuse its discretion in de-
termining the little probative value that these instances might
have is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair
prejudice, confusion, and waste of time. This court has recog-
nized that exclusion of evidence under Rule 403 is “an ex-
traordinary remedy to be used sparingly” and reviews a dis-
trict court’s decision to do so for abuse of discretion.  K-B
Trucking Co. v. Riss Int’l Corp., 763 F.2d 1148, 1155 (10th
Cir.1985) (quotation omitted).  For the jury to properly assess
the weight of this evidence, the court would have needed to
allow both sides to explain how instances reflecting KII’s
dishonesty as a corporation might or might not implicate
Charles’ personal character for honesty.  The district court,
therefore, would have entertained a series of virtual
mini-trials on these rather collateral events.  Such diversions
from the trial’s focus would have wasted considerable time
and potentially created unnecessary confusion in the minds of
the jurors.  Because these instances of dishonesty at most only
tangentially implicate Charles’ own character and the jury
could have become confused about the tenuous nature of this
link, there existed a definite danger that this minimally pro-
bative evidence would unfairly prejudice Charles.  Therefore,
the district court did not abuse its discretion in excluding
these questions under Rule 403.
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D. Jury Instructions

For their Pine Bend claims, the Kansas Plaintiffs and the
Texas Plaintiffs separately requested jury instructions on
fraudulent misrepresentation which defined materiality under
a subjective standard.  The district court, however, denied
these requests and instead gave instructions defining materi-
ality in objective terms.14  Both the Plaintiffs and the Texas
Plaintiffs maintain on appeal that Kansas and Texas law de-
fine materiality subjectively. In addition, the Plaintiffs cha l-
lenge the district court’s instruction on fiduciary duty.  Fi-
nally, the Texas Plaintiffs also appeal the district court’s re-
fusal to give instructions or submit a special verdict or a gen-
eral verdict with interrogatories on their Texas common law
constructive fraud and Texas Securities Act claims.

This court reviews jury instructions de novo and reverses
only when deficient instructions are prejudicial.15  See Cole-
man v. B-G Maintenance Management of Colo., Inc., 108
F.3d 1199, 1202 (10th Cir.1997).  In assessing the propriety
of jury instructions concerning state law claims, this court has
a duty to apply state law as announced by the state’s highest
court.  See Shugart v. Central Rural Elec. Co-op., 110 F.3d
1501, 1504-05 (10th Cir.1997).  If, however, the state’s high-
est court has not decided the issue presented, we may either
certify the question to that court or predict how it would rule.
See Fields v. Farmers Ins. Co., 18 F.3d 831, 834 (10th

                                                
14 The Plaintiffs’ proposed instruction read:  “A representation is material
when it relates to some matter that is so substantial as to influence the
party to [whom] it was made.”  The Texas Plaintiffs proposed the follow-
ing:  “You are instructed that a fact is material if the plaintiffs would not
have entered into the stock transaction without such misrepresentations
having been made or facts concealed.”  The district court, however, settled
on this instruction:  “A fact is material if a reasonable person would con-
sider the fact important or significant in deciding whether or not to sell his
or her shares.”
15 See infra 66-68 (discussing the degree of prejudice warranting reversal).
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Cir.1994); Coletti v. Cudd Pressure Control, 165 F.3d 767,
775 (10th Cir.1999); 10th Cir. R. 27.1.  Furthermore, “this
court must ... follow any intermediate state court decision
unless other authority convinces us that the state supreme
court would decide otherwise.”  Daitom, Inc. v. Pennwalt
Corp., 741 F.2d 1569, 1574 (10th Cir.1984).

1. Kansas Standard of Materiality

To support their contention that the proper definition of
materiality under Kansas fraudulent misrepresentation law is
a subjective one, the Plaintiffs rely on four Kansas cases and
the Kansas Judicial Council’s Pattern Instructions (“PIK”).
The first two cases to which the Plaintiffs cite do not in fact
recite any materiality definition.  See State ex rel. Stephan v.
GAF Corp., 242 Kan. 152, 747 P.2d 1326, 1331 (1987);
DuShane v. Union Nat’l Bank, 223 Kan. 755, 576 P.2d 674,
678 (1978).  Although the Plaintiffs’ next case, Fisher v. Mr.
Harold’s Hair Lab, Inc., does state a subjective definition of
materiality, several paragraphs later the court also articulates
an objective standard.  See 215 Kan. 515, 527 P.2d 1026,
1032 (1974).  It is only the Plaintiffs’ final case, McGuire v.
Gunn, which clearly defines materiality in subjective terms.
See 133 Kan. 422, 300 P. 654, 656 (1931).  McGuire, how-
ever, has aged nearly seventy years, and the Kansas Supreme
Court long ago ceased relying upon it,16 instead now applying
an objective standard.  Finally, PIK Civ.3d 127.40 (1997),
which the Plaintiffs maintain directs courts to issue an in-
struction defining materiality subjectively, speaks to this issue
as inconsistently as Fisher.  Although the proposed instruc-
tion states, “A representation is material when it relates to
some matter that is so substantial as to influence the party to

                                                
16 The most recent Kansas appellate court opinion citing McGuire for its
subjective materiality definition is Fisher, a 1974 case which, as noted
above, simultaneously stated an objective standard of materiality.  See
Fisher v. Mr. Harold’s Hair Lab, Inc., 215 Kan. 515, 527 P.2d 1026, 1032
(1974).
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whom it was made,” the comments following provide, “Mate-
riality of representation is defined in Griffith v. Byers Constr.
Co. ... and Timi v. Prescott State Bank ....”  As discussed be-
low, both Griffith and Timi unequivocally define materiality
in objective terms.

This court has previously stated that in a fraudulent mis-
representation action pursuant to Kansas law, “A fact is mate-
rial if it is one to which a reasonable person would attach im-
portance in determining his or her choice of action in the
transaction involved.”17  City of Wichita v. U.S. Gypsum Co.,
72 F.3d 1491, 1495 (10th Cir.1996) (citing Timi, 553 P.2d at
325).  Following the doctrine of stare decisis, one panel of
this court must follow a prior panel’s interpretation of state
law, absent a supervening declaration to the contrary by that
state’s courts or an intervening change in the state’s law.  Cf.
Kinnison v. Houghton, 432 F.2d 1274, 1277 (10th Cir.1970)
(concluding that the panel need not look to a Tenth Circuit
opinion addressing state law which supported the appellant’s
position, because an intervening state court decision held to
the contrary).   Because the Plaintiffs have failed to alert us to
any supervening Kansas decisions contrary to U.S. Gypsum’s
reading of the materiality element in a Kansas fraud action,
and we have located no such authority, this court is bound by
U.S. Gypsum’s conclusion that Kansas law defines materiality
under an objective standard in a state fraud action.

Moreover, negotiating the labyrinth of Kansas jurispru-
dence confirms that the standard of materiality for fraudulent
misrepresentation, as presently defined by the Kansas Su-
                                                
17 The Plaintiffs contend this court, in another case, also applied a subjec-
tive definition of materiality under Kansas law.  Palmer Coal & Rock Co.
v. Gulf Oil Co., however, simply quotes a district court’s instructions
which articulated the subjective standard, but does not itself endorse such
an approach as the correct one.  See 524 F.2d 884, 885 n. 1 (10th
Cir.1975).  The Palmer Coal court noted neither side objected to these
instructions, thus verifying that it did not adopt the subjective standard in
the instructions.  See id. at 885.
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preme Court, is an objective one.  In Griffith, a case involving
an action for fraudulent concealment, the Kansas Supreme
Court first indicated that such an action is governed by the
identical legal standard as a fraudulent misrepresentation
claim.  See 212 Kan. 65, 510 P.2d 198, 205 (1973).  In defin-
ing materiality for such an action, the Kansas Supreme Court
stated, “A fact is material if it is one to which a reasonable
[person] would attach importance.”  Id.;  see also Timi, 220
Kan. 377, 553 P.2d 315, 317, 325 (1976) (defining materiality
in the same terms in a fraudulent misrepresentation case).
Indeed, in its recent review of a consumer protection action
alleging illegal misrepresentation, the Kansas Supreme Court
relied on Griffith’s objective definition of materiality.  See
York v. InTrust Bank, N.A., 265 Kan. 271, 962 P.2d 405, 420
(1998);  see also Farrell v. General Motors Corp., 249 Kan.
231, 815 P.2d 538, 548 (1991).  Furthermore, in discussing
the elements of fraud by silence, the Kansas Supreme Court
recently noted that a duty to disclose material facts only arises
when the other party would reasonably expect disclosure.  See
OMI Holdings Inc. v. Howell, 260 Kan. 305, 918 P.2d 1274,
1300-01 (1996).  This court’s review of Kansas law and
binding Tenth Circuit precedent thus leads to the conclusion
that the district court properly instructed the jury on material-
ity under Kansas law.

2. Texas Standard of Materiality

In contrast, the Texas Plaintiffs correctly characterize as
subjective the definition of materiality under their two distinct
claims, i.e., Texas common law fraud and a violation of sec-
tion 27.01 of the Texas Business & Commercial Code (“sec-
tion 27.01”).18  Although the Texas Supreme Court has not

                                                
18 Although the Defendants contend that the district court erred in its
choice of law decision allowing the Texas Plaintiffs to proceed on two
Texas state law claims, the Defendants nonetheless expressly waived re-
view of that determination on appeal because they believe Kansas and
Texas law do not differ on the issue.
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recently articulated a materiality definition for either of these
two causes of action, numerous Texas Court of Appeals and
Fifth Circuit opinions lead this court to agree with the posi-
tion taken by the Texas Plaintiffs. Discussing Texas common
law fraud, the Texas Court of Appeals recently stated, “A
misrepresentation is material if it induced the complaining
party to enter into the contract.”  Marburger v. Seminole
Pipeline Co., 957 S.W.2d 82, 86 n. 4 (Tex.App.1997, writ
denied).  Marburger simply follows a long line of cases es-
tablishing this subjective standard.  See, e.g., Hart v. Aetna
Cas. & Sur. Co., 756 S.W.2d 27, 29 (Tex.App.1988, no writ);
Sawyer v. Pierce, 580 S.W.2d 117, 124 (Tex.App.1979, writ
ref’d n.r.e.);  Putnam v. Bromwell, 73 Tex. 465, 11 S.W. 491,
492 (1889).  Additionally, the Fifth Circuit has noted that
Texas common law fraud, unlike federal securities fraud, de-
fines materiality in subjective terms.  See In re Sioux Ltd., Se-
curities Litigation v. Coopers & Lybrand, 914 F.2d 61, 65-66
(5th Cir.1990), implied overruling on other grounds recog-
nized by, Pacific Mut. Ins. Co. v. First RepublicBank Corp.,
997 F.2d 39, 41 (5th Cir.1993).  Indeed, a treatise on Texas
law states the following:

In order to constitute actionable fraud, representations
must pertain to material facts....

The test for determining whether a represented fact is
material relates to the effect of the representation on the
transaction in question....

A representation is not material if it appears that the
transaction would have been entered into notwithstand-
ing the representation.  On the other hand, a represented
fact is said to be material if the transaction would not
have been entered into had the representation not been
made.

Elizabeth A. Wong, 41 Texas Jurisprudence, Fraud and
Deceit § 13 (3d ed.1998).
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Admittedly, a few Texas cases have caused some confu-
sion about the proper materiality standard under Texas com-
mon law fraud.  Two recent Texas Court of Appeals cases
each confusingly recite both an objective and a subjective
materiality standard in a single sentence.  See Beneficial Per-
sonnel Servs. of Texas, Inc. v. Porras, 927 S.W.2d 177,
186-87 (Tex.App.1996, writ granted w.r.m.);  Beneficial Per-
sonnel Servs. of Texas, Inc. v. Rey, 927 S.W.2d 157, 168
(Tex.App.1996, writ granted w.r.m.).  The objective language
in these two cases is drawn from another case upon which the
Defendants rely, which merely quoted a trial court’s instruc-
tions employing an objective standard but never affirmatively
approved those instructions.  See American Medical Int’l, Inc.
v. Giurintano, 821 S.W.2d 331, 338 (Tex.App.1991, no writ).
No other case to which the Defendants cite suggests Texas
common law fraud utilizes an objective definition of materi-
ality.19  Porras and Rey merely confuse the issue;  they do not
overrule earlier cases and they antedate Marburger. There-
fore, this court is convinced that Texas common law fraud
jurisprudence establishes a subjective standard of materiality.

Materiality under section 27.01 is also measured subjec-
tively.  As the Fifth Circuit noted, “Because the statute is de-
rived from Texas common law fraud, the reliance and materi-
ality elements of section 27.01 do not differ from those of

                                                
19 Like American Medical, Miller v. Miller merely notes a trial court’s use
of an objective definition in jury instructions without deciding the correct-
ness of those instructions.  See 700 S.W.2d 941, 948 (Tex.App.1985, writ
ref’d n.r.e.).  Bridwell v. State addresses criminal fraud under the Texas
Securities Act, not state common law fraud. See 804 S.W.2d 900, 904
(Tex.Crim.App.1991, no pet.).  Shepard  v. Rubin never articulates a mate-
riality definition, though it implicitly approves a subjective standard laid
down in H.W. Broaddus Co., Inc. v. Binkley, an opinion adopted by the
Texas Supreme Court.  See Shepard , 462 S.W.2d 316, 320
(Tex.App.1970, no writ);  Binkley, 126 Tex. 374, 88 S.W.2d 1040, 1042
(1936).  Finally, American Tobacco Co. v. Grinnell addresses the element
of reliance, not materiality.  See 951 S.W.2d 420, 436 (Tex.1997).



App. A51

Texas common law fraud.”  Haralson v. E.F. Hutton Group,
Inc., 919 F.2d 1014, 1025 n. 4 (5th Cir.1990);  see also Fisher
v. Yates, 953 S.W.2d 370, 380 n. 7 (Tex.App.1997, writ de-
nied) (“The reliance and materiality elements of statutory
fraud [under section 27.01] do not differ from common law
fraud.”);  Keith A. Rowley, The Sky is Still Blue in Texas:
State Law Alternatives to Federal Securities Remedies, 50
Baylor L.Rev. 99, 124 n. 104, 163 n. 198 (1998) (noting that
in contrast to an action under Texas Securities Act, an action
pursuant to common law fraud or section 27.01 merely re-
quires a subjective showing of materiality).  The Defendants
have failed to alert this court to any authority that treats sec-
tion 27.01’s materiality element as an objective one, and nor
have we found any such authority.  This court thus concludes
that section 27.01 imposes a subjective standard of materia l-
ity.

Finally, the district court’s incorrect jury instruction suffi-
ciently prejudiced the Texas Plaintiffs to warrant reversal.
This court recently noted its own conflicting precedent re-
garding the precise standard for reversal due to erroneous in-
structions.  See Morrison Knudsen Corp. v. Fireman’s Fund
Ins. Co., 175 F.3d 1221, 1236-37 (10th Cir.1999).  Coleman
and U.S. Gypsum require reversal when a jury might have
based its decision on an erroneous instruction, even if that
possibility was very unlikely.  See Coleman, 108 F.3d at
1202;  U.S. Gypsum, 72 F.3d at 1495.  An earlier case, how-
ever, indicated this court should only reverse when it is more
likely than not that the erroneous instruction affected a sub-
stantial right of the appellant.  See United States Indus., Inc.
v. Touche Ross & Co., 854 F.2d 1223, 1253 n. 39 (10th
Cir.1988), implied overruling on other grounds recognized
by, Anixter v. Home-Stake Production Co., 77 F.3d 1215,
1231 (10th Cir.1996).  Morrison Knudsen did not need to rec-
oncile these differing standards.  See 175 F.3d at 1237.

Again, we need not decide which of these competing
standards controls, because the erroneous instruction here



App. A52

would require reversal under either approach. The district
court’s erroneous instruction on an essential element of the
Texas Plaintiffs’ fraud claims effectively directed the jury to
ignore the Texas Plaintiffs’ own testimony that they would
not have entered into the SPA absent the Defendants’ misrep-
resentations and omissions.  Additionally, the Defendants
failed to present any evidence contradicting the Texas Plain-
tiffs’ testimony about their states of mind.20  Even under the
more burdensome Touche Ross standard, therefore, the erro-
neous instruction warrants reversal, because the error more
than likely, if not necessarily, affected a substantial right of
the Texas Plaintiffs, i.e., the right to have the jury even con-
sider the primary and only direct evidence on the materiality
element.  The district court therefore committed reversible
error with respect to the Texas Plaintiffs’ claims when it in-
structed the jury to determine objectively whether the Defen-
dants’ misrepresentations and omissions were material.

3. Fiduciary Duty

Relying upon a 1986 order by the district court, the Plain-
tiffs proposed a jury instruction which stated, “The Court has
found, as a matter of law, that a fiduciary relationship existed
between the plaintiffs and the defendants.”  Over the Plain-
tiffs’ objection, the district court instead instructed the jury as
follows:

To recover on their [fiduciary duty] claim, the plain-
tiff(s) have the burden of first proving, by a preponder-
ance of evidence that is clear and convincing, that they

                                                
20 The Defendants did present evidence indicating that a reasonable person
would not have been affected by the alleged misrepresentations in decid-
ing whether to enter into the SPA. Certainly such reasonable person evi-
dence may be used to counter the Texas Plaintiffs’ testimony because a
jury could potentially discredit the Texas Plaintiffs testimony based on the
unreasonableness of their assertions.  Nonetheless, the Defendants pre-
sented no direct evidence that the Texas Plaintiffs ever said or believed
anything contradicting their state-of-mind testimony.
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did not voluntarily and intentionally relieve the individ-
ual defendant(s) of their fiduciary duty as directors or
officers of Koch Industries.  If you find the plaintiff(s) to
have not met this burden of proof, then you shall find
that the individual defendant(s) did not owe a fiduciary
duty.

If you find, however, the plaintiff(s) have proved that
they did not relieve the defendant(s) of their fiduciary
duty as directors or officers of Koch Industries, then it
becomes the individual defendant(s)’ burden to prove,
by a preponderance of evidence that is clear and con-
vincing, the following elements:

(1) that concerning the alleged misrepresentations
or omissions, the individual defendant(s) completely
and truthfully disclosed to the plaintiff(s) or their
agent(s) all relevant facts, known to the individual de-
fendant(s) by reason of their office or position at
Koch Industries and not known by the plaintiff(s) or
their agent(s), that were material in affecting the
value or price of the stock;  and

(2) that the plaintiff(s) were paid a fair price for
their stock and that the terms of the transaction were
fair, balanced against the best interests of the corpo-
ration and all of its shareholders.

In short, the first paragraph of this instruction required the
jury to determine whether a fiduciary relationship actually
existed;  if the jury answered this predicate inquiry in the af-
firmative, it then needed to determine whether the Defendants
in fact breached their fiduciary duty.

The verdict form, however, guided the jury directly to the
second question, entirely ignoring the predicate inquiry of
whether a fiduciary relationship existed.  Question 6 on the
verdict form stated, “Do you find on the fiduciary duty claim
that the defendants have proved that they disclosed those
material facts concerning Pine Bend Refinery to the plaintiffs
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which the plaintiffs or their agents otherwise did not know
and that Koch Industries paid a fair price for the plaintiffs’
stock?”  The jury answered, “Yes.”

The Plaintiffs appeal the district court’s instruction re-
quiring them to prove the existence of a fiduciary relation-
ship, arguing that Kansas law imposes a strict fiduciary duty
on corporate officers and recognizes no exception to this duty
when a plaintiff may have relieved an officer defendant of
that duty.  As noted above, this court will reverse a district
court judgment only when deficient instructions are prejud i-
cial.  See Coleman, 108 F.3d at 1202.  Here, this court need
not determine whether the challenged instruction constituted a
proper statement of the law, because the verdict form ren-
dered any possible error in the instruction harmless.  Al-
though the jury was told in the instructions that they would
need to first determine whether the Defendants had been re-
lieved of their fiduciary duty, the verdict form never asked
that question.  Instead, Question 6 in the verdict form im-
pliedly assumed that a fiduciary relationship existed and que-
ried only whether the Defendants had proved they did not
breach that relationship, to which the jury answered “yes.”
Because the verdict form never posed the challenged question
to the jury but impliedly assumed the answer in favor of the
Plaintiffs and the jury found for the Defendants on the breach
inquiry, this court concludes any possible error in the district
court’s instructions on the existence of a fiduciary relation-
ship was harmless. Due to this harmlessness, this court need
not reverse the judgment under either the Coleman/U.S. Gyp-
sum prejudice standard or that of Touche Ross, even if the
challenged instruction was erroneous.  See Coleman, 108 F.3d
at 1202 (requiring reversal when a jury might have based its
decision on an erroneous instruction);  U.S. Gypsum, 72 F.3d
at 1495 (following Coleman standard even if the possibility is
very unlikely);  Touche Ross, 854 F.2d at 1253 n. 39 (requir-
ing reversal only when it is more likely than not that an erro-
neous instruction was prejudicial).
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4. The Texas Common Law Constructive Fraud Claims

Prior to submitting the case to the jury, the Texas Plain-
tiffs proposed instructions, definitions, and verdict questions
on their Texas common law constructive fraud claims.  Over
their objection, however, the district court refused to submit
instructions or verdict questions to the jury relating to Texas
constructive fraud.  The court reasoned that those claims du-
plicated others and, alternatively, that the Texas Plaintiffs had
failed to include a constructive fraud claim in the 1998 Pre-
trial Order.

In appealing the district court’s decision, the Texas Plain-
tiffs maintain Rule 15(b) required the district court to amend
the pleadings to include a constructive fraud claim.  Their
opening brief, however, does not offer any argument whatso-
ever that the 1998 Pretrial Order did in fact include a con-
structive fraud claim.  The issue of the court’s construction of
the 1998 Pretrial Order is thus waived on appeal. 21  See John-
son ex rel. Johnson v. Thompson, 971 F.2d 1487, 1499 (10th
Cir.1992) (noting this court generally will not address issues
that the parties failed to brief).  Therefore, this court must
only determine whether the district court properly declined to
amend the Pretrial Order.  We review that determination for
an abuse of discretion. See Trierweiler, 90 F.3d at 1543.

Upon a party’s motion, a trial court should amend the
pretrial order to include issues not initially raised in that order
but tried by express or implied consent of the parties.  See
Fed.R.Civ.P. 15(b).  A trial court should find such implied
consent either when the consenting party introduces evidence
on the new issue or fails to object when the other party intro-

                                                
21 In the Texas Plaintiffs’ Reply Brief, they argue “the phrase ‘common
law fraud’ used in the complaint and pretrial order includes constructive
fraud under Texas law.”  They never raised this argument, however, in
their opening brief, and this court need not entertain an argument raised
for the first time in a reply brief.  See, e.g., Coleman v. B-G Maintenance
Management of Colo., Inc., 108 F.3d 1199, 1205 (10th Cir.1997).
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duces such evidence.  See Hardin, 691 F.2d at 457.  This
court, however, has determined that “[w]hen the evidence
claimed to show that an issue was tried by consent is relevant
to an issue already in the case, and there is no indication that
the party presenting the evidence intended thereby to raise a
new issue, amendment may be denied in the discretion of the
trial court.”  Id.  The Texas Plaintiffs fully concede that the
evidence presented at trial to support a constructive fraud
claim precisely matched that evidence relevant to several of
their other claims.  Therefore, the Defendants did not im-
pliedly consent to the trial of constructive fraud, and the dis-
trict court acted well within its discretion in declining to
amend the 1998 Pretrial Order to include an admittedly dupli-
cative claim.

5. Texas Securities Act Claims

Similarly, the district court refused to submit to the jury
the Texas Plaintiffs’ Texas Securities Act claims.  The district
court determined the Act required proof that the stock at issue
no longer exists and no such evidence had been presented to
support that requirement.  On appeal, the Texas Plaintiffs ar-
gue the district court improperly construed the statute.  They
acknowledge, however, that their appeal on this issue depends
upon this court’s concluding the materiality element of fraud
under the Texas Securities Act is a subjective one.

Unlike actions under Texas common law fraud or section
27.01,22 however, a fraud claim pursuant to the Texas Secur i-
ties Act does require proof of objective materiality.  Most re-
cently, the Texas Court of Appeals stated that under the Texas
Securities Act “an omission or misrepresentation is material if
there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor
would consider it important in deciding to invest.” Weatherly
v. Deloitte & Touche, 905 S.W.2d 642, 648-49
(Tex.App.1995, writ dism’d w.o.j.) (emphasis added); see

                                                
22 See supra  Section III.D.2.
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also Anheuser-Busch Co. v. Summit Coffee Co., 858 S.W.2d
928, 936 (Tex.App.1993, writ denied) (same), vacated on
other grounds 514 U.S. 1001, 115 S. Ct. 1309, 131 L. Ed.2d
192 (1995); Granader v. McBee, 23 F.3d 120, 123 (5th
Cir.1994) (same).  Indeed, one commentator explicitly noted
that materiality is defined objectively under the Texas Securi-
ties Act, but subjectively under Texas common law fraud and
section 23.01.  See Keith A. Rowley, The Sky is Still Blue in
Texas:  State Law Alternatives to Federal Securities Reme-
dies, 50 Baylor L.Rev. 99, 121 n. 104, 163 n. 198 (1998).
The Texas Plaintiffs have cited no authority suggesting a
subjective materiality standard under the Texas Securities
Act, and this court has found none.  Therefore, because mate-
riality is defined objectively under the Texas Securities Act
and the jury found the Defendants’ omissions and misrepre-
sentations were not objectively material, the district court’s
refusal to submit Texas Securities Act claims to the jury, if
error, was harmless.

E. District Court’s Limitations on Plaintiffs’ Fraud Claims

1. The Rule 9(b) Order

The Plaintiffs’ Fifth Claim for Relief in their Amended
Complaint pleaded fraud by the Defendants.  Specifically, the
fraud claim alleged that the Defendants misrepresented and
concealed information about three particular KII assets –
Koch Qatar, Inc., the Capa Madison Unit, and the Bates &
Reimann wells.  In addition, the fraud claim incorporated an
allegation contained in paragraph twenty-two of the Amended
Complaint, which broadly stated,

during 1982 and continuing to the present time, defen-
dants planned and acted to conceal the true value of
shares of stock in Koch Industries from plaintiffs and
the other selling shareholders and carried out a scheme
designed to understate the existence, extent and value of
property and assets owned directly or beneficially by
Koch Industries by failing to disclose the existence, lo-
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cation, ownership, condition and true value of assets and
property, including, but not limited to, oil and gas re-
serves, acreage, prospects and properties, oil and gas
production and planned development of oil and gas
properties owned or acquired prior to June 10, 1983.

In an October 17, 1985 order, the district court limited the
Plaintiffs’ fraud claims to those allegations concerning the
three specifically referenced assets, determining that the
broad allegation contained in paragraph twenty-two did not
satisfy the particularity pleading requirement of Federal Rule
of Civil Procedure 9(b).  The district court went on to grant
the Defendants summary judgment on the causes of action
regarding two of the three assets-Koch Qatar, Inc. and the
Bates & Reimann wells.  The Plaintiffs now challenge the
district court’s Rule 9(b) ruling restricting the Plaintiffs’ fraud
claims.23

This court reviews a district court’s Rule 9(b) ruling de
novo and confines its analysis to the text of the complaint.
See Schwartz v. Celestial Seasonings, Inc., 124 F.3d 1246,
1251 (10th Cir.1997).  Rule 9(b) provides, “In all averments
of fraud or mistake, the circumstances constituting fraud or
mistake shall be stated with particularity.  Malice, intent,
knowledge, and other conditions of mind of a person may be
averred generally.”  Fed.R.Civ.P. 9(b).  More specifically,
this court requires a complaint alleging fraud to “set forth the

                                                
23 In addition to the district court’s October 17, 1985 ruling, the Plaintiffs
challenge two later orders of the district court, issued on October 24, 1991
and June 30, 1992, which they also claim constituted dismissals of allega-
tions under Rules 9(b) and 8. Although the October 24 order did reference
Rule 9(b), it concerned discovery requests by the Plaintiffs, not dismissals
of allegations or claims.  Thus, this court will discuss the propriety of that
order in the following section of this opinion dealing with discovery.  See
infra Section III.E.2. The June 30 order addressed the Plaintiffs’ motion to
amend their Second Amended Complaint, and the district court did not
rely at all on Rule 9(b) or Rule 8 in denying some of the proposed
amendments.



App. A59

time, place and contents of the false representation, the iden-
tity of the party making the false statements and the conse-
quences thereof.”  Lawrence Nat’l Bank v. Edmonds (In re
Edmonds), 924 F.2d 176, 180 (10th Cir.1991).  Rule 9(b)’s
purpose is “to afford defendant fair notice of plaintiff’s claims
and the factual ground upon which [they] are based....”  Far-
low v. Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co., 956 F.2d 982, 987
(10th Cir.1992) (quotation omitted), implied overruling on
other grounds recognized by, Seolas v. Bilzerian, 951 F.Supp.
978, 981-82 (D.Utah 1997).

Here, the broad allegation in paragraph twenty-two of the
Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint, which the district court found
insufficient under Rule 9(b), set forth none of the specific and
required allegations.  The statement that the alleged misrepre-
sentations were made “during 1982 and continuing to the pre-
sent time” does not alert the Defendants to a sufficiently pre-
cise time frame to satisfy Rule 9(b).  Furthermore, paragraph
twenty-two fails to mention at all the place at which any mis-
representations were made.  In addition, this paragraph speci-
fies nothing about the content of the alleged misrepresenta-
tions, instead reciting a general statement that the Defendants
“fail[ed] to disclose the existence, location, ownership, con-
dition and true value of [KII] assets and property.”  Finally,
paragraph twenty-two failed to identify any specific Defen-
dant who made these alleged fraudulent misrepresentations or
omissions, a particularly important requirement in this case
because of the number of individual defendants involved.

The Plaintiffs cite Scheidt v. Klein, 956 F.2d 963 (10th
Cir.1992) for the proposition that Rule 9(b) particularity re-
quirements are relaxed when the facts supporting a fraud
claim are within the opponent’s knowledge and control.
Scheidt, however, is not so generous.  It merely holds that
“[a]llegations of fraud may be based on information and be-
lief when the facts in question are peculiarly within the op-
posing party’s knowledge and the complaint sets forth the
factual basis for the plaintiff’s belief.”  Id. at 967.  Unlike the
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complaint in Scheidt, paragraph twenty-two did not state that
the Plaintiffs’ allegations of fraud were based on information
and belief, nor did it set forth any factual basis to support
such a belief.  Instead, paragraph twenty-two broadly alleged
that the Defendants concealed the true value of KII stock
without informing the court or the Defendants of the source
for this contention.  Moreover, the information and belief al-
legations in Scheidt concerned the intent or purpose of the
defendants’ actions, elements which this court noted were al-
lowed to be pleaded generally under Rule 9(b).  See id.  Para-
graph twenty-two, however, does not address intent or pur-
pose, and thus Rule 9(b) does not excuse the generality of the
Plaintiffs’ allegations.  Therefore, the district court properly
precluded the Plaintiffs from pursuing fraud claims based on
the broadly stated allegations of paragraph twenty-two.

2. The Discovery Rulings

After substantial but unsuccessful efforts by the Plaintiffs
to litigate the claims stricken by the Rule 9(b) decision, the
district court granted them leave to file a Second Amended
Complaint and determined that document to be the one meas-
uring the relevance of discovery requests.  The Plaintiffs then
issued subpoenas for production of documents from six dif-
ferent banks requesting all documents relating to any loans or
transactions with KII between June 1, 1978 and June 30,
1988.  In two separate orders, a federal magistrate judge lim-
ited this discovery request to those documents relating only to
“the Pine Bend Refinery, the Pouce Coupe, Gilt Edge and
Cold Lake properties in Canada, the equity value of ABKO,
and the alleged understated value of certain assets because of
financial and accounting policies and practices.”  The Plain-
tiffs also subpoenaed from the Ryder Scott Company all rec-
ords of KII’s oil and gas reserves for the years 1980 through
1988.  A federal magistrate judge also limited this discovery
to those documents concerning four KII assets – the Pouce
Coupe, Gilt Edge, Cold Lake and Capa Madison properties.
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The district court then affirmed the magistrate’s decisions
in its own order of October 24, 1991.  In so ruling, the district
court first determined that paragraphs thirty-eight and
forty-six of the Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint did
not delineate allegations of financial impropriety with suffi-
cient particularity under Rule 9(b) “to justify discovery into
all accounting documents and practices of Koch Industries
during the relevant time period.”  Additionally, the district
court reasoned that even under the Plaintiffs’ breach of con-
tract and breach of fiduciary duty claims, Rule 26 barred the
requested discovery because the burden and expense of pro-
ducing these documents far outweighed the Plaintiffs’ mere
hope that they might find something upon which to base a
claim.  The Plaintiffs challenge the district court’s orders lim-
iting their discovery attempts.

This court reviews discovery rulings for an abuse of dis-
cretion.  See  Pippinger v. Rubin, 129 F.3d 519, 533 (10th
Cir.1997).  Rule 26(b) provides, “Parties may obtain discov-
ery regarding any matter, not privileged, which is relevant to
the subject matter involved in the pending action....  The in-
formation sought need not be admissible at the trial if the in-
formation sought appears reasonably calculated to lead to the
discovery of admissible evidence.”  Fed.R.Civ.P. 26(b)(1).
Despite this broad language, the rule does allow a court to
limit discovery if “the burden or expense of the proposed dis-
covery outweighs its likely benefit.”  Fed.R.Civ.P.
26(b)(2)(iii). Indeed, the 1983 and 1993 Advisory Committee
Notes indicate this sub-section was added “to encourage
judges to be more aggressive in identifying and discouraging
discovery overuse” and “to enable the court to keep tighter
rein on the extent of discovery.”

The Plaintiffs attempted to justify their extraordinarily
expansive discovery requests as relevant to two broad,
non-specific allegations contained in their Second Amended
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Complaint.24  When a plaintiff first pleads its allegations in
entirely indefinite terms, without in fact knowing of any spe-
cific wrongdoing by the defendant, and then bases massive
discovery requests upon those nebulous allegations, in the
hope of finding particular evidence of wrongdoing, that
plaintiff abuses the judicial process.  That is what occurred
here.  The limits which Rule 26(b)(2)(iii) place upon discov-
ery are aimed at just such a tactic.  Utilizing its discretionary
power under this rule, the district court appropriately recog-
nized that the likely benefit of this attempted fishing expedi-
tion was speculative at best.  Furthermore, the district court
understood that to require the six banks and the Ryder Scott
Company to produce the massive amount of documents re-
quested, first weeding out privileged and confidential records,
would impose a serious burden and expense upon these
non-parties.  The district court thus properly determined that
the burden and expense of these discovery requests far out-
weighed their likely benefit.  Therefore, this court concludes
the district court did not abuse its discretion in limiting the
Plaintiffs’ discovery.

F. The District Court’s Administration of this Case

The Plaintiffs contend the district court administered this
case unjustly.  They first assert the district court harbored an
unfair disdain for the Plaintiffs which led the court to oversee
the case in a biased fashion. The Plaintiffs then list a number
of the district court’s rulings which were unfavorable to them
as evidence of the court’s “harsh, lopsided and manifestly
unjust” treatment.

To the extent that some of the specified rulings were con-
tested in greater depth in previous sections of the Plaintiffs’
brief, this court has already disposed of those arguments.
                                                
24 Both paragraphs thirty-eight and forty-six contained broad allegations
that the Defendants did not provide financial information to the Plaintiffs
in accord with GAAP. Paragraph forty-six recited one specific example of
these alleged accounting improprieties relating to the Pine Bend Refinery.
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Furthermore, the Plaintiffs cite no legal authority at all in
contesting other rulings which they failed to address in prior
portions of their brief, thus waiving these arguments on ap-
peal.  See Adler, 144 F.3d at 679 (noting that “[a]rguments
inadequately briefed in the opening brief are waived”).  Fi-
nally, at no point during the litigation did the Plaintiffs seek to
have the district court judge disqualified on the basis of bias
or on any other grounds.  The Plaintiffs thus waive their bias
argument on appeal because they failed to timely move for
disqualification.  See United States v. Stenzel, 49 F.3d 658,
661 (10th Cir.1995).  Therefore, this court concludes none of
these arguments warrants reversal.

G. Damages

Finally, the Plaintiffs assert the district court erroneously
limited their damages, arguing that their Section 10(b) and
Rule 10b-5 claims warranted a more liberal measure of dam-
ages than allowed by the court.  Because the jury found for
the Defendants and, with the exception of the Texas Plain-
tiffs’ state common law and statutory misrepresentation
claims, this court now affirms each of the district court’s rul-
ings which the Plaintiffs challenge, we need not address this
issue.

H. Motion to Correct Misstatements at Oral Argument

The Plaintiffs have filed a motion under Federal Rule of
Appellate Procedure 27 to correct alleged misstatements by
defense counsel at oral argument.  Rather than a Rule 27 mo-
tion, the Plaintiffs’ filing constitutes an additional six pages of
briefing on the merits, which in turn inspired a response from
the Defendants amounting to twelve more pages of such
briefing. Not to be outdone or, in the alternative, to equalize
the pages of briefing on the merits under the guise of the Rule
27 motion, the Plaintiffs then filed a six page reply.

One thing this court did not need in this case was further
briefing and argument.  The court previously demonstrated
leniency in allowing the filing of oversized briefs pursuant to
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Federal Rule of Appellate Procedure 28(g) and Tenth Circuit
Rule 28.3 and by granting additional time for oral argument.
Regarding the Plaintiffs’ substantive claims in this motion,
while it is true that one of the statements challenged is a mis-
statement, defense counsel did not make the utterance mali-
ciously nor did he mislead the court.  Most disturbingly, the
Plaintiffs’ motion reveals their apparent assumption that the
court does not read the record to confirm or refute representa-
tions as to its content.  That assumption is wrong.

The Plaintiffs’ motion is denied as an inappropriate at-
tempt to circumvent Federal Rule of Appellate Procedure
28(c), which states,”Unless the court permits, no further
briefs [beyond the reply brief] may be filed.” Fed. R.App. P.
28(c).
IV. CONCLUSION

In deciding the instant appeal, this court has reviewed a
piece of litigation spanning a decade and a half and a trial
lasting nearly three months.  This court is well aware that in
such litigation the discretion of the trial court is important to
accomplish efficiency, notice, and fairness.  In this context,
however, we could not reasonably expect perfection in the
district court’s exercise of that discretion or in its overall han-
dling of the case;  rather, what this court expects from the
district court is basic fairness to all parties.  Having reversed
the district court on but two of many issues presented on ap-
peal, we are satisfied that the district court achieved funda-
mental fairness in its presentation of this vast and complex
piece of litigation to lay fact finders.

This court hereby AFFIRMS the judgment of the United
States District Court for the District of Kansas, except as to
the Texas Plaintiffs’ claims under state common law fraud
and section 27.01 of the Texas Business & Commercial Code.
Regarding those two claims, this court REVERSES and
REMANDS for proceedings consistent with this opinion.
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APPENDIX

Following is a list and discussion of the evidence which
this court considered in determining whether the district court
erroneously granted summary judgment on the Plaintiffs’
175,000 B/D expansion claim:

r A 12/13/82 letter from Keith Bailey, President of Wil-
liams Pipeline, to J.W. Moeller, Vice President of KII, stat-
ing, “As you know, time is growing short if we are to have an
expansion in place by mid-1983.”  This letter undoubtedly
refers to the 145,000 B/D expansion, not the 175,000 B/D ex-
pansion idea, as even Plaintiffs allege the larger expansion
was not intended for completion until the end of 1985 while
KII aimed to complete the 145,000 B/D expansion by
mid-1983.

r A 1/6/83 letter from KII’s Vice President of Planning to
Williams Pipeline, stating, “Due to Koch Refining’s current
and planned future expansion of our Pine Bend Refinery ...
Koch Refining and Williams Pipeline management have been
discussing several plans to increase current pumping capacity
into the Williams system.”  Given the date of this letter, the
“current expansion” language must refer to the 145,000 B/D
expansion.  The “planned expansion” wording, however, is
not expressly clear as to whether it refers to a 155,000 B/D or
a 175,000 B/D expansion.  Reading this document in the
context of the other evidence, however, leads this court to
conclude this language must refer to the lesser expansion, in-
asmuch as there is no evidence that as of January 6, 1983 KII
had even started discussions with Litwin Engineering about a
potential 175,000 B/D expansion.

r 1/20/83 Litwin Engineering notes from a meeting with
KII representatives, stating,

1. The purpose of the meeting was to establish a basis
for design to expand Koch’s St. Paul Refinery No. 1
Crude Unit to 65,000 BPD. The unit presently operates
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at approximately 39,000--40,000 BPD. Koch is cur-
rently making modifications which will increase capac-
ity to approximately 50,000 BPD.

2. Target for processing 65,000 BPD would be start
of summer, 1984.

These notes indicate that prior to the SPA, KII had in-
quired of Litwin about possible designs for Unit 1 which
would enable that unit to process 65,000 B/D. KII was there-
fore at least considering such an expansion prior to the SPA.
These notes do not suggest, however, that KII had contracted
with Litwin to do actual design work required for the expan-
sion or that KII had committed in any way to effectuating the
expansion.

r an undated Litwin Proposal, stating the following:

Litwin will provide engineering and estimating serv-
ices to provide Koch Refining Co. with comparative
budget cost estimates of 1) expanding Koch’s existing
St. Paul Refinery No. 1 Crude Unit from the present op-
erating capacity of 40,000 BPSD to 65,000 BPSD and

2) constructing a new 65,000 BPSD Crude Unit at the
same facility.

Litwin’s initial emphasis will be the review of two cases
of a 1979 study for expanding Koch’s St. Paul No. 1
Crude Unit.
. . . .

Litwin anticipates completion of this work approxi-
mately five weeks after release by Koch.

This likely was written shortly after the January 1983
meeting with KII representatives.  The Proposal, however,
manifests only the internal dynamics of Litwin regarding
what it would do to study the potential expansion.

r a 2/1/83 Proposal from Litwin to KII:
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Litwin proposes to provide process and mechanical en-
gineering and cost estimating services to compare [1.]
expansion of the No. 1 Crude Unit from 40,000 BPSD to
60,000 BPSD, [2.] expansion of the No. 1 Crude Unit
from 40,000 BPSD to 65,000 BPSD, and [3.] construc-
tion of a new 65,000 BPSD Crude Unit.
 . . .

Litwin will review and update ... two cases of its 1979
study for expansion of the No. 1 Crude Unit....

This proposal is valid for acceptance on or before Feb-
ruary 15, 1983....

This document appears to be a contract offer from Litwin
to KII. Like the prior undated proposal, this document reveals
Litwin’s offer to engage in these studies but not KII’s com-
mitment to the studies or the actual expansion.

r 1/31/83;  2/3/83;  2/14/83 calculations by Litwin em-
ployees.  These calculations were performed internally by
Litwin and there is no direct evidence that they ever reached
the eyes of KII representatives.  This work, however, may
imply that KII had in fact accepted Litwin’s proposal to study
these design options for the 175,000 B/D expansion.  Alter-
natively, these calculations may merely suggest Litwin’s dog-
ged and hopeful pursuit of a contract which KII had not yet
accepted.  At most, however, this work merely evidences that
KII was studying the expansion option, but not that KII had
committed to it.

r 3/4/83 Project Notes for internal use only, written by
L.J. Ross of Litwin, stating, “Attached is a marked-up
Equipment Summary for both the 60,000 BPSD and 65,000
BPSD Crude Unit Expansion....”  Again, while one might in-
fer from these notes that KII had engaged Litwin to study
these two options, there remains no evidence KII saw these
notes or that the matter progressed to a planned expansion.
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r an 8/3/83 unsigned memorandum entitled “Crude and
Hydrotreater Expansion-- Pine Bend,” which states, “We pro-
pose to utilize an existing FCC Preheater and add a Preflash
Tower to increase our No. 1 Crude Unit capacity to 65,000
B/D. This plus 110,000 B/D capacity of the No. [2] crude unit
... will give us a total of 175,000 B/D crude capacity.”  The
words “our No. 1 Crude Unit” indicate a KII employee
drafted this memorandum.  The document, however, merely
proposes this expansion option.  It does not demonstrate that
KII was actually planning to execute this expansion.

r 8/9/83 Litwin Conference Notes from a meeting with J.
Johnson of KII, stating, “Litwin is to present Koch with the
cost and time required to prepare a process package with ma-
jor equipment specifications for a new 65,000 BPD Unit and
Splitter Tower at the St. Paul Refinery.”  These notes provide
fairly strong inferential evidence that KII had not accepted
Litwin’s earlier contract offer of February 1, 1983.  If KII had
accepted that offer, these cost estimates would have been pre-
pared much earlier.

r 8/19-20/83, KII Board of Directors Meeting Supple-
mental Information, stating “Analysis of the expansion of
Pine Bend crude and desulfurization capacity have been un-
derway for some time....  Design and optimization of equip-
ment of the two desulfurizers and the crude expansion are in
progress....  [A]pplication for the crude expansion permit will
be submitted in September.  Final cost estimates, LP optimi-
zations and economics are being prepared.”  In a chart on the
following page, titled “Pine Bend Expansion Comparison,”
the number 157.5 appears as the “total” under the column for
“Expansion Case (MB/D).”  The first two statements in the
Board notes must refer to the 155,000 B/D expansion, given
the on-going nature of the stated expansions and the numbers
on the following page.  The statement regarding the permit,
however, could possibly refer to an expansion beyond
155,000 B/D. Nonetheless, it is significant that KII did not
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apply for a permit which might have pertained to a 175,000
B/D expansion until September 1983.

r a 9/26/83 Memo from KII employee T.W. Segar to KII
President Bernard Paulson, stating, “1. Koch presently has a
refinery capacity of 137,000 B/D crude oil and is operating at
or near maximum. 2. Expansion plans are to add a third crude
unit of 70,000 B/D to raise design capacity to 207,000 B/D.”
This memo indicates KII may have abandoned all of the op-
tions for expansion to 175,000 B/D studied by Litwin, opting
instead for a more aggressive expansion plan.  Thus, this
document constitutes evidence of KII’s tentative approach, as
of June, 1983, to a possible 175,000 B/D expansion, some-
thing less than “making plans.”

r a 10/13/83 Memo Sheet from First National Bank of
Chicago’s Annual Review of Koch, which states, “Koch is
considering expanding the [Pine Bend] refinery to 175,000
BPD and ‘exporting’ the additional product into Chicago, Des
Moines, and Kansas City areas to take advantage of the mar-
kets formerly served by refineries which have closed.”  This
reference to the 175,000 B/D is inconsistent with the prior
document (the 9/26/83 memo), but perhaps First Chicago was
relying on older information.  More significantly, KII appar-
ently was telling First Chicago in October 1983 that it was
merely “considering” this expansion possibility.

r on 11/16/83, KII publicly announced its plan of adding
a third crude unit to expand to 207,000 B/D. Again, this
commitment to a more aggressive expansion indicates KII
had abandoned the two options which Litwin investigated that
would have increased Pine Bend’s crude production to a mere
175,000 B/D.

r 12/8-9/83 KII Board of Directors Meeting Supplemen-
tal Information:

At the August 1983 Board Meeting, a combined proj-
ect to expand Pine Bend Crude capacity to 175 MB/D
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and construct two 10 MB/D hydrotreaters using equip-
ment purchased from Sohio was presented.  Several sig-
nificant changes have occurred since August and the
current status of the project is discussed below.

. . . .

Modifications to the [No.] 2 crude unit during the
September turnaround has increased crude capacity to
155 MB/D....  Although a crude expansion still appears
to be economically attractive, additional analysis is re-
quired due to the reduced Canadian crude availability
and expanded base capacity.

In November, permit application was made to the
Minnesota agencies for construction of a 70 MB/D grass
roots crude unit in order to expedite permitting, which
normally requires approximately one year to complete.
Currently, two cases are being evaluated:  (1) Expand
the [No.] 1 crude unit from 40 MB/D to 70 MB/D and
(2) Construct a new 70 MB/D crude unit and shut down
the [No. 1] crude unit.  The permit application would be
adequate for either alternative.

.  .  .  .  .

Major efforts currently are directed toward attaining
the permits necessary to expand the crude unit.  Analysis
is progressing on the two alternate cases under various
crude availability and product marketing scenarios.

This discussion apparently revives consideration of the
Litwin options, or perhaps these options never were aban-
doned, despite the implications of earlier documents.  As of
December 1983, however, the 175,000 B/D expansion option
was still mired in the “analysis” stage and KII simply was
continuing to explore this possibility.

r 2/21/84, Fourth Quarter Report from Bernard Paulson:
“We have applied for permits to increase our permitted ca-
pacity to crude to 200,000 B/D and expect it to take over a
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year to secure the permit.  We would plan to be running to
170,000 B/D in 1986.”  At this stage, some eight months fol-
lowing execution of the SPA, KII was indeed making plans
for an interim expansion at least approaching 175,000 B/D
with an ultimate expansion to approximately 200,000 B/D.

r 3/6/84 KII Inter-company notes, stating, “Bernie Paul-
son in charge of Refineries stated that in 1983 the Pine Bend
Refinery had a capability of handling 138,000 barrels of crude
oil and in 1984 that would increase to 152,000 barrels per day
with the goal of being 170,000.”  Again, it seems that now
KII had made a more definite commitment to the nearly
175,000 B/D expansion.  These references to 170,000 B/D,
however, do cast doubt on KII’s pre-SPA level of commit-
ment to the 175,000 B/D expansion possibility.

r 5/7/84, First National Bank of Chicago’s Annual Re-
view of KII:  “Also under consideration are the replacement
of the No. 1 crude unit for efficiency and the expansion and
revamping of the fluid unit.”  Contrary to the prior two docu-
ments, this review indicates that as late as May of 1984 KII
was still only “considering” this expansion.

r In Bernard Paulson’s deposition testimony, he stated,

“We did have Litwin review the possibility of ex-
panding the No. 1 crude unit....  It was a rather short cur-
sory look at it, this is January 26, I assume the latter part
of ‘82.  I don’t think they spent a lot of time at it....
[W]e did not do it and rejected it I think because it was
too much money, you know, it was not effective.”
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APPENDIX B

2 F.Supp.2d 1385

United States District Court,
D. Kansas.

William I. KOCH, et al., Plaintiffs,

v.
KOCH INDUSTRIES, INC., et al., Defendants.

No. 85-1636-SAC.

March 20, 1998.

Clifford L. Malone, Adams, Jones, Robinson & Malone,
Wichita,  Thomas E. Wright, Wright, Henson, Somers, Sebe-
lius, Clark & Baker, LLP, Topeka, Harry L. Najim, Najim
Law Offices, Wichita, John T. Hickey, Jr., Alex Dimitrief,
Kirkland & Ellis, Chicago, IL, Ellen A. Cirangle, Bartlit,
Beck, Herman, Palenchar & Scott, Denver, CO, Gregory S.C.
Huffman, L. James Berglund, II, Thompson & Knight, Dallas,
TX, Russell E. Brooks, Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy,
New York, NY, Stephen M. Joseph, Redmond & Nazar,
L.L.P., Wichita, Michael Paul Kirschner, Lee & Kirschner,
P.L.L.C., Oklahoma City, OK, for William I Koch, Oxbow
Energy Inc, L.B. Simmons Energy Inc. dba Rocket Oil Com-
pany, United States Trust Company of New York, as Trustee,
Spring Creek Art Foundation Inc, Gay A. Roane, Ann Al-
spaugh, Marjorie Simmons Gray, as Trustee, Northern Trust
Company, as Trustee, Marjorie L. Simmons, as Trustee,
Louis Howard Andres Cox, Paul Anthony Andres Cox, Holly
A. Andres Cox Farabee, Frederick R. Koch, Nationsbank N
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A, co-trustee of the Louis Howard Andres Cox Trusts B & D,
plaintiffs.

James M. Armstrong, Robert L. Howard, Timothy B.
Mustaine, Foulston & Siefkin L.L.P., Donald L. Cordes,
Koch Industries, Inc., Wichita, for Koch Industries Inc.,
Charles G. Koch, Sterling V. Varner, David H. Koch, Donald
L. Cordes, Thomas M. Carey, defendants.

Michael W. Merriam, Gehrt & Roberts, Chartered, Daniel
R. Lykins, Bryan, Lykins & Hejtmanek, P.A., Topeka, for
Kansas Press Association, Kansas Association of Broadcast-
ers, Wichita Eagle-Beacon, Topeka Capital-Journal,
WIBW-TV, Kansas City Star Company, the Wichita Business
Journal, Harris Enterprises, Inc., Koch Crime Comm, mov-
ants.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

CROW, Senior District Judge.

The case comes before the court on a number of pretrial
filings.  The plaintiffs have filed the following motions in
limine:  Number 1 – Post 1985 Lawsuits (Dk.663); Number 2
– Plaintiffs’ Consultations with Health Professionals
(Dk.664); Number 3 – Plaintiffs’ Lifestyles (Dk.664); Num-
ber 4 – Plaintiffs’ “Reneging” on other Business Deals
(Dk.664); Number 5 – Plaintiffs’ Post Filing Investigations of
Defendants (Dk.664); Number 6 – Pretrial Judicial Commen-
tary (Dk.665); Number 7 – Withdrawal or Dismissal of
Claims (Dk.666); and Number 8 – Lawyers and Experts
(Dk.667).  The defendants have filed the following motions in
limine:  Number 1 – Exclude Allegations of Document De-
struction (Dk.668); Number 2 – Exclude Improper Testimony
on Accounting Issues (Dk.669); Number 3 – Exclude Testi-
mony of Kenneth McGraw on Changed Method of Valuation
and Assignment of Value to Premium for Control (Dk.670);
and Number 4 – Exclude Testimony of John O’Brien on
Value of Pine Bend Refinery (Dk.671).  After duly consider-
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ing the memoranda and all relevant law, the court rules as
follows.
GENERAL RULES GOVERNING MOTIONS IN LIMINE

The motion in limine is a creature of neither the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure nor the Federal Rules of Evidence.
Deghand v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 980 F. Supp. 1176, 1179
(D.Kan.1997).  Its purpose is “‘to aid the trial process by ena-
bling the Court to rule in advance of trial on the relevance of
certain forecasted evidence, as to issues that are definitely set
for trial, without lengthy argument at, or interruption of, the
trial.’”  Palmieri v. Defaria, 88 F.3d 136, 141 (2nd Cir.1996)
(quoting Banque Hypothecaire Du Canton De Geneve v.
Union Mines, Inc., 652 F.  Supp. 1400, 1401 (D.Md.1987)).
Besides saving trial time, pretrial rulings often may save the
parties time, effort and cost in preparing and presenting their
cases.  Pivot Point Intern., Inc. v. Charlene Products, Inc.,
932 F. Supp. 220, 222 (N.D.Ill.1996).  On the other hand, a
court is almost always better situated during the actual trial to
assess the value and utility of evidence.  For this reason, some
courts defer making in limine rulings unless the “evidence is
clearly inadmissible on all potential grounds.”  Hawthorne
Partners v. AT & T Technologies, Inc., 831 F. Supp. 1398,
1400 (N.D.Ill.1993) (“Unless evidence meets this high stan-
dard, evidentiary rulings should be deferred until trial so that
questions of foundation, relevancy and potential prejudice
may be resolved in proper context.”).

Having a deep appreciation for the potential savings from
in limine rulings, this court does not take the strict approach
followed by some courts.  Still, the court believes the better
practice is to wait until trial to rule on objections when admis-
sibility substantially depends upon what facts may be deve l-
oped there.  See Sperberg v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co.,
519 F.2d 708, 712 (6th Cir.), cert. denied, 423 U.S. 987, 96
S.Ct. 395, 46 L.Ed.2d 303 (1975); Hunter v. Blair, 120
F.R.D. 667 (S.D.Ohio 1987).  This is particularly the case
when a ruling in limine would have little impact on the par-
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ties’ evidentiary burdens or preparation for trial.  Cipollone v.
Liggett Group, Inc., 644 F.Supp. 283, 286 (D.N.J.1986).  The
movant has the burden of demonstrating that the evidence is
inadmissible on any relevant ground.  Plair v. E.J. Brach &
Sons, Inc., 864 F. Supp. 67, 69 (N.D.Ill.1994).  The court may
deny a motion in limine when it “lacks the necessary speci-
ficity with respect to the evidence to be excluded.”  National
Union v. L.E. Myers Co. Group, 937 F. Supp. 276, 287
(S.D.N.Y.1996).

At trial, the court may alter its limine ruling based on de-
velopments at trial or on its sound judicial discretion.  Luce v.
United States, 469 U.S. 38, 41, 105 S. Ct. 460, 83 L. Ed.2d
443 (1984).  “Denial of a motion in limine does not necessar-
ily mean that all evidence contemplated by the motion will be
admitted at trial.”  Hawthorne Partners v. AT & T Technolo-
gies, Inc., 831 F.Supp. at 1401.  Denial only means that the
court cannot decide admissibility outside the context of trial.
Plair v. E.J. Brach & Sons, Inc., 864 F. Supp. at 69.  A ruling
in limine does not “relieve a party from the responsibility of
making objections, raising motions to strike or making formal
offers of proof during the course of trial.”  Thweatt v. Ontko,
814 F.2d 1466, 1470 (10th Cir.1987) (internal quotation
omitted).

PLAINTIFFS’ MOTIONS IN LIMINE

By their motions, the plaintiffs seek an order in limine that
would exclude all references and evidence concerning eight
separate areas.  Based on the memoranda filed in response
and reply, the court believes the parties agree that a limine
order should issue on three of those areas.  Thus, the court
orders that all parties and counsel are precluding from pre-
senting evidence or referring to the following:

1) The parties’ personal lives or lifestyles, including
their marital or other personal relationships, recreational
interests, hobbies, passions, political or religious beliefs
or unrelated financial endeavors;
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2) The comments, findings, or rulings made by this
court or any other court concerning the plaintiffs, the de-
fendants or any of the claims in this case or any other
litigation involving these parties;  and

3) The plaintiffs’ counsel or experts who have with-
drawn or been replaced during this litigation, except for
showing witness bias through evidence of what prior
counsel may have instructed and paid expert witnesses.

 The parties do not agree on the other five areas and leave
them to the court for decision.  Before turning to these areas,
the court will summarize that law common to its rulings.

“Relevant evidence” is that evidence “having any ten-
dency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence
to the determination of the action more probable or less prob-
able than it would be without the evidence.”  Fed.R.Evid.
401.  “Relevancy is not an inherent characteristic of any item
of evidence but exists only as a relation between an item of
evidence and a matter properly provable in the case.”
Fed.R.Evid. 401 adv. comm. note.  “All relevant evidence is
admissible except” when exclusion is called for by the rules,
by the statutes, or by constitutional considerations.
Fed.R.Evid. 402.  For example, the court may exclude rele-
vant evidence when “its probative value is substantially out-
weighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the
issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue
delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative
evidence.”  Fed.R.Evid. 403.

Because one side or the other will almost always consider
a piece of evidence to be prejudicial, courts generally believe
the jury is best able to determine the truth when given access
to all the relevant admissible evidence.  S.E.C. v. Peters, 978
F.2d 1162, 1171 (10th Cir.1992). Consequently, Rule 403 sets
a standard for exclusion that is “somewhat exacting.”  C.A.
Associates v. Dow Chemical Co., 918 F.2d 1485, 1489 (10th
Cir.1990).  Rule 403 considerations impacted by the evidence
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must “substantially outweigh” its probative value.  The Tenth
Circuit “on numerous occasions” has said that “‘exclusion of
relevant evidence under Rule 403 is an extraordinary remedy
to be used sparingly.’”  Wheeler v. John Deere Co., 862 F.2d
1404, 1410 (10th Cir.1988) (citations omitted);  see Joseph v.
Terminix Intern. Co., 17 F.3d 1282, 1284 (10th Cir.1994).
Balancing the probative value of and need for evidence
against the competing considerations of Rule 403 is a task for
which the trial judge by his position and familiarity with the
case is particularly well suited.  McAlester v. United Air
Lines, Inc., 851 F.2d 1249, 1257 (10th Cir.1988).  In weigh-
ing the factors under Rule 403, the court should generally
“‘give the evidence its maximum reasonable probative force
and its minimum reasonable prejudicial value.’  1 J. Wein-
stein & M. Burger, Weinstein’s Evidence ¶ 403[03], at
403-25 to 403-26 (1982).”  K-B Trucking Co. v. Riss Intern.
Corp., 763 F.2d 1148, 1155 n. 9 (10th Cir.1985).  Finally, a
403 inquiry focuses on whether the evidence results in “unfair
prejudice,” that is, does the evidence have “an undue ten-
dency to suggest decision on an improper basis, commonly,
though not necessarily, an emotional one.”  Fed.R.Evid. 403
adv. comm. note.  See Espeaignnette v. Gene Tierney Co.,
Inc., 43 F.3d 1, 7 (1st Cir.1994) (Undoubtedly, “all evidence
is meant to be prejudicial;  elsewise, the proponent would be
unlikely to offer it.”).

“Although not specifically mentioned in the Rules, proof
of bias,” that is, any evidence of a relationship, circumstance
or motivation “ ‘which might lead a witness to slant, uncon-
sciously or otherwise, his testimony’ “ is “ ‘almost always
relevant.’”  United States v. Spencer, 25 F.3d 1105, 1109
(D.C.Cir.1994) (quoting United States v. Abel, 469 U.S. 45,
52, 105 S. Ct. 465, 83 L. Ed.2d 450 (1984)).  “A successful
showing of bias on the part of a witness would have a ten-
dency to make the facts to which he testified less probable in
the eyes of the jury than it would be without such testimony.”
United States v. Abel, 469 U.S. at 51, 105 S. Ct. 465.  Courts
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generally are “liberal” in admitting evidence of bias because a
jury “must be sufficiently informed of the underlying rela-
tionships, circumstances, and influences operating on the wit-
ness to determine whether a modification of testimony rea-
sonably could be expected as a probable human reaction.”  4
Jack Weinstein & Margaret Berger, Weinstein’s Federal Evi-
dence § 607.04[1] (2d ed.1997).  “Proof of a witness’s moti-
vation or potential bias is critical when the witness is a party
and key witness to the alleged events.”  Cf. Henry v.
Speckard, 22 F.3d 1209, 1215 (2nd Cir.), cert. denied, 513
U.S. 1029, 115 S. Ct. 606, 130 L. Ed.2d 517 (1994).  “[T]he
range of evidence that may be elicited for the purpose of es-
tablishing bias of a witness is quite broad.”  4 Jack Weinstein
& Margaret Berger, Weinstein’s Federal Evidence §
607.04[3] [b] (2d ed.1997).

Post 1985 Lawsuits

The plaintiffs ask the court to “prohibit any references at
trial and exclude any evidence offered by defendants con-
cerning other lawsuits involving the plaintiffs that were initi-
ated after June 7, 1985.”  (Dk.663, p. 1).  In their motion, the
plaintiffs list fifteen other lawsuits that involve one or more of
the plaintiffs or defendants and that were filed after 1985.
The plaintiffs also refer to the defendants’ accusation that
William Koch was “instrumental” in providing information
that led to investigations by a United States Senate and grand
jury into Koch Industries, Inc. (“KII”) on the issue of
“oil-stealing.”  (Dk.663, p. 3).  The plaintiffs argue that the
defendants have already used in the summary judgment pro-
ceedings and intend to use at trial these other lawsuits to por-
tray the plaintiffs, in particular William Koch, “as litigious
and as ‘sponsoring’ ‘unsuccessful’ litigation.” (Dk.663, p. 3).

The plaintiffs argue the other lawsuits are unrelated to the
merits of the instant case and, thus, are not relevant under
Fed.R.Evid. 402.  Because these lawsuits were subsequent to
the instant case, they do not show any relationships or states
of mind that would be relevant here.  To the extent that the
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other lawsuits may reveal motives behind their filing of them,
such motives cannot be linked to this lawsuit and, more im-
portantly, the plaintiffs’ motives for bringing this lawsuit are
not relevant to its merit.  If the defendants’ intend to use this
evidence to show the plaintiffs’ proclivity to litigate, the
plaintiffs argue the same would be inadmissible under Rules
403 and 404.  A “plaintiff’s ‘litigiousness may have some
slight probative value ... that value is outweighed by the sub-
stantial danger of jury bias against the chronic litigant’ “ and
is a character trait subject to Rule 404(b) concerns.  Outley v.
City of New York, 837 F.2d 587, 592 (2nd Cir.1988) (quoting
Raysor v. Port Authority, 768 F.2d 34, 40 (2nd Cir.1985),
cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1027, 106 S. Ct. 1227, 89 L. Ed.2d 337
(1986)).  The plaintiffs emphasize that “opening up this area
thus invites detailed inquiries, denials, and explanations,
likely to lead to multifariousness and a confusion of issues.”
Outley, 837 F.2d at 595.

The defendants say they agree with an order in limine pre-
cluding all parties from making any reference to the following
eight cases:

In re Ann A. Linn, filed February 3, 1988, in the
United States Bankruptcy Court for the Western District
of Oklahoma, Case No. 88-00711-TS.

In re James P. Linn, Debtor, filed February 3, 1988,
in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Western
District of Oklahoma, Case No. 88-00712-TS.

International Oil Resources, Inc. v. Michael P.
Aquilina, et al./Michael P. Aquilina v. William I. Koch,
et al., filed March 3, 1988, in the United States District
Court for the Central District of California, Case No.
CV 88-01168 PAR (GXKx).

Ann A. Linn v. James P. Linn, decree of divorce filed
January 5, 1989, in the District Court of Oklahoma
County, Oklahoma, Case No. FD-88-8451.
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United States of America, ex rel. The Precision Com-
pany v. Koch Industries, Inc., et al., (“Precision I”),
filed May 25, 1989, in the United States District Court
for the Northern District of Oklahoma, Civil Action No.
89-C-437-C.

United States of America, ex rel. The Precision Com-
pany v. Koch Industries, Inc., et al., (“Precision II”),
filed September 30, 1991, in the United States District
Court for the Northern District of Oklahoma, Civil Ac-
tion No. 91-C- 763-B.

Louis Howard Andres Cox v. William I. Koch, et al.,
filed November 21, 1991, in the United States District
Court for the Western District of Oklahoma, Case No.
CIV-91-1921-A.

Marjorie Simmons Gray, et al. v. Louis Howard An-
dres Cox, filed November 21, 1994, in Probate Court,
Harris County, Texas Case No. 271283.

Thus, the court grants the plaintiffs’ motion in part and
orders all parties not to refer to the above eight cases.

The defendants argue that they intend to refer to the fo l-
lowing seven lawsuits, evidence of which they believe is rele-
vant:

Koch Industries, Inc. v. William I. Koch, et al., filed
May 4, 1987, in the United States District Court for the
District of Kansas, Civil Action No. 87- 1249-C.

William I. Koch v. Charles G. Koch, et al., filed
August 14, 1987, in the Eighteenth Judicial District for
Sedgwick County, Case No. 87-C-3006.

Oxbow Energy, Inc. et al. v. Koch Industries, Inc., et
al., filed August 26, 1987, in the United States District
Court for the District of Kansas, Civil Action No.
87-2436-S.

William I. Koch and Frederick R. Koch v. Charles G.
Koch, et al., filed May 19, 1988, in the Eighteenth Jud i-
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cial District Court for Sedgwick County, Case No.
88-C-1782.

Charles G. Koch, et al. v. William I. Koch, filed May
23, 1988, in the United States District Court for the Dis-
trict of Kansas, Civil Action No. 88-1320-K.

William I. Koch v. United States, filed August 3,
1988, in the United States Claims Court, Docket No.
466-88T.

In the Matter of the Estate of Mary R. Koch, De-
ceased, filed December 20, 1990, in the Eighteenth Jud i-
cial District Court, Sedgwick County, Kansas, Probate
Department, Case No. 90-P-1491.

The defendants believe evidence of these lawsuits is ad-
missible to demonstrate the bias of William Koch and thereby
impeach his testimony and also admissible to prove that Wil-
liam Koch did not rely on the defendants, in particular Char-
les and David Koch, for disclosure of all facts material in his
decision to sell the stock.  The defendants argue that William
Koch’s animosity for his brothers, Charles and David, is so
intense that he has an ongoing vendetta against them and KII.
The defendants insist this animosity is revealed in part by
William Koch’s pattern of suing his brothers.

Instead of the settlement that resulted in the 1983 Stock
Purchase Agreement  (“SPA”), William Koch wanted to con-
tinue with the litigation.  Besides filing the instant case, Wil-
liam Koch pursued other expensive litigation against his
brothers.  He sued over the family charitable foundation and
its distribution of funds to beneficiaries, he named his mother
as a co-defendant in one suit involving the foundation, and he
even challenged his mother’s will as it conditioned his in-
heritance upon him terminating the pending family litigation.
Charles and David Koch also sued William for specific per-
formance when William allegedly reneged on his promise to
his brothers to have certain property appraised and exchanged
by agreement.  The defendants assert that William Koch’s
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financial interest in these other lawsuits is so modest as to re-
veal that William is driven by his animosity to sue his broth-
ers.

The defendants point out that William Koch is not only
the lead plaintiff, but he will likely be the fact witness most
critical to the plaintiffs’ success.  In addition, William Koch
assumed a leadership role with respect to the other selling
shareholders and possessed more technical knowledge of the
facts and issues by reason of his education, training and expe-
rience.  The defendants anticipate that the plaintiffs will at-
tempt to paint their litigation as one of strictly business and
not personal matters. The defendants want to use this other
litigation to show that the plaintiffs have pursued litigation
against them when business could not have been the motive.
Finally, the defendants maintain this evidence shows that
William Koch has “harbored longstanding mistrust toward
defendants” which makes it less probable that he relied on
their disclosures in deciding to sell.  (Dk.689, p. 8).

In reply, the plaintiffs ask the court to “preclude defen-
dants from making any allegations or introducing any evi-
dence suggesting that Bill Koch is engaged in an ‘ongoing
vendetta’ or has an ‘obsessive hatred’ of Charles and David
Koch.” (Dk.704, p. 3).  The plaintiffs insist such evidence is
manifestly prejudicial and should be excluded under Rule
403.  The plaintiffs dispute any effort to characterize this liti-
gation as the product of family strife as opposed to the defen-
dants’ own fraudulent conduct.  The plaintiffs indicate that
the family relationships “are at least as complicated in their
own right” as the alleged claims for trial.  (Dk.704, p. 5).  The
plaintiffs suggest that “[l]iterally weeks of trial could be de-
voted” to these family issues and that this would be a serious
distraction to the jury.  (Dk.704, p. 5).

Ruling

After supervising this case for over a decade, the court
believes it has gained some knowledge and insight into what
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could be called some of the more important aspects of this
litigation.  For example, the court understands that William
Koch’s animosity for Charles and David, the intensity of
those feelings, and the actions that reveal those feelings are
central to the defendants’ case in several regards.  First, the
defendants believe these feelings serve as explanatory back-
ground to most, if not all, of the disputes and conflicts result-
ing in the filing of the first Koch case, the settlement of that
case, and the filing of the case now going to trial. Second,
these feelings are plainly relevant in determining whether
William Koch actually trusted and relied upon the defendants
to make full and complete disclosures.  Third, these feelings
directly bear on William Koch’s credibility as a fact witness
to the plaintiffs’ knowledge and to the defendants’ represen-
tations and omissions.  The court will not eviscerate the de-
fendants’ case by precluding them from using relevant evi-
dence to prove these critical points.

It seems undeniable to the court that the issues of this case
are inextricably tied to the parties’ familial relations.  They
are the backdrop that explain so many features of this com-
plex litigation, beginning with why the parties were share-
holders in KII.  Enmeshed in their business dealings and this
litigation is the state of the parties’ familial relations.  Such
relations irrefutably trigger emotions that can and may affect
the judgment of those involved.  For that simple reason, a
party cannot simply label the situation as a business dispute
and make himself or itself immune from evidence concerning
possible emotional motives.  The court fully appreciates that
emotional responses are highly personal, often depend on
many circumstances, and may change frequently.  Even so,
jurors in almost every case are asked to rely on their own ex-
periences and common sense in discerning what are the wit-
nesses’ and parties’ likely emotions and motives and what
would one reasonably expect from persons acting on those
emotions or motives.  Evidence on such matters is almost al-
ways relevant, and this case is no exception but a good exam-
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ple of when such evidence may be relevant.  The court is
simply convinced that the trial of this case cannot be divorced
from the familial relations, problems, conflicts and disputes
without seriously misleading the jury.

The plaintiffs’ concerns that the evidence of these other
lawsuits will be used to paint the plaintiff as a “litigious char-
acter” who files lawsuits devoid of merit are overstated and
maybe even misplaced.  The court does not understand the
defendants as intending to use this evidence for this objec-
tionable reason.  Upon a timely objection, the court would cut
off any effort to use this evidence only for that reason. 1  Be-
sides controlling the extent of inquiry, the court would con-
sider giving a limiting instruction to minimize the potential
for unfair prejudice and/or delay from this evidence.  See
S.E.C. v. Peters, 978 F.2d at 1172-73.

That these lawsuits were filed after 1985 does not signifi-
cantly diminish their probative value in showing William
Koch’s bias at trial and his attitude towards his brothers at the
time of the SPA.  William Koch’s willingness to sue the Koch
Foundation and even his mother over another dispute with his
brothers has probative value in revealing the degree or inten-
sity of his alleged animosity towards his brothers.  The jury is
entitled to hear evidence and decide the extent of bias.  Heath
                                                
1 At this time, the court does not consider the defendants’ reference and
use of these lawsuits in proving bias and reliance as necessarily opening
the door to the plaintiffs’ use of the Precision qui tam litigation to show
that William Koch brings meritorious suits against his brothers.  The de-
fendants argue the principal evidentiary value of these other lawsuits is to
reveal and substantiate William Koch’s animosity for his brothers, the
intensity of William Koch’s feelings, and the conduct probably resulting
from those feelings.  To avoid lengthy delay, the court would hope that the
defendants can offer this evidence for these specific grounds without
delving into the details, actual merit or judicial outcome of those lawsuits.
For the same reason, the court would hope that the plaintiffs can refute the
specific grounds for which this evidence is offered without inserting the
details, actual merit or judicial outcome of those lawsuits or any other
lawsuits.
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v. Cast, 813 F.2d 254, 259 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 484 U.S.
849, 108 S. Ct. 147, 98 L. Ed.2d 103 (1987).  The court de-
nies the request for an order in limine covering these other
lawsuits or evidence suggesting that William Koch is engaged
in an “ongoing vendetta” against his brothers, Charles and
David Koch.

Plaintiffs’ Consultations with Health Professionals

Citing United States v. Jackson, 863 F.Supp. 1462, 1465
(D.Kan.1994), aff’d, 76 F.3d 1145 (10th Cir.1996), the plain-
tiffs argue that evidence of the plaintiffs’ consultations for
psychological or psychiatric purposes is irrelevant to the is-
sues here and is subject to exclusion as unfairly prejudicial
under Rule 403.  The defendants say they “intend to show that
William Koch’s lifelong history of feelings of inferiority and
troubled relations with his brothers ... were the focus of his
psychiatric treatment and that part of his psychotherapy was
to ‘climb out of his depression over the backs of his family.’”
(Dk.689, p. 11).  The defendants argue the same explains
William Koch’s multiple lawsuits and his animosity toward
Charles Koch.

Ruling

The defendants’ intended use of this evidence is not to
attack William Koch’s ability to perceive the events at issue,
to recall clearly the events, or to testify accurately and truth-
fully about them.  The defendants want to introduce evidence
of William Koch’s “psychiatric treatment” and “psychother-
apy” as proof of his troubled feelings toward his brother
Charles and as an explanation for this litigation being part of
his therapy.  This evidence plainly has probative value to the
extent that it tends to show William Koch’s hatred and dis-
trust of Charles Koch and William Koch’s efforts or actions
as a result of these feelings.  Because neither side discloses
the specifics of this evidence and, in particular, the manner in
which it would be introduced, the court is not in a position to
assess and balance the relevant considerations under Rule
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403.  The court will not exclude the evidence at this time
simply because such evidence could be embarrassing and per-
sonally intrusive.  Having failed to carry their burden, the
plaintiffs are denied an order in limine excluding evidence
that the focus of the plaintiff William Koch’s “psychiatric
treatment” and “psychotherapy” was his troubled relations
with his brothers.

Plaintiffs’ “Reneging” on Other Business Deals

This evidence concerns William Koch’s refusal to pay
Goldman Sachs the full fee under the contract and refusal to
pay Jim Linn a promised fee for his work in settling Koch I.
The plaintiffs argue this evidence is without probative value
to this case or to the credibility of the plaintiffs and should be
excluded under Rule 403 because of “the very profound dan-
ger of unfair prejudice implicit in raising accusations that the
plaintiffs have ‘reneged’ on various agreements.”  (Dk.664, p.
5).  The defendants argue the evidence is relevant in showing
William Koch’s animosity toward his brothers and “attitude
toward those whom he viewed as instrumental in pushing the
settlement at $200 per share.”  (Dk.689, p. 12).

Ruling

The court sees minimal relevance in whether William
Koch actually paid the full contract fee to Goldman Sachs or
the promised settlement fee to Jim Linn. The court anticipates
there will be a substantial amount of other evidence indicating
that William Koch was not pleased with the $200 price at the
time of the SPA.  There does appear some potential for unfair
prejudice if the jury would infer from this evidence that Wil-
liam Koch is someone who breaches agreements.  The court
sustains the plaintiffs’ motion in limine to exclude this evi-
dence.

Plaintiffs’ Post Filing Investigations of Defendants

This evidence concerns William Koch hiring a private in-
vestigator in 1992 to search the trash of Charles Koch, Don-
ald Cordes, Robert Howard or James Armstrong, and the de-
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fendants’ law firm.  On the defendants’ application, the court
entered a temporary restraining order (“TRO”) on March 25,
1992, that in part restrained the plaintiffs and their agents or
investigators from “invading or interfering with the privacy
and confidentiality interests of the defendants, their counsel,
and their immediate families, either through efforts to obtain
the trash from the personal residences or the offices” of the
defendants or their counsel.  (Dk.450, p. 2).  The plaintiff
William I. Koch filed a memorandum in opposition to the
continuation of the TRO and attached his declaration in which
he said these investigatory efforts were taken in an effort to
learn how the defendants were gaining access to documents
within his corporation.  (Dk.452).  William Koch further af-
firmed that he had terminated all such investigation efforts.
“[B]ased upon statements of counsel made in” court, the de-
fendants consented to the court ordering the dissolving the
TRO on March 31, 1992.  (Dk.456).  The plaintiffs argue this
evidence is irrelevant to the issues, is not probative of Wil-
liam Koch’s credibility, and is unfairly prejudicial. The de-
fendants argue that William Koch’s “bizarre” and self-  di-
rected efforts at investigating the defendants and their counsel
is “evidence of William Koch’s obsessive vendetta against his
brothers and those aligned with them.”

Ruling

This evidence arguably has some probative value in that
gives the jury some insight into the intensity of the feelings
involved and the actions possibly taken as a result of them.
The court’s principal reservation with this evidence is that it
logically opens the door for an inquiry into all private investi-
gatory activities involved in this case.  For the plaintiffs to
refute this evidence, William Koch presumably will testify
about his own concerns of investigation, surveillance and
covert document collection being directed at him and his as-
sociates.  A number of serious issues present themselves once
we start down that collateral path.  The court believes this
evidence is not so important to the defendants’ case as to risk
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the issues and delay likely to arise with this evidence.
Frankly, the jury will have enough opportunities to be con-
fused over the facts and issues in this case without inserting a
detective mystery novella.  The court grants the plaintiffs’
motion in limine and orders all parties and counsel to not pre-
sent evidence nor refer to any investigations or surveillance of
the personal residences and offices of the parties, their coun-
sel and agents.

Withdrawal or Dismissal of Claims

The plaintiffs seek an order prohibiting any references at
trial and excluding any evidence regarding the plaintiffs’
withdrawal of claims or the court’s dismissal of claims.  The
plaintiffs argue such evidence or remarks are not relevant to
the claims and issues remaining for trial.  If the defendants
raise this matter, the plaintiffs insist they are entitled to an
opportunity to explain the former claims in order to rebut the
implication that these claims were not made in good faith.
The defendants agree that no evidence should be admitted by
either side concerning the dismissal or withdrawal of any
claim or defense in this case.  The defendants, however, do
intend to introduce evidence that William began investigating
KII shortly after the SPA, that William Koch sent a pre-suit
demand letter in 1985, and that the claims going to trial were
not part of the case when it was filed.  The plaintiffs reply that
the pre-suit demand letter and the later addition of these
claims is not relevant.

Ruling

The court grants the plaintiffs’ motion insofar as both
sides agree that no evidence should be admitted by either side
concerning the dismissal or withdrawal of any claim or de-
fense in this case.  The court does not consider the following
evidence to have been covered by the plaintiffs’ original mo-
tion in limine:  that William began investigating KII shortly
after the SPA, that William Koch sent a pre-suit demand letter
in 1985, and that the claims going to trial were not part of the
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case when it was filed to be covered by the plaintiffs’ original
motion.  The court alternatively denies the plaintiffs’ request
to exclude this other evidence described by the defendants.
The court believes the fact that these claims were omitted
from the plaintiffs’ pre-suit demand letter and original com-
plaint could be relevant to the statute of limitations defense
asserted by some of the defendants.

DEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS IN LIMINE

Allegations of Document Destruction

The defendants seek an order prohibiting the plaintiffs
from mentioning any alleged destruction of evidence relating
to this case or any other litigation involving the defendants,
including:  1) document destruction evidence from the Okla-
homa litigation;  2) the gap in document production concern-
ing the alleged Williams Pipeline reversal agreement;  and 3)
Peat Marwick’s destruction of its audit work papers for 1981
and 1982.  The defendants note that the court has denied the
plaintiffs’ two attempts to re-open discovery on the allegation
of document destruction.  The defendants argue the so-called
“ominous gap” in KII’s documents on the Williams Pipeline
reversal agreement is not suspicious and if presented to the
jury would be prejudicial and confusing and would unduly
prolong the trial.  Finally, the defendants note that there is no
reasonable basis for believing that Peat Marwick’s destruction
of its work papers before the plaintiffs ever pleaded their ac-
counting claims was improper or wrongful.

The plaintiffs say they do not intend to introduce any evi-
dence concerning document destruction in the Oklahoma liti-
gation.  The plaintiffs argue evidence on the other two matters
is relevant and admissible in this case.  The plaintiffs point
out that the defendants did not produce any documents from
the period between December 1982 to June 1983 that ad-
dressed the Williams Pipeline reversal negotiations or alleged
agreement.  Documents dated October of 1982 refer to nego-
tiations with Williams Pipeline including plans to “loop the
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receiving line from” Pine Bend Refinery to Williams Pipe-
line’s Rosemount station.  (Dk.691, Ex. A).  Sterling Varner’s
notes from the same time period also refer to Williams Pipe-
line laying the pipeline from Pine Bend to Rosemount.  The
next document concerning the Williams Pipeline reversal that
was produced by the defendants is an inter-company memo-
randum dated June of 1983 and addressed to W. Hanna and
others concerning the “Pine Bend Desulfurizer/Hydrocracker
Basis.”  The memorandum includes the comment that “[t]he
ability to pump gasoline south on Williams will allow pro-
duction above the current 80 MB/D economic marketing
limit.”  (Dk.691, Ex. C).  According to the plaintiffs, this is
document gap, the period between October 1982 and June
1983, shown by what the defendants produced during discov-
ery.

The plaintiffs say they have found in public files certain
relevant documents from this period of the document gap.
The plaintiffs attach copies of documents they obtained from
the Dakota County, Minnesota Department of Highways that
include correspondence and permit applications filed by Wil-
liams Pipeline dated between March of 1983 and June of
1983.  These documents discuss Williams Pipeline’s con-
struction of a pipeline between the refinery and the Rose-
mount station.  The permit application states that Williams’
work would commence on or after May 1, 1983, and would
be completed by September 1, 1983.

As for the Peat Marwick work papers, the plaintiffs say
that “if the defendants rely upon Peat Marwick’s audit certifi-
cate as some sort of blessing of their financial statements,
plaintiffs should be allowed to inform the jury that the work
papers for the audit were destroyed.”  (Dk.691, p. 6).  The
plaintiffs believe the absence of the work papers is relevant in
evaluating the weight of Peat Marwick’s audit opinion.  An
auditor relies upon representations made by the company’s
management, and an auditor’s opinion is necessarily based in
part on what management disclosed or failed to disclose to the
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auditor.  The auditor’s work papers are some evidence of
what were the company’s representations on which the aud i-
tor relied.  That Peat Marwick destroyed the papers is simply
a fact which explains the absence of the work papers which
normally would be relevant evidence in evaluating the weight
of an auditor’s opinion.

Ruling

Consistent with the parties’ agreement, the court directs
the parties to refrain from arguing or referring to the docu-
ment destruction allegations or evidence in the Oklahoma liti-
gation.  The court denies the defendants’ motion in limine
concerning the other two areas of document destruction.  The
gap in KII’s production of documents on the Williams Pipe-
line reversal may be a relevant point for argument assuming
that the plaintiffs can show a reasonable basis for inferring
that relevant documents from that time period should have
been in the defendants’ possession.  The jury is entitled to
draw inferences based on the absence of documents that one
would reasonably expect to be in a party’s possession.  Peat
Marwick’s destruction of its work papers is relevant in the
event that the defendants introduce and rely on Peat Mar-
wick’s audit opinions for 1981 and 1982.  In evaluating the
weight of those audit opinions, the jury should be told that the
opinions cannot be checked against the underlying work pa-
pers, because the latter documents were destroyed as part of
Peat Marwick’s regular six-year retention policy.  The court
would consider giving a requested limiting instruction that
addressed the defendants’ concerns over other possible ad-
verse inferences being drawn from this evidence.  Thus, the
court denies the defendants’ motion in limine except for or-
dering the parties to refrain from mentioning the document
destruction allegations and evidence in the Oklahoma litiga-
tion.
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Improper Testimony Relating to Accounting Issues

The plaintiffs have designated two witnesses to testify as
experts in accounting, K. Gary Gibbs (“Gibbs”) and Alan
May, Jr (“May”).  The defendants seek to exclude that portion
of Gibbs’ testimony which they argue is Gibbs’ interpretation
of the SPA and to exclude the entirety of May’s testimony
which they argue is without a factual foundation and is noth-
ing more than his vouching for Gibbs’ conclusions and credi-
bility.  The plaintiffs dispute the defendants’ characterizations
of Gibbs’ and May’s testimony.

In the court’s summary judgment order, the following
paragraph appears:

13.  Gibbs testified that the $3.1 million of losses on
Kerr McGee and Northwest Portland Cement shares in-
cluded in Hall’s list were “not necessarily” unusual or
infrequently occurring.  (DX-Acct 14, p. 425).  He in-
cluded them as unusual or infrequent, because they were
on Hall’s list and because their disclosure would be re-
quired by ¶ 5(d) of the SPA.  Hall’s list included $2.6
million for a dry hole in Columbia.  Gibbs testified that
he generally did not consider dry holes to be “unusual”
or “infrequently recurring” and that dry holes did not
necessarily meet those definitions.  He opined that ¶ 5(d)
of the SPA required disclosure and that disclosure would
“make the financial statements informative and useful.”
(DX-Acct 14, p. 435-36).  Gibbs also avers he included
the dry hole expenses as non-recurring because they
were on Hall’s list and Hall testified all of the listed ex-
penses were non-recurring. (PX 430, ¶ 11).

969 F.Supp. at 1561 (footnote omitted).  In his written re-
port, Gibbs similarly opines that the defendants’ failure to
disclose the amounts of losses which KII management con-
sidered to be “extraordinary losses” and asset “write downs”
is contrary to the requirements of ¶ 5(d) of the SPA.  (Dk.693,
Ex. B, pp. 26-27).
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The defendants seek to preclude Gibbs from testifying
about any violation of ¶ 5(d) of the SPA arguing that this
opinion would be outside Gibbs’ accounting expertise, that
the opinion requires Gibbs to interpret ¶ 5(d) of the SPA, and
that the opinion is based on an interpretation of the SPA that
is erroneous as a matter of law.  As far as his expertise,
Gibbs’ understanding of what a prudent investor would want
to know is limited, according to the defendants, to the context
of what an accountant would consider as material disclosures
in connection with preparing financial statements.  (Dk.669,
Ex. B, p. 241, 243). To opine that ¶ 5(d) is violated, Gibbs
must interpret the provisions of that paragraph.  In defen-
dants’ opinion, Gibbs’ interpretation of ¶ 5(d) is erroneous as
that paragraph only deals with financial statement matters oc-
curring after December 31, 1982, and these alleged account-
ing errors in 1982 did not occur after December 31, 1982.
Past accounting errors are not kind of current events, cond i-
tions, or facts that the parties intended ¶ 5(d) to cover.  The
defendants argue that the parties intended ¶ 5(c) to address
accounting issues connected to past financial statements and
intended ¶ 5(d) to cover numerous subject matters that were
not covered by the financial statements.  They also argue that
Gibbs’ interpretation of the second sentence in ¶ 5(d) renders
superfluous all other provisions in ¶ 5.

The plaintiffs say that the defendants mischaracterize
Gibbs’ testimony as a legal construction of ¶ 5(d) when it is
really being offered on the question whether the defendants’
improper accounting treatment of certain expenses “might
have materially affected” a prudent investor’s valuation of his
stock.  The plaintiffs deny that Gibbs’ written report contains
any interpretation of ¶ 5(d), but they admit that Gibbs’ opin-
ion on the defendants’ accounting omissions violating ¶ 5(d)
“reflect[s] a straight-forward application of Section 5(d)’s
plain and unambiguous language warranting that defendants
have disclosed any information that ‘might materially affect
the valuation of the stock.’ “ The plaintiffs also acknowledge



App. B23

that Gibbs’ report does discuss whether defendants’ account-
ing practices were material.  The plaintiffs refute any attempt
to limit the scope of the warranty found in the second sen-
tence of ¶ 5(d) to events occurring after December 31, 1982.
Finally, the plaintiffs complain that a motion in limine is not
the proper vehicle for asking the court to interpret ¶ 5(d) of
the SPA.

The plaintiffs’ other accounting expert is Alan May.  The
defendants seek to exclude the entirety of May’s testimony.
The defendants first argue that May should not be allowed to
give his opinion as he does not have sufficient knowledge of
KII’s financial information to apply generally accepted ac-
counting principles (“GAAP”) principles.  The defendants
label May a “phantom expert” whom the plaintiffs offer only
for the improper purpose of vouching for Gibbs’ credibility
and conclusions.  (Dk.669, p. 9).  The defendants believe
May’s testimony is “nothing more than an argument that the
jury should rely upon or draw certain conclusions from”
Gibbs’ testimony.  (Dk.669, p. 11).

The plaintiffs recognize that May did not investigate KII’s
financial records to determine whether he would categorize
the expenses as “unusual” or “infrequently occurring” and
that May simply relied on Milton Hall’s decision to include
these expenses in Hall’s list of “Extraordinary Items.”  The
plaintiffs say this is enough for May to render an expert
opinion.  The plaintiffs explain that May will testify on an-
other area, that is, whether the actual disclosure in the finan-
cial statement complies with GAAP.  The plaintiffs say that
May is competent to testify on the disclosure requirements
under GAAP, the types of disclosures required for an accurate
valuation of KII, the materiality of defendants’ omissions, the
effect that the omissions would have on a prudent investor’s
valuation of stock, and related issues.  The plaintiffs say the
focus of May’s testimony will concern how such items should
be properly treated or disclosed under GAAP once they are
determined to be “unusual” and/or “infrequently occurring.”
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In reply, the defendants highlight the following argument
found in the plaintiffs’ response brief:

Plaintiffs must show that the way in which they were
disclosed (or that they were not disclosed) in the finan-
cial statements failed to comply with the requirements of
GAAP. Similarly, defendants’ disclosures concerning
these items may have violated GAAP regardless of
whether they were technically “unusual” or “infre-
quently occurring,” as those terms are specifically de-
fined in the accounting literature.  As Mr. May ex-
plained in his deposition, GAAP requires that footnotes
to financial statements “be reasonably adequate for an
understanding of the financial statements” and that
“when there is a choice of accounting principles that can
be or are material to the financial statements, that those
principles be disclosed.”

(Dk.693, pp. 7-8) (italics added).  The defendants sound
the alarm that such testimony would exceed the scope of the
plaintiffs’ accounting claim:  “What plaintiffs are saying is
that May will redefine the accounting claim so that the jury
could find in plaintiffs’ favor even if they cannot prove their
claim that the items on Mr. Hall’s list were ‘unusual’ or ‘in-
frequently occurring’ within the GAAP definitions of those
terms.”  (Dk.702, p. 7).  The defendants argue this is clearly a
new claim and that May should not be allowed to testify on
this matter.

Ruling

It would seem that the scope of the plaintiffs’ claim for
failure to disclose non-recurring expenses is again an issue of
contention.  The court thought it had written the last words on
this subject in its summary judgment order when it wrote:

The court is satisfied that the plaintiffs’ third
amended complaint provides fair notice of an allegation
that the footnote in the financial statements fails to dis-
close the actual nature of the expenses included in the
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$43.4 million figure.  Moreover, the court believes the
allegations at ¶ 38J(7) adequately encompass a claim
that the defendants failed to disclose all non- recurring
expenses, including those expenses found only on
Markel’s list.

969 F. Supp. at 1572.  At that point, the court understood
the plaintiffs’ claim that KII failed to disclose its unusual
and/or infrequently occurring losses as being based on the
following specific allegations:  1) KII’s actual disclosure at
note 6 of the 1982 financial statement ($43.4 million “to re-
duce the carrying value of productive facilities to recoverable
cost”) does not comply with generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) because it misleads a reader by calling
this a “Depreciation, depletion and amortization” expense and
because it does not disclose the nature and details of items
included in this $43.4 million figure;  and 2) KII did not in-
clude in its disclosure all amounts of losses (items on Hall’s
and Markel’s lists) which were unusual or infrequently occur-
ring and that this was a violation of the GAAP warranty in ¶
5(c) and the materiality warranty in ¶ 5(d).  It appears from
the latest briefs that the plaintiffs consider their accounting
claim to involve more than these allegations.  In the following
discussion and ruling, the court hopefully will clarify for the
benefit of the parties its understanding of those allegations
which it believes have been properly pleaded in the pretrial
order.

The defendants have raised some serious issues with the
plaintiffs’ accounting claim and their use of accounting ex-
perts to prove those allegations.  First, Gibbs is an accountant
and not an investment adviser, securities broker or investment
banker.  As Gibbs has testified, his understanding of what a
reasonable investor would want to know is based only on an
accountant’s working knowledge.  (Dk.669, Ex. B, p. 243).
In other words, Gibbs’ understanding of material information
for a reasonable investor is only in the context of what an ac-
countant would need to know in preparing financial state-
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ments.2  From what has been submitted, the record does not
demonstrate that Gibbs’ expertise in accounting matters quali-
fies him to testify on what information outside of financial
statements might be material to a prudent investor.  As the
record now stands, Gibbs may be qualified to testify as to his
understanding of materiality for a reasonable investor as an
accountant would understand this standard in preparing finan-
cial statements.  He is not now qualified, however, to testify
generally on what information outside of financial statements
would be material to a prudent investor.

Besides this issue with Gibbs’ qualifications, the court
shares the defendants’ confusion and concern over what the
plaintiffs intend as their ¶ 5(c) and ¶ 5(d) theories for their
accounting claim.  The warranty in ¶ 5(c) plainly, if not fully,
sets out the parties’ understanding of what the defendants
were warranting as to their financial statements and the mat-
ters covered therein.  The defendants warranted that the fi-
nancial statements “fairly present the consolidated financial
condition and consolidated results of operations ... at such
dates and for such respective periods in accordance with gen-
erally accepted accounting principles.”  As for ¶ 5(d), the de-
fendants warranted in relevant part:

Since December 31, 1982, there has been no material
change in the assets, properties, business, operations, or
condition (financial or otherwise) of Buyer and its sub-
sidiaries taken as a whole.  There is no event, condition
or state of facts in existence on the date hereof which is
known to the Buyer or any of its officers and has not
been disclosed by Buyer to the Principal Sellers and is

                                                
2 In his deposition, Gibbs was asked about his experience with the subject
of what information would be material to a reasonable and prudent inves-
tor.  (Gibbs Dep. pp. 240, 244-45).  He testified that with respect to this
subject he has not written any articles, he has not spoken or served on
panels at seminars, and he has not been previously retained as an expert to
give an opinion concerning information not found in financial statements.
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not otherwise actually known by the Principal Sellers
which if fully disclosed might materially affect the
valuation of the stock of the Buyer by a prudent and
knowledgeable investor, excluding events, conditions
and states of fact which have an effect on the oil indus-
try in general.

In their response, the plaintiffs properly break down the
first two sentences of ¶ 5(d) into two warranties:  (1) that
there has been no material change since December 31, 1982;
and (2) that there is “no event, condition or state of facts”
known by the buyers and not known by the sellers which if
fully disclosed might materially affect a prudent and knowl-
edgeable investor’s valuation of the sellers’ stock.  The plain-
tiffs emphasize that their ¶ 5(d) theory on their accounting
claim is limited to the second warranty.  The plaintiffs, how-
ever, offer no further comments, arguments, or explanations
as to what they believe on how ¶ 5(c) and ¶ 5(d) warranties
function as separate theories for their accounting claim.

A review of Gibbs’ report and testimony sheds some light.
At the front of his report, Gibbs summarized his findings as
follows:

A) The financial statements of KII contain certain de-
partures from GAAP, including in some instances a lack
of adequate disclosures.  Such departures, taken to-
gether, materially depart from the requirements of
GAAP, including disclosures.  Further, certain matters
materially depart from GAAP on an individual basis.

B) There were in addition, material facts of a finan-
cial nature about KII which were known to KII man-
agement but which were not contained in the financial
statements, descriptive memoranda or elsewhere in
documents furnished to the selling shareholders, and
which, if disclosed, “might materially affect the valua-
tion of the KII stock by a prudent and knowledgeable
investor.”
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(Dk.669, Ex. A, p. 2).  In his report’s discussion of the
plaintiffs’ claim for inadequate disclosure of infrequently oc-
curring losses, Gibbs mentions ¶ 5(d) only in the following
sentence:  “Further, failure to disclose these amounts is
clearly contrary to the requirements of paragraph 5(d) of the
1983 Stock Purchase Agreement.”  (Dk.669, Ex. A, p. 27).  In
his deposition, Gibbs offers the most insight into his under-
standing and apparently that of the plaintiffs on the workings
of ¶ 5(c) and ¶ 5(d) with respect to their accounting claim:

Q. Is your testimony that ¶ 5(d) of the stock purchase
agreement is no different from GAAP?

MR. SCOTT:  Objection to form.

A. That’s not my testimony.

Q. So your testimony is that there may be matters that
are not GAAP violations in your opinion as an account-
ant but that would still fall under the ambit of ¶ 5(d) of
the stock purchase agreement, is that what you are trying
to say?

A. I would--

MR. SCOTT:  Go ahead answer.  Objection to form.

A. I would agree with the first part of your question.
Q. What part is that?

A. The part before, is that what I’m trying to say.

....

Q. How is your opinion, vis-a-vis, GAAP which is re-
flected this ¶ A. on page of one of your report different
from your opinion on ¶ 5(d) of the stock purchase
agreement, aren’t they one in the same?

A. I don’t think so.

Q. Well, how are they different?

A. Well, there could very well be things that might
materially affect the valuation of a reasonable and pru-
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dent investor but which would not, simply just not be a
part of financial statements.

Q. Focusing only on financial statements, not on in-
formation that’s not contained in financial statements,
insofar as financial statements are concerned, is it your
testimony that the requirements of GAAP and require-
ments of ¶ 5(d) of the stock purchase agreement are one
in the same?

A. That’s not my understanding.

Q. All right, how are they different.

A. Well, as I understand it, the focus of 5(d) is not
necessarily on financial statements.

Q. My question limits you to financial statements and
as to the financial statements, are the two one in the
same?

....

A. Well, again, my understanding of ¶ 5(d) is that its
focus is not on the financial statements and so I don’t
know how to understand the question, how to respond to
the question within the context of financial statements
only.

(Dk. 669, Ex. B, pp. 242, 243, 246-47;  DX-Acct 14, p.
244).

Q. Well, you make the statement on the bottom of
page 26 of your report referring to this work sheet, “it
appears none of the information on the attached analysis
regarding 108 million dollars of matters considered by
Koch Industries management to be extraordinary losses
and asset write-downs in 1982 was furnished to the
selling shareholders,” is that correct?

A. You have read that section correct, I believe, yes.

Q. But do I understand your testimony a moment ago
that you are not stating as your opinion that all 108 mil-
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lion dollars of items which is the total of those lists are
either unusual or infrequently occurring items within the
meaning of those terms in accounting literature?

A. Not necessarily, no.

Q. Are you asserting an opinion that those items
needed to be disclosed even if they were not either un-
usual or infrequently occurring?

A. Was your term needed to be disclosed, is that cor-
rect?

Q. Yes.

A. Yes.

Q. That is your opinion?
A. As I understood your question, yes.

Q. What’s the basis, if those items are not, and we’ll
go through them in some detail in a moment, but if a
particular item is neither unusual nor infrequently occur-
ring within the meaning of GAAP, what is the basis for
your opinion that it needed to be disclosed?

A. I guess I would have two responses to that.  I don’t
know that I could the cover the ground for all the bases
but the first that comes to mind with is conformance
with ¶ 5(d) with respect to disclosure, not necessarily fi-
nancial statement disclosures and the second thing that
comes to mind is disclosures necessary to make the fi-
nancial statements informative and useful.

Q. Well, I think I understand the first part of that an-
swer and not the latter part.  Are you saying that disclo-
sure would be required to make the financial statements
informative and useful, were you saying that that disclo-
sure needed to be in the financial statements?

A. If it was necessary in order to make the financial
statements informative and useful, yes.
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Q. And it’s your opinion that that would be required
even if the item did not qualify as either unusual or in-
frequently occurring?

A. In some instances, yes.

Q. Just this catch-all, if it needed to be in there to
make the financial statements informative and useful?

A. I don’t know that I would refer to it as a catch-all
but my terminology there is informative and useful.
(Dk.693, Ex. A, pp. 421-23).

It would appear from Gibbs’ testimony that the plaintiffs
do not intend to assert a ¶ 5(d) warranty violation based on no
more proof than a violation of the GAAP standards required
by the warranty in ¶ 5(c).3  The plaintiffs may or may not be
asserting a ¶ 5(d) warranty violation based on the defendants’
failure to disclose an incremental amount of information be-
yond that required by GAAP for any unusual or infrequently
occurring item.4  Instead, the plaintiffs apparently intend to
                                                
3 If the plaintiffs, however, do intend to pursue a ¶ 5(d) warranty violation
based on no more proof than a GAAP violation, the court grants the de-
fendants’ request and construes ¶ 5(d) as not incorporating the same ex-
press warranty made in ¶ 5(c).  Absent this interpretation, the warranty in
¶ 5(c) would be rendered superfluous and meaningless. Consequently,
proof of a GAAP violation will not suffice to prove a ¶ 5(d) warranty vio -
lation.
4 Gibbs did testify that there may be information which might materially
affect an investor’s valuation of stock but which is simply not required to
be part of the financial statements.  The court, however, did not come
across any testimony by Gibbs revealing an opinion that the materiality
standard of which he has knowledge would require disclosures beyond
those required by GAAP for any items which were unusual or infrequently
occurring within the meaning of GAAP.  If the plaintiffs, however, will
pursue such a theory, the plaintiffs should be prepared to demonstrate to
the court under governing Kansas contract law that the parties intended
the warranty in ¶ 5(d) to impose additional disclosure requirements on
financial matters that were also covered by GAAP. The court reserves its
ruling on this issue for a more appropriate time, and it will not permit be-
fore that ruling an expert witness to opine that ¶ 5(d) was or was not vio-
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assert a ¶ 5(d) warranty violation for those items which were
neither unusual nor infrequently occurring within the meaning
of GAAP but about which the defendants had additional in-
formation that might have materially affected a prudent and
knowledgeable investor’s valuation of the KII stock.5

If the plaintiffs intend to pursue an allegation that the de-
fendants failed to disclose information on items that are ne i-
ther unusual or infrequently occurring under GAAP, then the
court rules that such an allegation or theory is outside the

                                                                                              
lated under such a theory.  The court agrees that expert witness testimony
may be received on the meaning of technical terms used in an agreement
but that an expert opinion is otherwise inadmissible to prove the proper
interpretation of the agreement.  “‘Absent any need to clarify or define
terms of art, science, or trade, expert opinion testimony to interpret con-
tract language is inadmissible.’”  North American Specialty Ins. Co. v.
Myers, 111 F.3d 1273, 1281 (6th Cir.1997) (quoting TCP Indus., Inc.  v.
Uniroyal, Inc., 661 F.2d 542, 549 (6th Cir.1981) (citing in part Interna-
tional Paper Co. v. Standard Industries, Inc., 389 F.2d 99, 102 n. 2 (10th
Cir.1968))).  The court likewise agrees that an expert witness necessarily
interprets the SPA in opining that the failure to disclose certain informa-
tion about unusual or infrequently occurring items constitutes a violation
of the ¶ 5(d) warranty.
5 In their response brief, the plaintiffs indicate they even may be asserting
a GAAP violation for inadequate disclosures concerning items that were
not unusual or infrequently occurring under GAAP:

Plaintiffs must show that the way in which they were disclosed
(or that  they were not disclosed) in the financial statements
failed to comply with the requirements of GAAP.  Similarly, defen-
dants’ disclosures concerning these items may have violated GAAP
regardless of whether they were technically “unusual” or “infre-
quently occurring,” as those terms are specifically defined in the ac-
counting literature.  As Mr. May explained in his deposition, GAAP
requires that footnotes to financial statements “be reasonably ade-
quate for an understanding of the financial statements” and that
“when there is a choice of accounting principles that can be or are
material to the financial statements, that those principles be dis-
closed.”  (May Dep.190-91).

(Dk.693, pp. 7-8).
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plaintiffs’ accounting claim as pleaded in the pretrial order
and quoted here:

KII employed accounting methods that were designed
intentionally to understate KII’s earnings and assets in
the financial statements.  Most importantly, KII knew
that the selling shareholders and their advisors would
consider the apparent trend of KII’s earnings as a basis
for estimating the value of KII shares and KII’s ability
to finance the buy-out price.

To diminish its apparent earnings, KII therefore em-
ployed the following accounting practice which violated
GAAP and constituted breaches of both warranties in
the Stock Purchase and Sale Agreement (quoted above):
KII failed to disclose its unusual and/or infrequently oc-
curring losses.  KII categorized these losses as recurring
expenses or depreciation, thereby artificially reducing
what appeared to be KII’s ordinarily recurring income.

(Dk.676, p. 8) (emphasis added).  The only accounting
practice alleged in this claim is the defendants’ failure “to
disclose its unusual and/or infrequently occurring losses.”  In
other words, the plaintiffs specifically limit their claim to the
accounting treatment of losses that are “unusual and/or infre-
quently occurring.” The plaintiffs do not plead any claim for
the accounting treatment of losses that are not “unusual
and/or infrequently occurring.”  Nor can it be ignored that the
plaintiffs chose to define these losses with accounting par-
lance borrowed from GAAP.  Consequently, if the plaintiffs
do not prove first that the loss, to which the information ap-
plies, is “unusual and/or infrequently occurring,” as those
terms are defined and used in GAAP, then the plaintiffs may
not assert the defendants’ failure to disclose such information
as part of their accounting claim as pleaded in the pretrial or-
der.  Nor will the court permit any expert to testify on disclo-
sure requirements for losses that are not “unusual and/or in-
frequently occurring.”



App. B34

As for May’s testimony, the plaintiffs clarify that he will
not be asked to testify on the subject of what are “unusual or
infrequently occurring” losses for a business like KII, but
rather he will testify as to what GAAP requires in the treat-
ment and disclosure of losses once determined to be either
“unusual or infrequently occurring.”  Though there may be
some overlap with Gibb’s testimony, May’s testimony does
not appear at this time to be an instance of one expert vouch-
ing for another.  Because May’s exposure to the facts was
limited to Gibbs’ report and work papers, there is a danger
that his opinion may be perceived as vouching for Gibbs.  The
court expects that the plaintiffs will do as they have repre-
sented and focus May’s testimony on disclosure requirements
for unusual and/or infrequently occurring items.

McGraw’s Testimony on Changed Method of Valuation
and Assignment of Value to Premium for Control

The defendants take issue with the new report from the
plaintiffs’ expert witness on damages, Kenneth W. McGraw
of Patricof & Co (“McGraw”). The defendants argue that
McGraw uses a new methodology in his latest report that es-
sentially results in a $50 million increase in damages.  The
defendants ask the court to prevent McGraw from changing
his methodology from that used in his 1992 report.  The de-
fendants’ other objection with McGraw’s report is its theory
the plaintiffs are entitled to a premium ranging between 35 to
45% for selling a large block of stock that resolved an ongo-
ing dispute over voting control.  The defendants argue there is
no factual basis for awarding the plaintiffs a premium for
control.  The defendants ask the court to preclude McGraw
from testifying as to any amount of damages based on a pre-
mium for control.

To show that McGraw has changed his methodology, the
defendants highlight the following damage calculations found
in his 1992 report. Relying on figures extracted from other
expert reports, McGraw set out the following as “Asset Val-
ues:” “Underreported oil and gas reserve value--$59,600,000
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or $5.22 per share,” “Understated real estate values –
$66,400,000 or $5.82 per share,” and “Value of undisclosed
refinery enhancement – $316,000,000 or $27.69 per share”
for a “Total adjustment to asset value of $442,000,000 or
$38.73 per share.” (Dk.670, Ex. A, p. 3).  In the report,
McGraw discloses that he took the “asset value” for the un-
disclosed enhancement to KII’s Pine Bend refinery from the
Muse, Stancil report.  McGraw’s 1992 report then sets out
what he labeled as “Operating Results” into three categories:
“Adjustment to 1982 Net Income – $11,755,000 or $1.03 per
share,” “Undisclosed Non-recurring Expenses – $37,231,000
or $3.26 per share,” and “Undisclosed Expansion of Pine
Bend Refinery--$36,350,000 or $3.18 per share” for a “Total
pro forma adjustments to operating results of $85,336,000 or
$7.47 per share.”  (Dk.670, Ex. A, pp. 4-6).  Using a price to
earnings (“P/E”) ratio of nine, the total adjusted value for op-
erating results was $67 ($7.47 times 9).  McGraw ended this
section of his report with the following statement:

Based upon the analysis briefly described in the fore-
going, considering enhancements both to asset value and
to earnings and the appropriate weighting of these ele-
ments, Patricof is of the opinion that the fair market
value shortfall resulting from the misrepresentations and
inadequate disclosures was approximately $58 per share,
or an aggregate shortfall to selling shareholders of over
$315 million.  In arriving at this conclusion, Patricof re-
lied most heavily on the higher operating results which
should have been disclosed to the selling shareholders.

(Dk.670, Ex. A, p. 6).  In his deposition, McGraw ex-
plained this statement as follows:

Q. So I’m assuming that $58 is some sort of a blend
between $38 and $67?

B. Yes, sir.

Q. How far did you blend it?  Was it
one-third/two-thirds?
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A. Yes, two-thirds to earnings, one-third to asset
based increases.
(Dk.670, Ex. B, p. 145-46).

The defendants contrast the above methodology with that
used by McGraw in his new report of November 17, 1997,
submitted as a result of the court’s summary judgment ruling
in July 11, 1997.  Under the section entitled, “Methodology,”
McGraw opens with the following paragraph:

Patricof’s 1992 reports treated two groups of items:
those affecting asset values and those reflected in oper-
ating results.  Measuring the effect on value of these two
groups of items entailed the use of different methodolo-
gies.  Patricof considered adjustments to value from
both categories, and weighted them in arriving at a con-
clusion.  However, since the court eliminated both of the
items (underreported oil and gas reserve values and un-
derstated real estate values) whose impact was solely on
asset values, it is now both simpler and more appropriate
to determine the financial impact of the undisclosed
items through their effect on operating results.  This re-
vised report quantifies the impact on value of the two
remaining disclosure items.

(Dk.670, Ex. C, p. 2).  The report then separately calcu-
lates the value of the undisclosed expansion of Pine Bend Re-
finery and the value related to undisclosed non-recurring ex-
penses.

For the refinery, McGraw starts with the “market multiple
approach” that estimates the annual impact on earnings and
then values the impact by applying a market multiple of
earnings.  Using data supplied by Baker & O’Brien, McGraw
observes that the annual contribution to KII’s net income
would be $36.6 million or $3.21 per share and applying a P/E
ratio of 9 produced an indicated value of $330 million or
$28.93 per share.  Also from Baker & O’Brien’s report,
McGraw takes the “value of the Pine Bend refinery to a third
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party buyer both before and after the pending expansion to
155,000 barrels per day, using a discounted cash flow analy-
sis.”  (Dk.670, Ex. C, p. 4).  This difference in value is $239
million or $20.99 per share.  In blending these two values,
McGraw reports:

Values resulting from the two approaches (the market
multiple approach and Baker & O’Brien’s 13 year dis-
counted cash flow analysis) were weighted in the same
proportion as in the Patricof 1992 reports, resulting in
incremental value of $300 million, or $26.28 per share,
related to the undisclosed Pine Bend expansion.
(Dk.670, Ex. C, p. 4) (footnote omitted).

For the non-recurring expenses, McGraw calculates the
following:

The total amount of undisclosed non-recurring ex-
penses, net of undisclosed non-recurring income, was
approximately $70.8 million.  Net of taxes, this repre-
sented an addition to KII’s 1982 sustainable earnings of
approximately $35.4 million, or $3.10 per share.  Ap-
plying a multiple of 9.0 times, the same multiple used in
connection with the Pine Bend expansion, results in in-
cremental value of $318 million, or $27.92 per share.

(Dk.670, Ex. C, p. 5).  McGraw now directly adds this
value with the Pine Bend value for a total of $54.20 per share
or approximately $296 million.  In effect, McGraw now ex-
empts the determined value of non-recurring expenses from
any weighting.  If McGraw had used the same method em-
ployed in his 1992 report of giving 1/3 weight to refinery
value determined by discounted cash value and 2/3 weight to
the operating results value of the refinery and of
non-recurring expenses, the defendants calculate that the to-
tals would be $44.86 per share or approximately $245 mil-
lion.  By changing his methodology, McGraw minimizes the
effect of the summary judgment ruling by over $50 million.
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McGraw also opines that a premium in the range of 35 to
50% would be received in an arm’s length transaction and
would be a component of fair market value. Applying a pre-
mium of 35 to 45% results in a value of $73.18 to $78.60 per
share, or $404 million to $434 million in aggregate value to
selling shareholders.  The defendants argue the record is clear
that the plaintiffs did not seek a premium, did not negotiate
for a premium, and did not receive a premium in the stock
transaction.  Thus, the defendants deny that there is any fac-
tual basis for calculating a premium for control as an element
of damages.

In response, the plaintiffs say McGraw has not changed
his methodology but only has recalculated the damages as
required after the court’s recent summary judgment ruling.
Because McGraw explains his reasons and methods for recal-
culation, the plaintiffs argue that the defendants cannot claim
any surprise.  In McGraw’s deposition taken in 1993, the de-
fendants simply confirmed McGraw’s weighting calculation
but asked nothing about his reasons or rationale behind it.
The plaintiffs remark that the defendants knew, as evidenced
by their question, that McGraw used the weighting to “blend”
the value of undisclosed assets with the value of undisclosed
earnings.  “Now defendants want the Court to assume that
weighting must always be done, as a matter of law, even
though defendants never asked that question at Mr.
McGraw’s deposition, and even though there is now nothing
left to weight as a result of the Court’s summary judgment
decision.”  (Dk.692, p. 2).  The plaintiffs say all asset-based
values are now gone from the case, so there is nothing now to
blend or weight.  The plaintiffs contend the discounted cash
flow method and the market multiple earnings method used to
value Pine Bend are both “earnings- based methods of valu-
ing a refinery.”  Finally, the plaintiffs say the proper blending
of values is a matter of expert testimony and the defendants
may cross examine McGraw about his reasons for weighting
in 1992 and for not weighting in 1997.
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The plaintiffs argue there is a factual basis for McGraw’s
calculation of a control premium.  The plaintiffs have testified
to their belief that they were entitled to receive a premium but
that KII could not afford to pay one.  The plaintiffs say their
mistaken belief about KII’s ability to pay a premium and their
agreement to take the low-end of acceptable prices was the
result of KII’s misrepresentations about its cash flows.  Thus,
the plaintiffs believe they are entitled to a control premium as
part of their fair market value of their stock.

Ruling

After reviewing McGraw’s reports and the submitted ex-
cerpts from his deposition, the court is convinced that
McGraw has not simply recalculated the damages in light of
the summary judgment ruling but has actually changed his
methodology for calculating damages.  The court has several
reasons for reaching this conclusion.  First, this is not the only
change that McGraw made to his report to have the net effect
of minimizing the summary judgment ruling’s impact on the
plaintiffs’ total damages.6  Second, McGraw begins his dis-

                                                
6 There are at least two other changes that either actually increased the
plaintiffs’ damages or that suggested new elements for increasing the total
damage figure.  The first change was discussed at length in the court’s
order (Dk.683) filed February 17, 1989, which threw out the plaintiffs’
latest effort to recover damages based on allegations that had never before
been made under the fair market value theory. McGraw’s 1997 report for
the first time in this case calculated damages for the understated value of
KII’s disclosed earnings by increasing the P/E ratio from 7.4 to 9. Besides
offering this new calculation, McGraw in his report also speculated over
the facts and circumstances that might be alleged so that the plaintiffs
could claim they had been misled into using a 7.4 P/E ratio in 1983 to
value KII’s disclosed earnings.  Though he included the discussion of this
new damage element and calculation under the section he entitled, “Value
Related to Undisclosed Non-recurring Expenses,” McGraw never ex-
plained how this damage element had anything to do with the accounting
damages or why he was now just offering this new damage element only a
few months before trial.  The other change in McGraw’s report he does
explain and attribute to Baker & O’Brien’s latest revised values on KII’s
earnings from Pine Bend Refinery.  That McGraw made two changes that
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cussion under the “Methodology” section of his report by de-
scribing this particular change from the weighting adjustment
in 1992 to the operating results only approach in 1997.  Third,
but most importantly, McGraw’s explanation for this change
is not justified by the facts as they appear in his report.

The first two reasons give the court cause to sharpen its
inquiry into McGraw’s explanation for the change.  McGraw
explains that the change is due to the court’s dismissal of the
plaintiffs’ claims concerning the “underreported oil and gas
reserves and understated real estate values whose impact was
solely on the asset values” determined in 1992.  (Dk.670, Ex.
C, p. 2).  According to McGraw, “it is now both simpler and
more appropriate to determine the financial impact of the un-
disclosed items through their effect on operating results.”  Id.
Even though McGraw and the plaintiffs deny the use of asset
values, McGraw’s current report reflects that he still is using
them in his damage calculations and that he has simply lim-
ited his weighting of asset and earning values to the refinery
claim only.

The $239 million or $20.99 per share value for Pine Bend
found in McGraw’s 1997 report is plainly the same kind of
value that McGraw called an asset value in 1992.  This latest
value is the result of the same discounted cash flow analysis
done by Baker & O’Brien and used by McGraw in his 1992
report to determine Pine Bend’s asset value.  The $316 mil-
lion asset value for Pine Bend found in McGraw’s 1992 re-
port corresponds to the $239 million value found in
McGraw’s 1997 report.  The smaller value in the later report
is due to the court’s dismissal of the plaintiffs’ claim based on
expanding the refinery to 175,000 bpd.

                                                                                              
increased damages and offered a third way for also increasing damages
when one would assume his revised report would simply adjust his calcu-
lations downward for those claims dismissed by the court leaves an un-
mistakable impression with this court.
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Just like in 1992, McGraw again blends what he called the
“asset value” in 1992 and what he now calls the discounted
cash flow value. He admits in his 1997 report that he resorted
to the same weighting used in his 1992 report: “Values re-
sulting from the two approaches ... were weighted in the same
proportion as in the Patricof 1992 reports.” (Dk.670, Ex. C, p.
4). By weighting the asset value of Pine Bend prior to group-
ing the earnings-based value for Pine Bend with the earn-
ings-based value of the undisclosed non- recurring expenses,
McGraw has effectively exempted the latter earning-based
value from the full weighting method used in his 1992 report.
The plaintiffs’ explanation that in 1997 McGraw is no longer
using the asset values approach, no longer blending two va l-
ues and no longer weighting different values is plainly con-
tradicted by McGraw’s own report and the record in this case.

The court also finds dubious factual support in the record
for McGraw’s explanation that the court’s dismissal of the oil
and gas reserve claims and real estate claims makes the new
method “simpler and more appropriate.”  Under the 1992 re-
port’s calculation of asset values, these two claims constituted
approximately 28% of the total asset value to be blended.
The court’s summary judgment ruling eliminated certain ac-
counting claims that made up approximately 14% of the total
earnings-based value to be blended.  The dismissal of these
two asset-value claims when considered in light of the dis-
missal of the other earnings-based value claims does not cre-
ate a situation so remarkably different as to reasonably ex-
plain McGraw’s decision to now exempt part of the earnings-
based values from any weighting.

The court finds that a damages expert may not change his
methodology after his deposition, after the close of discovery,
and after the summary judgment ruling without offering a
sound justification fully supported by the record.  If this were
a conventional case, the court would be more inclined to or-
der McGraw to be deposed immediately at the plaintiffs’ ex-
pense and to leave this change of methodology to the defen-
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dants’ cross-examination and impeachment.  This case, and
for that matter, this issue are not what this court would call
conventional.  Knowing not only this case’s factual complex-
ity, but after poring over the briefs submitted on this issue, the
court seriously doubts that the jury could ever effectively un-
derstand McGraw’s change in methodology or his purported
reasons, let alone assess the reasonableness of both.  For the
impeachment of McGraw to even have a chance of being ef-
fective on this point, the door would have to be opened for the
jury to hear about the claims on which the court has already
granted summary judgment.  For all of these reasons, the
court grants defendants’ motion insofar as McGraw may not
change his methodology so as to limit the weighting to the
refinery claim but rather he must follow his previous method-
ology and first group the earnings-based or market multiple
value for the undisclosed expansion of Pine Bend with the
earnings-based value for undisclosed non- recurring expenses
and then blend or weight this total earnings-based value with
the asset value or discounted cash flow value of Pine Bend.

The court denies the defendants’ motion in limine to pre-
clude damages calculation for a control premium.  The depo-
sition testimony cited by the plaintiffs creates enough of a
factual question that the court believes this is an issue best
reserved for trial.

O’Brien’s Testimony on the Value of Pine Bend Refinery

The defendants move to exclude that testimony of the
plaintiffs’ expert witness, John O’Brien, concerning the
valuation of their refinery claims.  The defendants point out
that O’Brien has used “a theoretical discounted cash flow
analysis under which he opines that the refinery had a June
1983 value of over $1.2 billion at the ‘disclosed’ 130,000 bpd
capacity plaintiffs allegedly believed in, and was worth $336
million more under its allegedly greater capacity.” (Dk.671, p.
2).  The defendants contrast O’Brien’s valuations with those
made by the plaintiffs’ investment bankers at the time of the
SPA and conclude that the “huge discrepancy between” these
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values “raises obvious red flags about his [O’Brien’s] meth-
odology.”  Id.

The defendants complain that O’Brien’s valuation “is not
based on data as to the refinery’s actual cash flows but rather
on a series of theoretical assumptions as to the refinery’s cash
flows.”  (Dk.671, p. 5).  The principal assumption challenged
is that Pine Bend would have a gross refining margin
(“GRM”) of over $9 per barrel of processed oil that would
begin in June of 1983 and continue “undiminished for 13
years.”  Id.  The defendants attack this GRM as based in turn
“on an assumed GRM for Gulf Coast refineries” and “on
computer-modeled assumptions as to price/cost differentials
between Pine Bend and Gulf Coast refineries and as to the
particular product mixes at Pine Bend and in the Gulf Coast.”
Id.  The defendants main contention is that O’Brien relies on
these “counterfactual” assumptions which simply do not ac-
count for the actual margins of the general industry or of Pine
Bend itself.

In response, the plaintiffs note that the defendants do not
challenge that O’Brien is an expert on refinery valuations or
that the discounted cash flow (“DCF”) analysis is an “ac-
cepted method of estimating the going-concern value of refin-
eries and other revenue-producing assets.”  (Dk.694, pp. 1-2).
The plaintiffs observe that the defendants’ attack on
O’Brien’s conclusions is the kind of analysis on which the
Supreme Court said a district court should not engage.  The
plaintiffs say the investment bankers’ lower valuations of
Pine Bend were due to the defendants’ misrepresentations and
omissions.  The plaintiffs argue the defendants do not levy
any valid criticism with O’Brien’s use of assumptions about
Pine Bend’s cash flow rather than Pine Bend’s “actual” cash
flow data.  The plaintiffs say that DCF analysis is, by defini-
tion, an estimate of future cash flows produced by an assert
over its anticipated life that is discounted to its present value.
Consequently, the plaintiffs see the issue as not with whether
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O’Brien should have estimated future cash flows but with
how those future cash flows should be estimated.

The plaintiffs describe the refinery industry in the early
1980s as depressed with marginal and inefficient refineries
closing and with crude oil supplies becoming heavier and
demanding the modernization of refineries.  The plaintiffs
observe:

Put simply, basic principles of economics dictated
that refining capacity would diminish until margins re-
turned to a level sufficient to trigger new capital invest-
ment in refining capacity.  Realizing this, economists
and refining industry experts at the consulting firm, Pur-
vin & Gertz, Inc., developed a model in the early 1980s
for estimating long-term average gross refining margins
on the basis of the minimum average margins necessary
to attract the capital investment required to meet antici-
pated demand for petroleum products. (citation omitted).
This is the approach adopted by Mr. O’Brien. (citation
omitted).

Purvin & Gertz’ approach to estimating future refin-
ing margins was widely accepted in the early 1980s both
by oil companies and by financial institutions, and was
used in numerous refinery valuation studies performed
at the time. (citation omitted).  This approach to pre-
dicting future refining margins continues to be viewed
by industry and financial experts as fundamentally
sound, and continues to be widely employed in the in-
dustry and in energy forecasts published by the United
States Department of Energy. (citation omitted).

(Dk.694, pp. 12-13).  The plaintiffs maintain that
O’Brien’s approach was widely accepted in 1983 and contin-
ues to be widely employed today and that the defendants do
not argue or cite any authority to the contrary.
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Ruling

The Supreme Court recently overturned the “austere”
Frye standard of general acceptance which had required the
exclusion of evidence based on scientific principles that were
not so established as to gain general acceptance in that field.
Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579,
585, 113 S. Ct. 2786, 125 L. Ed.2d 469 (1993);  Summers v.
Missouri Pacific R.R. System, 132 F.3d 599, 602-03 (10th
Cir.1997).  The Court, however, also said:

That the Frye test was displaced by the Rules of Evi-
dence does not mean, however, that the Rules them-
selves place no limits on the admissibility of purportedly
scientific evidence.  Nor is the trial judge disabled from
screening such evidence.  To the contrary, under the
Rules the trial judge must ensure that any and all scien-
tific testimony or evidence admitted is not only relevant,
but reliable.

509 U.S. at 589, 113 S. Ct. 2786.  “Thus, while the Fed-
eral Rules of Evidence allow district courts to admit a some-
what broader range of scientific testimony than would have
been admissible under Frye, they leave in place the ‘gate-
keeper’ role of the trial judge in screening such evidence.”
General Electric Co. v. Joiner, -- U.S. --, --, 118 S. Ct. 512,
517, 139 L. Ed.2d 508 (1997).

Faced with a proffer of expert testimony, the trial court “
‘must determine at the outset pursuant to [Fed.R.Evid.]
104(a), whether the expert is proposing to testify to (1) scien-
tific knowledge that (2) will assist the trier of fact to under-
stand or determine a fact in issue.’”  Summers, 132 F.3d at
603 (quoting Daubert, 509 U.S. at 592, 113 S. Ct. 2786).  In
short, the trial court is to ensure that the testimony is both
relevant (helpful to the trier of fact) and reliable (scientific
validity).  Summers, 132 F.3d at 603;  Duffee v. Murray Ohio
Manufacturing Co., 91 F.3d 1410, 1411 (10th Cir.1996).
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“[W]hen the proffered expert relies on some principle or
methodology,” the trial court should consider a nonexhaustive
list of nondispositive factors in determining whether the rea-
soning or methodology is scientifically valid or reliable:  (1)
Can it and has it been tested?;  (2) Has it been subjected to
peer review and publication?;  (3) Does it have a known or
potential rate of error?;  and (4) Has it attained general ac-
ceptance in the relevant scientific community?  Compton v.
Subaru of America, Inc., 82 F.3d 1513, 1518 (10th Cir.), cert.
denied, 519 U.S. 1042, 117 S. Ct. 611, 136 L. Ed.2d 536
(1996); see Summers, 132 F.3d at 603 n. 4).  The focus in
evaluating these factors rests upon “the principles and meth-
odology, not on the conclusions that they generate.”  Daubert,
509 U.S. at 595, 113 S. Ct. 2786. In Joiner, the Supreme
Court clarifies that conclusions often cannot be entirely di-
vorced from the methodology used in arriving at them:

But conclusions and methodology are not entirely
distinct from one another. Trained experts commonly
extrapolate from existing data. But nothing in either
Daubert or the Federal Rules of Evidence requires a
district court to admit opinion evidence which is con-
nected to existing data only by the ipse dixit of the ex-
pert.  A court may conclude that there is simply too
great an analytical gap between the data and the opinion
proffered. (citation omitted).

522 U.S. at --, 118 S. Ct. at 519.  As part of the pretrial
evaluation, the trial court also must determine whether the
expert opinion is “based on facts that enable the expert to ex-
press a reasonably accurate conclusion as opposed to conjec-
ture or speculation [but] absolute certainty is not required.”
Kieffer v. Weston Land, Inc., 90 F.3d 1496, 1499 (10th
Cir.1996) (quoting Jones v. Otis Elevator Co., 861 F.2d 655,
662 (11th Cir.1988)).

Because the discounted cash flow method for valuing in-
come-producing assets is generally accepted, if not
well-established, in the finance world, the defendants’ only
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serious challenge to O’Brien’s valuation is with the assump-
tions he used in his discount cash flow analysis.  Though un-
doubtedly skewed to yield a high valuation, O’Brien’s as-
sumptions when considered in light of the record supplied by
the plaintiffs are not what this court would consider to be
“counterfactual,” “unsupportable” or “unreasonable” or
would reject as nothing more than conjecture and speculation.
That O’Brien’s assumed gross refining margin is higher than
the actual margins experienced during the years of 1981
through 1983 does not prove that the assumed margin is un-
supportable.7

O’Brien took his assumed margin of $4 for Gulf Coast re-
fineries from a certain project in 1982 and 1983 done by Pur-
vin & Gertz, a world-wide consulting firm specializing in en-
ergy and chemical industries, in which they had “estimated
that a projected long term gross refining margin of $4 per bar-
rel would be required to encourage upgrading investments
and produce a balanced market.” (Dk.694, Ex. P, pp. 322-23).
O’Brien testified that this GRM was actually used in one or
more valuation reports that he actually did or assisted in 1982
or 1983.  Id. at 323-24.  O’Brien further testified that he did a
historical study for the nine-year period from 1974 to 1982
that confirmed the general accuracy of his assumed GRM.  Id.
at 328-30.

In arriving at the $9 GRM for Pine Bend, O’Brien used
computer models with actual data produced during discovery
to measure the differential between Gulf Coast margins and
Pine Bend’s margins.  O’Brien’s report even refers to docu-
ments from the early 1980s prepared by Koch Refining Com-
pany in which they estimate Pine Bend’s advantage “over
what was termed ‘the break-even Gulf Coast refiner’ was
usually in the range of $5 to $6 per barrel.”  (Dk.694, Ex. A,
                                                
7 The defendants offer no authority that valuations of refineries or in-
come-producing assets should be based principally on actual data avail-
able for the three preceding years.
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p. 38).  Finally, the record does not show that O’Brien as-
sumed that Pine Bend would achieve a $9 GRM every year.
Rather, he will testify that this would be the average GRM
obtained by Pine Bend over a thirteen-year period.

At this time, the court is satisfied that the assumptions
used by O’Brien in his discount cash flow analysis are based
on methodology and calculations which clear the minimum
threshold of financial validity.  The defendants’ criticisms
with O’Brien’s assumptions appear to be weaknesses in the
underpinnings of his opinion that go to its weight not its ad-
missibility.  Compton, 82 F.3d at 1518.  The court denies the
defendants’ motion in limine.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the plaintiffs’ mo-
tion in limine (Dk.663) to exclude post 1985 lawsuits is
granted in part and all counsel and parties are ordered not to
refer to the following eight cases:

In re Ann A. Linn, filed February 3, 1988, in the
United States Bankruptcy Court for the Western District
of Oklahoma, Case No. 88-00711-TS.

In re James P. Linn, Debtor, filed February 3, 1988,
in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Western
District of Oklahoma, Case No. 88-00712-TS.

International Oil Resources, Inc. v. Michael P.
Aquilina, et al./Michael P. Aquilina v. William I. Koch,
et al., filed March 3, 1988, in the United States District
Court for the Central District of California, Case No.
CV 88-01168 PAR (GXKx).

Ann A. Linn v. James P. Linn, decree of divorce filed
January 5, 1989, in the District Court of Oklahoma
County, Oklahoma, Case No. FD-88-8451.

United States of America, ex rel. The Precision Com-
pany v. Koch Industries, Inc., et al., (“Precision I”),
filed May 25, 1989, in the United States District Court
for the Northern District of Oklahoma, Civil Action No.
89-C- 437-C.
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United States of America, ex rel. The Precision Com-
pany v. Koch Industries, Inc., et al., (“Precision II”),
filed September 30, 1991, in the United States District
Court for the Northern District of Oklahoma, Civil Ac-
tion No. 91-C- 763-B.

Louis Howard Andres Cox v. William I. Koch, et al.,
filed November 21, 1991, in the United States District
Court for the Western District of Oklahoma, Case No.
CIV-91-1921-A.

Marjorie Simmons Gray, et al. v. Louis Howard An-
dres Cox, filed November 21, 1994, in Probate Court,
Harris County, Texas Case No. 271283.

The court denies the plaintiffs’ motion in limine to ex-
clude evidence and references to the other seven lawsuits
named in the plaintiffs’ motion and evidence suggesting that
William Koch is engaged in an “ongoing vendetta” against
his brothers, Charles and David Koch;

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the plaintiffs’ motion
in limine (Dk.664) is granted in part and all parties and coun-
sel are precluded from presenting evidence or referring to:

1) the parties’ personal lives or lifestyles, including
their marital or other personal relationships, recreational
interests, hobbies, passions, political or religious beliefs
or unrelated financial endeavors;

2) William Koch’s refusal to pay Goldman Sachs its
full contract fee for its work in Koch I and refusal to pay
Jim Linn a promised settlement fee for his work in set-
tling Koch I;

3) Any investigations or surveillance of the personal
residences and offices of the parties, their counsel and
agents;

and the plaintiffs’ motion in limine (Dk.664) is denied as
to evidence that the focus of the plaintiff William Koch’s
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“psychiatric treatment” and “psychotherapy” was his troubled
relations with his brothers;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the plaintiffs’ motion in
limine (Dk.665) is granted and all parties and counsel are pre-
cluded from presenting evidence or referring to the com-
ments, findings, or rulings made by this court or any other
court concerning the plaintiffs, the defendants or any of the
claims in this case or any prior or pending litigation involving
these parties;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the plaintiffs’ motion in
limine (Dk.666) is granted to the extent that there will be no
references or evidence concerning the dismissal or with-
drawal of any claim or defense in this case but this does not
preclude the defendants from introducing evidence that Wil-
liam Koch began investigating KII shortly after the SPA, that
William Koch sent a pre-suit demand letter, and that the
claims going to trial were not part of the case when it was
filed;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the plaintiffs’ motion in
limine (Dk.667) is granted and all parties and counsel are pre-
cluded from presenting evidence or referring to the plaintiffs’
counsel or experts who have withdrawn or been replaced
during this litigation, except for showing witness bias through
evidence of what prior counsel may have instructed and paid
expert witnesses;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the defendants’ motion
in limine (Dk.668) is granted in part and all parties and coun-
sel are precluded from presenting evidence or referring to the
document destruction allegations or evidence found in or re-
lated to the Oklahoma litigation, and the defendants’ motion
is denied as to the gap in documents produced by the defen-
dants concerning the Williams Pipeline reversal negotiations
and/or agreement and as to the fact that Peat Marwick de-
stroyed its work papers for the audits in 1981 and 1982;
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the defendants’ motion
in limine (Dk.669) is granted in part and the plaintiffs are not
to allege or offer an expert opinion that ¶ 5(d) was violated
based on no more proof than a GAAP violation;  are not to
offer an expert opinion that ¶ 5(d) was violated based on the
defendants’ failure to disclose an incremental amount of in-
formation beyond that required by GAAP for any unusual or
infrequently occurring item until the court finds that the
plaintiffs have demonstrated under governing Kansas contract
law that the parties intended the warranty in ¶ 5(d) to impose
additional disclosure requirements on financial matters that
were also covered by GAAP;  and are not to allege or offer an
expert opinion that ¶ 5(c) or ¶ 5(d) was violated based on the
defendants failed to disclose information on items that are
neither unusual or infrequently occurring under GAAP;  and
the defendants’ motion in limine (Dk.669) to exclude the en-
tirety of Alan May’s testimony is denied upon the plaintiffs’
representation that the focus of May’s testimony will be on
the disclosure requirements for unusual and/or infrequently
occurring items;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the defendants’ motion
in limine (Dk.670) is granted insofar as McGraw may not
change his methodology so as to limit the weighting to the
refinery claim but rather he must follow his previous method-
ology and first group the earnings-based or market multiple
value for the undisclosed expansion of Pine Bend with the
earnings-based value for undisclosed non-recurring expenses
and then blend or weight this total earnings-based value with
the asset value or discounted cash flow value of Pine Bend;
and is denied on the request to exclude McGraw’s damage
calculations for a control premium;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the defendants’ motion
in limine (Dk.670) to exclude John O’Brien’s opinion testi-
mony on the value of the Pine Bend Refinery is denied.
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APPENDIX C

6 F.Supp.2d 1207

United States District Court,

D. Kansas.

William I. KOCH, et al., Plaintiffs,

v.

KOCH INDUSTRIES, INC., et al., Defendants.

No. 85-1636-SAC.

April 3, 1998.

Clifford L. Malone, Adams, Jones, Robinson & Malone,
Wichita, KS,  Thomas E. Wright, Wright, Henson, Somers,
Sebelius, Clark & Baker, L.L.P., Topeka, KS, Harry L. Na-
jim, Najim Law Offices, Wichita, KS, John T Hickey, Jr.,
Alex Dimitrief, Kirkland & Ellis, Chicago, IL, Joseph F.
Ryan, Lyne, Woodworth & Evarts, Boston, MA, Abraham D.
Sofaer, John M. Townsend, Norman C. Kleinberg, Michael E.
Salzman, Hughes, Hubbard & Reed, Washington, DC, Jerome
G. Shapiro, Robert J. Sisk, Steven A. Hammond, Nicolas
Swerdloff, Hughes, Hubbard & Reed, New York City, Fred
H. Bartlit, Jr., Bartlit, Beck, Herman, Palenchar & Scott, Chi-
cago, IL, Donald E. Scott, Ellen A. Cirangle, Bartlit, Beck,
Herman, Palenchar & Scott, Denver, CO, for William I.
Koch, Oxbow Energy, Inc., Springfield Creek Art Founda-
tion, Inc., Northern Trust Co.

Clifford L. Malone, Adams, Jones, Robinson & Malone,
Wichita, KS, Harry L. Najim, Najim Law Offices, Wichita,
KS, Gregory S.C. Huffman, Frank L. Hill, L. James Ber-
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glund, II, Thompson & Knoght, Dallas, TX, for L.B. Sim-
mons Energy Inc., Gay A. Roane, Ann Alspaugh, Marjorie
Simmons Gray, Marjorie L. Simmons, Paul Anthony Andres
Cox, Holly A. Andres Cox Farabee.

Clifford L. Malone, Adams, Jones, Robinson & Malone,
Wichita, KS, Harry L. Najim, Najim Law Offices, Wichita,
KS, Russell E. Brooks, Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy,
New York City, for United States Trust Co. of New York,
Frederick R. Koch.

Stephen M. Joseph, Redmond & Nazar, L.L.P., Wichita,
KS, Michael Paul Kirschner, Lee & Kirschner, P.L.L.C.,
Oklahoma, City, OK, for Louis Howard Andres Cox,
Nationsbank N.A.

James M. Armstrong, Robert L. Howard, Timothy B.
Mustaine, Foulston & Siefkin L.L.P., Wichita, KS, Donald L.
Cordes, Wichita, KS, for Koch Industries, Inc., Charles G.
Koch.

James M. Armstrong, Robert L. Howard, Timothy B.
Mustaine, Foulston & Siefkin L.L.P., Wichita, KS, for Ster-
ling V. Varner, David H. Koch, Donald L. Cordes, Thomas
M. Carey.

Michael W. Merriam, Gehrt & Roberts, Chartered, for
Kansas Press Association, Kansas Association of Broadcast-
ers, Wichita Eagle-Beacon, Topeka Capital-Journal,
WIBW-TV, Kansas City Star Company, Wichita Business
Journal, Harris Enterprises, Inc., Koch Crime Comm.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER
CROW, Senior District Judge.

The case comes before the court on the plaintiffs’ motion
for reconsideration and modification of the court’s rulings in
limine on (1) post-1985 lawsuits and (2) consultations with
health professionals and for clarification of certain aspects of
those rulings.  (Dk.743).  The defendants have filed their re-
sponse opposing the motion to reconsider.  (Dk.753).  The
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court conducted a hearing on April 2, 1998, at 3:00 p.m. at
which counsel for the plaintiff William Koch, William Koch,
and counsel for the defendants attended in person and argued
their positions.  Counsel for the other plaintiffs appeared by
telephone.
STANDARDS GOVERNING MOTION TO RECONSIDER

As the rules of this court provide, “[a] motion to recon-
sider shall be based on (1) an intervening changed in control-
ling law, (2) availability of new evidence, or (3) the need to
correct clear error or prevent manifest injustice.”  D.Kan.
Rule 7.3.  The application of this rule obviously is subject to
other orders of the court and to other standards that govern
such rulings.

In its order deciding the in limine motions (Dk.719, pp.
3-4), the court indicated that its denial of a motion was sub-
ject to reconsideration at trial. This use of the contemporane-
ous objection rule gives the trial judge the “opportunity to
‘reconsider his in limine ruling with the benefit of having
been witness to the unfolding events at trial.’”  Marceaux v.
Conoco, Inc., 124 F.3d 730, 734 (5th Cir.1997) (quoting
United States v. Graves, 5 F.3d 1546, 1552 (5th Cir.1993)).
In fact, the court may even have “a duty to reconsider” when
evidence at trial amounts to “positive proof that its prior rul-
ing was erroneous.”  Guillory v. Domtar Industries Inc., 95
F.3d 1320, 1332 (5th Cir.1996).

Because the plaintiffs have filed their motion before trial,
the court believes the general standards governing motions to
reconsider apply now. See, e.g., Burger v. Mays, 176 F.R.D.
153, 155 (E.D.Pa.1997).  A court’s rulings “are not intended
as first drafts, subject to revision and reconsideration at a liti-
gant’s pleasure.”  Quaker Alloy Casting v. Gulfco Industries,
Inc., 123 F.R.D. 282, 288 (N.D.Ill.1988).  A motion to recon-
sider is appropriate if the court has obviously misapprehended
a party’s position, the facts, or applicable law, or if the party
produces new evidence that could not have been obtained
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through the exercise of due diligence.  Comeau v. Rupp, 810
F. Supp. 1172, 1175 (D.Kan.1992); see Refrigeration Sales
Co. Inc. v. Mitchell-Jackson, Inc., 605 F. Supp. 6, 7
(N.D.Ill.1983), aff’d, 770 F.2d 98 (7th Cir.1985).  A motion
to reconsider is not appropriate if the movant only wants the
court to revisit issues already addressed or to hear new argu-
ments or supporting facts that could have been presented
originally.  Comeau v. Rupp, 810 F. Supp. at 1175.

PRIOR IN LIMINE ORDER

The court on March 20, 1998, filed its rulings on the in
limine motions that were pending.  On the plaintiffs’ motion
to “prohibit any references at trial and exclude any evidence
offered by defendants concerning other lawsuits involving the
plaintiffs that were initiated after June 7, 1985,” (Dk.663, p.
1), the court denied the motion as to seven of the fifteen
named lawsuits and denied the plaintiffs’ request to exclude
evidence suggesting that William Koch is engaged in an “on-
going vendetta” against his brothers, Charles and David
Koch. (Dk.719, pp. 56-57).  Based on what the defendants
had filed and on its own experience from handling this case
for over a decade, the court observed that “William Koch’s
animosity for Charles and David, the intensity of those feel-
ings, and the actions that reveal those feelings are central to
the defendants’ case in several regards.”  (Dk.719, p. 13)
(italics added).

On the plaintiffs’ motion to exclude evidence of medical
consultations for psychological or psychiatric purposes,
(Dk.664, p. 2), the court ruled that the evidence has probative
value, that the balancing of Rule 403 concerns could not be
completed without hearing the specific evidence, that the evi-
dence would not be excluded at this time because of its as-
sumed sensitive nature, and that the plaintiffs had not carried
their burden in proving this motion. (Dk.719, p. 17).
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POST-1985 LAWSUITS

Argument

The plaintiffs contend that the court in its ruling gave the
issue of family relationships more significance than ever be-
fore argued by the parties and apparently elevated its status
beyond the need to balance competing Rule 403 concerns.
The plaintiffs deny the importance of this issue asserting its
absence from the pleadings and the pretrial order.  The plain-
tiffs describe the defendants’ prior use of this issue as a “pe-
ripheral matter” argued in passing in the preface and conclu-
sion of their briefs.  The plaintiffs argue unfairness in that this
issue was not the subject of discovery, was never disclosed to
be a matter of central importance, and was outside the
1981-1985 discovery time period imposed against the plain-
tiffs.  In their brief, the plaintiffs maintain the emotion-
ally-charged evidence connected with this issue is inflamma-
tory, prejudicial, and cumulative of other admissible evidence
on bias.  The plaintiffs repeatedly mention the perceived un-
fair prejudice from the evidence that William and Frederick
Koch named their mother as a defendant in a lawsuit against
their brothers.

Ruling

As with almost every evidentiary dispute involving Rules
401 through 403, one side promotes the evidence as particu-
larly relevant and critical to its case, while the other side dis-
parages the evidence as peripherally relevant and prejudicial.
This is why most courts, facing this situation, will wait to see
how the evidence and events unfold at trial before ruling on
admissibility.  This is what the court has done here, and the
points reiterated by the plaintiffs do not persuade the court to
do otherwise.

The court will address briefly those arguments that the
plaintiffs have said are the “heart of their position.”  The court
has neither the time nor the inclination to pore over the prior
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pleadings 1 and extract all references to family relations.  Nor
should there be a need for the court to quote from its prior
discovery orders any observations about the parties’ apparent
motives.  A plain reading of those matters along with a de-
tailed review of this case’s procedural history would leave
most with the impression that the litigation is occurring in the
shadows of issues that are much larger and more personal for
the parties.  The plaintiffs have no real basis for alleging sur-
prise over the defendants’ desire to present relevant evidence
on this issue and to argue its importance to the claims and de-
fenses in this case.

The plaintiffs’ arguments for a level playing field are
misdirected.  The court’s prior rulings on the scope of the
pretrial order focused not on whether the plaintiffs mentioned
certain evidence there but on whether the plaintiffs had actu-
ally alleged certain claims of fraud and elements of damages.
Other than a listing of the witness and exhibit, the pretrial or-
der does not require the parties to give detailed accounts of all
evidence to be used in proving or refuting the claims, dam-
ages and defenses in the case.  For that matter, the issue of
witness credibility exists in every trial, and the admissibility

                                                
1 The court will provide one example.  In their motion for summary judg-
ment, the defendants expressly mentioned this issue as part of their posi-
tion in this litigation:

Defendants’ position in this litigation is that the Blakesley [v.
Johnson , 227 Kan. 495, 608 P.2d 908 (1980)] fiduciary duties did
not exist, or were severely attenuated, because of the complete ab-
sence of trust and confidence between plaintiffs and defendants, as
reflected, for example, in the fact that the stock sale at issue was
made to settle a lawsuit that itself reflected a bitter contest for cor-
porate control and considerable personal enmity.  For purposes of
this summary judgment only, however, defendants do not argue that
the Blakesley is inapplicable.

(Dk. 581, p. 17 n. 3) (bolding added).  The court referred to this position
in its summary judgment order.  Koch v. Koch Industries, Inc., 969
F. Supp. 1460, 1491 n. 11 (D.Kan.1997).
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of evidence on that issue does not depend on the parties hav-
ing mentioned it in the pretrial order.  As for the time pa-
rameters set in the magistrate judge’s discovery orders,2 the

                                                
2 Until the parties demonstrate otherwise, the court stands by its statement
at the hearing that it is unaware of any order where it has been directly
asked to review and did review the 1981-1985 time parameters imposed
by the magistrate judge for discovery of certain financial and business
records of KII. The plaintiffs’ counsel at the hearing offered that the dis-
trict court did review those time parameters in its order filed October 24,
1991.  The court’s order filed that date (Dk. 386, 1991 WL 241814) ad-
dresses no arguments specifically challenging the propriety of those time
parameters.  The magistrate judge appears to have first adopted this
time-period restriction in his order filed January 6, 1990, (Dk.241), con-
cerning discovery from the banks lending KII the money needed to buyout
the plaintiffs.  In relevant part, the magistrate judge noted:

Allowing the plaintiffs to reach back to January of 1981 allows
an adequate period of time, prior to the June, 1983 Agreement, (and
prior to the first action filing date in October 1982) to determine the
full extent of the transactions between Koch and the lending banks
to accomplish the stock buyout.  This time extends further back in
time than the previous discovery period of January, 1983, requested
by plaintiffs, and it appears more than adequate to allow plaintiffs
to discover all documents and records pertaining to any discrepancy
in values reflected by the financial statements and documents, on
the one hand, and the values relied on in connection with the stock
purchase agreement, on the other.

Similarly, a cut off date of December 31, 1985 appears more
than reasonable.... If what is discovered pertaining to the period
from January 1, 1981 to December 31, 1985, indicates the period
should be enlarged, the court has the power and discretion to do so.
Likewise, if the beginning date of the period of discovery needs to
be rolled back that can also be done if the facts then indicate it is
appropriate to do so.

(Dk.241, pp. 4-5).  The plaintiffs never sought review of this order but did
file a motion for clarification on July 31, 1990.  (Dk.243).  In that motion,
the plaintiffs did not contest the time parameters, and instead, incorporated
them in their requested language to the magistrate judge. The magistrate
judge issued his clarifying order on November 30, 1990, which became
the subject of a plaintiffs’ motion for review.
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plaintiffs have not demonstrated any prejudice or unfairness
on this issue as a result of that discovery limitation.

The plaintiffs are mistaken if they believe the court has
not balanced the competing Rule 403 concerns in ruling on
their motion or if they believe the court will not balance those
concerns at trial before admitting any evidence to which a
Rule 403 objection is made.  The court’s order indicates it
considered the prejudice if the evidence were “used to paint
William Koch as a ‘litigious character’ who files lawsuits de-
void of merit.” The court observed that a limiting instruction
may be effective in curing or, at least, minimizing the plain-
tiffs’ concerns over prejudice.  The court’s concerns over
prejudice and delay were also addressed in its footnote sug-
gesting that the parties can introduce this evidence for its lim-
ited purpose without having it explode into mini-trials of the
other lawsuits.

The plaintiffs draw the court’s attention in particular to
the lawsuit naming their mother as a defendant.  “A majority
of potential jurors in Kansas no doubt believe that it is never
appropriate to sue one’s own mother, and will harbor deep
mistrust for anyone who would do that.”  (Dk.743, p. 6).  The
potential jurors’ responses to the question, “Do you believe it
is ever appropriate to sue a family member?,” asked in the

                                                                                              
     The district court’s order filed October 24, 1991, (Dk. 386, 1991 WL
241814), decided the plaintiffs’ motion for review (Dk.300) of the magis-
trate judges’ orders filed November 30, 1990.  (Dks. 295, 296, and 297).
In that motion and supporting memorandum, the plaintiffs made several
sweeping statements about the magistrate judge’s discovery orders, but
they focused their challenges on the subject matter limits that had been
imposed and that were based on the issues, assets, or claims.  The plain-
tiffs never specifically argued in their motion that the time parameters
were an unreasonable restriction on discovery.  Believing that the plain-
tiffs’ position in the motion for review was consistent with their position
in the motion for clarification, the district court did not consider there to
be any objection to the time parameters and did not address any in its or-
der of October 24, 1991.



App. C9

questionnaire suggest the plaintiffs may be overstating the
prejudice.  “Evidence is not unfairly prejudicial simply be-
cause it is damaging to an opponent’s case.  Rather, the evi-
dence must have ‘an undue tendency to suggest decision on
an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an
emotional one.’ “  United States v. Martinez, 938 F.2d 1078,
1082 (10th Cir.1991) (quoting Fed.R.Evid. 403 advisory
committee’s note) (internal citations omitted).  The court is
confident that the plaintiffs’ able counsel will be able to ad-
dress and minimize whatever potential for unfair prejudice
may exist in the jury pool over this evidence and to alert the
court’s attention when they believe this evidence is being
used unfairly at trial.

Finally, the court would like to clarify its in limine order
on this subject and elaborate on what is said at footnote one.
The court does not consider its comments in footnote one to
create any exception to its other ruling “that parties and coun-
sel are precluded from presenting evidence or referring to the
comments, findings, or rulings made by this court or any
other court concerning the plaintiffs, the defendants or any of
the claims in this case or any prior or pending litigation in-
volving these parties.” (Dk.719, pp. 57-58).  Footnote one
was simply the court’s expressed “hope” that it would not be
forced to modify this ruling because a side opened the door
for a presentation of evidence from those cases or for a dis-
cussion of the court’s rulings, findings or comments in those
cases.  The court believes that its rulings on the motions in
limine are not inconsistent, that both sides can fairly abide by
both rulings, and that any need to modify the order is really a
matter of what unfolds at trial.

The court offers the following directions on what it ex-
pects from both sides and what the parties can expect from
the court with respect to the handling of this evidence.  The
court desires as much as the parties to keep the jury from be-
ing confused or distracted by  other litigation.  The court can-
not stress enough that this evidence is being offered for a
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limited purpose:  to demonstrate the strained relations be-
tween William Koch and his brothers, Charles and David
Koch. 3  It is not to show that William Koch likes to file law-
suits, that William Koch files lawsuits devoid of merit, or that
William Koch lacked proper feelings and consideration for
his mother.  To rebut the limited purpose for which this evi-
dence is offered, the plaintiffs, in particular William Koch,
should have the opportunity to discuss and relate his reasons
for filing the lawsuits or for taking the position that led to the
filing of the lawsuits.  The court believes that the plaintiffs
can effectively explain their reasons for filing or defending
the lawsuits without introducing actual evidence that was
used in those lawsuits or that has no other purpose than to
prove the factual or legal merit behind their reasons for the
lawsuits and without referring to any comments, findings, or
rulings made by any court in that lawsuit or concerning that
lawsuit.  The defendants, in turn, are limited in explaining
their position in those lawsuits without introducing actual
evidence that was used in those lawsuits or that has no other
purpose than to prove the factual or legal merit behind their
reasons for the lawsuits and without referring to any com-
ments, findings, or rulings made by any court in that lawsuit
or concerning that lawsuit.  Though such evidence and rulings
may have some probative value in discerning the motives of
the parties involved in a lawsuit, the court fully appreciates
that the same is a slippery slope with the likely bottom being
full-blown mini-trials of the other lawsuits.  Consequently,
the court believes Rule 403 concerns will in most instances
cut off inquiry beyond that outlined above.  In sum, the court
does not retreat from its earlier ruling for the all of the reasons
stated above.

                                                
3 Consistent with this limited purpose, the defendant should have no need
to give more than a brief description of the lawsuit which informs the jury
of the parties, the filing date, the nature of the suit, and the relief sought.
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CONSULTATIONS WITH MENTAL HEALTH
PROFESSIONALS

Argument

In support of their motion to reconsider this ruling, the
plaintiffs offer an excerpt from David Koch’s deposition and
an affidavit from William Koch. From this evidence, the
plaintiffs argue that David Koch visited with Dr. Louis Chase,
that Dr. Louis Chase was never William Koch’s psychiatrist,
and that such evidence is unfairly prejudicial.  The defendants
in response throw out several assumptions for why David
Koch’s testimony may be admissible and also offer Charles
Koch’s statement that “William told Charles that his psychia-
trist had advised him that he had to ‘stand up to Charles, he
had to be a man.’” (Dk., p. 5).

Ruling

The court modifies its earlier ruling as to David Koch’s
testimony4 concerning his visit with a psychiatrist during
which the psychiatrist made certain comments about William
Koch. The court takes this motion under advisement, and
neither side shall refer to this evidence in any statement, ar-
gument, or testimony before the jury without first approach-
ing the bench and having its admissibility determined by the
court.  The court denies the plaintiffs’ motion to reconsider as
it concerns Charles Koch’s testimony about what William
Koch had told him.

PLAINTIFFS’ SUPPLEMENTAL OPENING
ARGUMENTS

Certain plaintiffs request the opportunity to present a short
opening statement of their own in which to briefly describe
facts unique to their respective claims.  See Plaintiff Frederick
R. Koch’s Memorandum in Support of Application to Present

                                                
4 The plaintiffs attached this deposition testimony of David Koch as ex-
hibit B to their motion for reconsideration.
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Supplemental Opening Statement (Dk.751);  Simmons Plain-
tiffs’ Statement (Dk.749). The defendants do not oppose the
requests of those parties, “provided that [their separate open-
ing] is limited to the matters set forth in [their briefs], pro-
vided that there is an adequate evidentiary basis for the state-
ments made, and provided that the total time for the opening
statements of all plaintiffs does not exceed the 2 hours allot-
ted by the Court.”  (Dk.754).

The court grants the request of plaintiffs who have filed
briefs to make an opening statement describing facts unique
to their respective claims as stated in the pretrial order.  Such
opening statement should be confined to facts and subject
matter proffered in that party’s brief requesting the opportu-
nity to make an opening statement.  Obviously any opening
statement by any party should be confined to a statement of
the issues in the case and the evidence that party intends to
offer and which that party believes in good faith will be avail-
able and admissible at trial.  At the status conference, it was
agreed that both sides would have two hours for their opening
statements and the plaintiffs shall divide as they wish their
allotted two hours.

The Simmons Plaintiffs’ brief goes beyond merely re-
questing an opportunity to make their own opening statement.
The Simmons Plaintiffs also request the opportunity to be
heard during voir dire, examination of witnesses and closing
argument.  To the extent that the Simmons Plaintiffs are ask-
ing the court to reconsider the limitations imposed in para-
graph 14 of the pretrial order, or the limitations orally an-
nounced by the court at the March 27, 1998, status confer-
ence,5 that request is denied as untimely.

                                                
5 At the March 27, 1998, status conference, the court indicated that it ex-
pected lead counsel to monitor the other counsel on their side to determine
if supplemental, non-cumulative comments or questions are appropriate
and necessary.  The court also indicated that if it was anticipated that more
than one counsel would be involved in the examination of a witness, that
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IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the plaintiffs’ mo-
tion to reconsider (Dk.743) the court’s in limine ruling on
post-1985 lawsuits is denied and that the court’s order filed
March 20, 1998 (Dk.719) is clarified as stated above;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the plaintiffs’ motion to
reconsider (Dk.743) the court’s in limine ruling on the plain-
tiffs’ consultations with mental health professionals is granted
in part and denied in part.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that counsel for Frederick
R. Koch and counsel for the Simmons plaintiffs may give
opening statements under the limitations set forth above.

                                                                                              
the parties should provide to the court and the other side at least 24-hour
written notice of the witnesses, the additional counsel’s name, and a brief
proffer why that party’s position is materially different from other parties
on that side of the case.
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APPENDIX D

1998 WL 975598

United States District Court, D. Kansas.

William I. KOCH, et al., Plaintiffs,

v.

KOCH INDUSTRIES, INC., et al., Defendants.

No. 85-1636-SAC.

May 6, 1998.

 Clifford L. Malone, Adams, Jones, Robinson & Malone,
Wichita, KS, Thomas E. Wright, Wright, Henson, Somers,
Sebelius, Clark & Baker, LLP, Topeka, KS, Harry L. Najim,
Najim Law Offices, Wichita, KS, John T Hickey, Jr, Alex
Dimitrief, Kirkland & Ellis, Chicago, IL, Joseph F Ryan,
Lyne, Woodworth & Evarts, Boston, MA, Fred H Bartlit, Jr,
Bartlit, Beck, Herman, Palenchar & Scott, Chicago, IL, Don-
ald E Scott, Ellen A Cirangle, Bartlit, Beck, Herman, Palen-
char & Scott, Denver, CO, for William I Koch, plaintiff.

Clifford L. Malone, Thomas E. Wright, Harry L. Najim,
John T Hickey, Jr, Alex Dimitrief, Joseph F Ryan, Fred H
Bartlit, Jr, Donald E Scott, Ellen A Cirangle, (See above), for
Oxbow Energy Inc, plaintiff.

Clifford L. Malone, Harry L. Najim (See above) for LB
Simmons Energy Inc dba Rocket Oil Company, plaintiff.
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Clifford L. Malone, Harry L. Najim (See above), Russell
E Brooks, Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy, New York
City, for United States Trust Company of New York, as
Trustee, plaintiff.

Clifford L. Malone, Thomas E. Wright, Harry L. Najim,
John T Hickey, Jr, Alex Dimitrief, Joseph F Ryan, Fred H
Bartlit, Jr, Donald E Scott, Ellen A Cirangle, (See above), for
Spring Creek Art Foundation Inc, plaintiff.

Clifford L. Malone, Harry L. Najim (See above) for Gay
A Roane, plaintiff.

Clifford L. Malone, Harry L. Najim (See above) for Ann
Alspaugh, plaintiff.

Clifford L. Malone, Harry L. Najim (See above) for
Marjorie Simmons Gray, as Trustee, plaintiff.

Clifford L. Malone, Thomas E. Wright, Harry L. Najim,
John T Hickey, Jr, Alex Dimitrief, Joseph F Ryan, Fred H
Bartlit, Jr, Donald E Scott, Ellen A Cirangle, (See above), for
Northern Trust Company, as Trustee, plaintiff.

Clifford L. Malone, Harry L. Najim (See above) for
Marjorie L Simmons, as Trustee, plaintiff.

Michael Paul Kirschner, Lee & Kirschner, P.L.L.C.,
Oklahoma City, OK, for Louis Howard Andres Cox, plaintiff.

Clifford L. Malone, Harry L. Najim, Gregory SC Huff-
man, Michael Paul Kirschner, (See above), for Paul Anthony
Andres Cox, plaintiff.

James M. Armstrong, Robert L. Howard, Timothy B.
Mustaine, Foulston & Siefkin L.L.P., Wichita, KS, Donald L.
Cordes, Koch Industries, Inc., Wichita, KS, for Koch Indus-
tries Inc, defendant.

James M. Armstrong, Robert L. Howard, Timothy B.
Mustaine, Donald L. Cordes, (See above), for Charles G
Koch, defendant.
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James M. Armstrong, Robert L. Howard, (See above), for
Sterling V Varner, defendant.

James M. Armstrong, Robert L. Howard, (See above), for
David H Koch, defendant.

James M. Armstrong, Robert L. Howard, (See above), for
Donald L Cordes, defendant.

James M. Armstrong, Robert L. Howard, (See above), for
Thomas M Carey, defendant.

Michael W. Merriam, Gehrt & Roberts, Chartered,
Topeka, KS, for Kansas Press Association, movant.

Michael W. Merriam, (See above), for Kansas Associa-
tion of Broadcasters, movant.

Michael W. Merriam, (See above), for Wichita Ea-
gle-Beacon, movant.

Michael W. Merriam, (See above), for Topeka Capi-
tal-Journal, movant.

Michael W. Merriam, (See above), for WIBW-TV, mov-
ant.

Michael W. Merriam, (See above), for Kansas City Star
Company, the movant.Michael W. Merriam, (See above), for
Wichita Business Journal, movant.

Michael W. Merriam, (See above), for Harris Enterprises,
Inc., movant.

Daniel R. Lykins, Bryan, Lykins & Hejtmanek, P.A.,
Topeka, KS, for Koch Crime Comm, movant.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

This case has been pending for approximately thirteen
years.  This court has shepherded this case since its inception.
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Two of the plaintiffs,1 William Koch and Frederick Koch, are
the brothers of two of the defendants, Charles Koch and
David Koch.  Koch Industries, Inc., another defendant, is es-
sentially the company founded by the father of the four broth-
ers, Fred Koch.  Charles Koch has acted as chief executive
officer of Koch Industries since the death of Fred Koch in
1967.

The plaintiffs’ claims in this case arise out of the sale of
their minority share of Koch Industries stock in June of
1983.2  In exchange for their stock, the plaintiffs received ap-
proximately $1.1 billion dollars plus a pro rata share of cer-
tain oil interests.  At its core, the plaintiffs claim that the
amount they received for their stock was too low.  The plain-
tiffs assert claims against the defendants for violation of fed-
eral securities law, breach of contract (breach of warranty),
fraud, and breach of fiduciary duty.  The plaintiffs seek com-
pensatory and exemplary damages in excess of a billion dol-
lars.  The defendants deny liability on all of the plaintiffs’
claims.

On March 20, 1998, prior to the commencement of trial,
the court entered a memorandum and order addressing several
motions in limine.  See Koch v. Koch Industries, Inc., 1998
WL ___ (D.Kan. March 20, 1998).  On April 3, 1998, the
court entered a memorandum and order explaining, clarifying
and modifying in part its March 20, 1998, memorandum and
order.  See Koch v. Koch Industries, Inc., 1998 WL ___
(D.Kan. April 3, 1998).  Trial in this case commenced on

                                                
1  Most of the other plaintiffs are cousins of the Koch brothers or are trusts
established on their behalf.  For simplicity, throughout this case these per-
sons, members of the Simmons family, have generally been referred to
collectively as “the Simmons plaintiffs.”
2  A more complete history of this case can be gleaned from the lengthy
memorandum and order entered by this court last summer which granted
in part and denied in part the defendants’ motion for summary judgment.
See Koch v. Koch Industries, Inc., 969 F. Supp. 1460 (D.Kan.1997).
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April 6, 1998.  The complexity of this case -- a case largely
turning upon events occurring between the years of 1980 and
1985-- is not easily captured in words.  As the remaining
claims concern Koch Industries’ “Pine Bend” refinery and the
manner in which certain items were disclosed in the financial
records of Koch Industries, the evidence in this case has, not
surprisingly, primarily concerned Koch Industries’ refinery
business and the accounting treatment of the challenged
items.  In addition, all parties have repeatedly explored the
family history of the Koch family and, in particular, the
strained relations between William Koch and Charles Koch.
The personal motives, biases and prejudices of each witness
are routinely explored in substantial depth.

On Friday, May 1, 1998, during the fourth week of the
trial, the plaintiffs filed a motion for mistrial (Dk.808).  In
that motion the plaintiffs argue that the defendants have vio-
lated two separate aspects of this court’s in limine rulings and
that the prejudice caused by those violations cannot be reme-
died by any lesser remedial measure.  First, the plaintiffs
contend that the defendants have violated the court’s order
regarding evidence of post-1985 lawsuits between any of the
plaintiffs and any of the defendants.  Specifically the plain-
tiffs contend that the defendants have unfairly interjected in-
flammatory and prejudicial evidence that William and Fred
Koch sued their mother, Mary Koch, in 1988/1989.  The
plaintiffs also contend that counsel for the defendants inten-
tionally violated the court’s in limine rulings by positing the
following question to William Koch during cross-
examination:  “Well, I think as long as you’re getting into the
allegations and the merits the Court found against you on
every issue . . . in those case (sic), didn’t they.”3  Secondly,
the plaintiffs contend that the defendants violated the court’s
in limine rulings by “eliciting David Koch’s testimony con-
cerning his visit to a psychiatrist he incorrectly believed was
                                                
3  The plaintiffs’ objection to this question was immediately sustained.
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counseling William Koch.”  Plaintiffs Motion for Mistrial
(Dk. 808 at page 7).

On May 1, 1998, the court heard oral argument to con-
sider the plaintiffs’ motion for mistrial.  The defendants op-
posed the plaintiffs’ motion.  The defendants contended that
no violation of the court’s in limine rulings has occurred, or in
the alternative, that if any in limine ruling has been violated,
nothing identified by the plaintiffs warrants granting their re-
quest for a mistrial.  At the conclusion of the hearing, the
court denied the plaintiffs’ motion.  The court further ind i-
cated that it would reduce its ruling to writing at a subsequent
date.  This memorandum and order summarizes and elabo-
rates on the court’s reasons for denying the plaintiffs’ motion
for mistrial.

Standards for Evaluating Motion for Mistrial

The admission of evidence, as well as the decision to
grant or deny a motion for mistrial, is committed to the dis-
cretion of the trial court.  See Towerridge, Inc. v. T.A.O., Inc.,
111 F.3d 758, 769 (10th Cir. 1997).  “The matter of declaring
a mistrial or granting a new trial on such grounds is peculiarly
within the discretion of the trial judge for he is in a better po-
sition than this court to assess the potentially prejudicial im-
pact of such conduct by parties, witnesses and counsel.”
Malandris v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, 703
F.2d 1152, 1179 (10th Cir. 1981) (citing Standard Industries,
Inc. v. Mobil Oil Corp, 475 F.2d 220, 228 (10th Cir.), cert.
denied, 414 U.S. 829, 94 S.Ct. 55, 38 L.Ed.2d 63 [1973])),
cert. denied, 464 U.S. 824 (1993).  “[A] mistrial is a drastic
remedy and should not be granted ‘unless there has been an
error so prejudicial that justice could not be served by con-
tinuing in the trial and there is no other method by which the
prejudice can be removed.’”  Waitek v. Dalkon Shield Claim-
ants Trust, 934 F.Supp. 1068, 1098 (N.D. Iowa 1996) (quot-
ing Underwood v. Colonial Penn Ins. Co., 888 F.2d 588, 590
(8th Cir. 1989) (citation omitted)), aff’d, 114 F.3d 117 (8th
Cir. 1997).  In determining whether a mistrial is warranted,
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the court should consider all relevant facts and circumstances
surrounding the movant’s motion.  That evaluation should
include a careful analysis of the degree and nature of the al-
leged prejudice in the context of the entire trial – as dis-
counted by the likely efficacy of less drastic remedial meas-
ures, such as limiting instructions or the striking of testimony.
Whether the non-moving party’s conduct that ostensibly pre-
cipitated the motion for mistrial was a knowing or willful
violation of the applicable evidentiary or procedural rules, or
a prior order of the court, or was done for an improper mo-
tive, are also considerations potentially relevant to this analy-
sis.

Analysis

Post-1985 Lawsuits:

Emotional reaction of Mary Koch to Foundation litigation

Contrary to the plaintiffs’ argument, defense counsel’s
questions related to William Koch’s suit against his mother
and her reaction to that suit did not violate the court’s in lim-
ine ruling.  In fact, as the transcript reflects, the court over-
ruled the plaintiffs’ objection to the latter question.  As the
proposed limiting instruction regarding post-1985 lawsuits
reflects,4 the court does not consider the propriety of William

                                                
4  After considering the submissions and arguments of the parties, the
court has drafted the following limiting instruction:

You have heard testimony that William and Frederick Koch
have filed other lawsuits against their brothers, Charles and David
Koch. [You also have heard evidence that Charles and David Koch
have filed lawsuits against William and Frederick Koch.]  This tes-
timony has been offered as some evidence of the state of the family
relationships between the four Koch brothers.  You may consider
this evidence on issues of the motives, intent, bias, and credibility
of the parties.  You may not consider the testimony as evidence that
any of the parties files too many lawsuits or files lawsuits which
lack merit.  It is not an issue for you to decide or even to consider
whether the brothers’ feelings for each other and other family
members are proper or not.  This case is not to be decided on the
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Koch’s feelings toward his mother to be an issue in this case,
but the court does believe it may be relevant in judging the
intensity of William Koch’s feelings towards his brothers for
the jury to hear that William Koch risked and disregarded his
mother’s feelings in suing his brothers.  Any doubts that the
court may have had about its in limine ruling are gone after
seeing the plaintiffs’ case to date and the issues that have
been emphasized.  The plaintiffs, in particular through the
testimony of William Koch, have gone to great lengths to
highlight Charles’ and David’s feelings toward William.  De-
spite all the pretrial wrangling over this issue, the court does
not believe that anyone is really surprised by how the evi-
dence on this issue has come in.

Defense Counsel’s Question Disclosing the Results of the
William and Fred Koch’s Litigation Contesting Their
Mother’s Will

The court agrees that defense counsel’s question disclos-
ing the outcome of William and Fred Koch’s litigation con-
testing Mary Koch’s will violated the order in limine.  The
court also considers William Koch’s testimony preceding that
question to have exceeded the scope of the order in limine.
Instead of just answering the question and then letting the
plaintiffs’ counsel elicit William Koch’s reasons for the suit,
William Koch jumped ahead and gave his reasons but de-
scribed them so as to appear as a factual attack on the integ-
rity of the defense counsel.

Neither of these circumstances warrant the serious relief
of a mistrial in this case.  The court believes both sides have
violated the order in limine in this case.  The court notes that

                                                                                              
basis of passion or prejudice for or against any party but on the
weight and credibility of the evidence on the essential elements of
the underlying claims.

This instruction will be provided to the jury either during the presentation
of evidence or in the court’s final instructions.
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the plaintiffs requested and the defendants agreed to an order
in limine that foreclosed both sides from presenting evidence
or referring to “comments, findings or rulings made by this
court or any other court concerning the plaintiffs, the defen-
dants or any of the claims in this case or any other litigation
involving these partes.”  Despite this agreed order, the plain-
tiffs have repeatedly referred to the magistrate judge’s and the
district court’s discovery orders in the Koch I litigation with-
out ever first approaching the bench and asking for the court
to reconsider its ruling. 5  In fact, both exhibits were both of-
fered by the plaintiffs and even admitted into evidence with-
out objection from the defendants.  In addition, the plaintiffs
have even highlighted portions of the magistrate judge’s order
as it concerns the Fortune article.  This having been said, this
is the court’s point:  The court wants both sides to abide by
the order in limine in toto, and that if the parties subsequently
agree to matters that contravene the order then they should
inform the court first.  If any party intends to broach an area
addressed in the order in limine then that party should inform
the other side and court first.  Although both sides have trans-
gressed certain aspects of the in limine rulings, the parties
have in general done a fine job of abiding by the letter and
spirit of the numerous rulings set forth in the court’s in limine
rulings.  The court anticipates that counsel will continue with
those efforts, particularly in light of these additional admoni-
tions.

                                                
5  In light of these transgressions, the court read the following limiting
instruction, approved by all parties, to the jury:

You should not consider any written order of this court, or any
written order of the magistrate judge, to be any comment on any of
the evidence relevant to the issues before you.  You are the sole
judges of the facts.
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David Koch’s Testimony Regarding the Psychiatrist

In its April 3, 1998, memorandum and order, the court
made the following ruling on the plaintiffs’ motion to recon-
sider the court’s March 20, 1998, memorandum and order:

The court modifies its earlier ruling as to David Koch’s
testimony concerning his visit with a psychiatrist during
which the psychiatrist made certain comments about
William Koch.  The court takes this motion under ad-
visement, and neither side shall refer to this evidence in
any statement, argument, or testimony before the jury
without first approaching the bench and having its ad-
missibility determined by the court.  The court denies
the plaintiffs’ motion to reconsider as it concerns Char-
les Koch’s testimony about what William Koch had told
him.

April 3, 1998, Memorandum and Order at 12 (footnote
omitted).

Contrary to the plaintiffs’ arguments, the defendants did
not “deliberately violate” the court’s April 3, 1998, order
during their examination of David Koch.  So that it is clear,
the court’s April 3, 1998, order did not preclude the defen-
dants from eliciting testimony from David Koch regarding the
fact that he once visited a psychiatrist whom he believed to be
treating William Koch.  Instead, the order was only intended
to preclude the parties from eliciting testimony regarding
statements attributed to the psychiatrist.  Assuming, argu-
endo, that the psychiatrist’s statements to David Koch are not
privileged and subject to exclusion on that basis alone, the
proponent of such testimony must clear the additional hurdle
of demonstrating the admissibility of the psychiatrist’s state-
ments as non-hearsay or as falling within a recognized hear-
say exception.  Prior to attempting to elicit any statements
attributed to the psychiatrist, the party seeking to elicit that
testimony shall first approach the bench.
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As David Koch did not testify about any statements at-
tributed to the psychiatrist,6 the court’s in limine ruling was
not violated.  The court believes that David Koch’s limited
testimony on this issue was relevant to rebut the plaintiffs’
suggestion that David Koch harbors nothing but ill-will for
his twin brother William.  In any event, this brief testimony
on this issue in no way precludes any of the plaintiffs from
receiving a fair trial in this case.

Summary

In sum, the court does not believe that the plaintiffs have
been unfairly prejudiced by any of the matters identified in
their motion for mistrial.  Any prejudice suffered as a result of
defense counsel’s question regarding the outcome of William
and Fred Koch’s challenge to their mother’s will can be ade-
quately addressed by appropriate limiting instructions.  The
court will instruct the jurors at the close of the case directing
that they should consider only admitted evidence, that an at-
torney’s question is not evidence, and that it is the witnesses’
answers which are evidence.  The court believes any possible
unfair prejudice will be cured by these instructions and the
court’s limiting instruction on the post-1985 lawsuits.  See
United States v. Cardall, 885 F.2d 656 (10th Cir. 1989) (the
assumption that juries can and will follow the instructions
they are given is fundamental to our system).

The evidence highlighted by the plaintiffs’ motion as “un-
fairly prejudicial” occupies only a small percentage of the
mass of information presented during only the first four
weeks of trial.  Properly viewed in its context, the evidence
and events identified by the plaintiffs as prejudicial are insuf-
ficient to warrant a mistrial.  In short, there is no reason to
believe that the prejudice suffered by any party is of sufficient

                                                
6  Counsel for the defendants specifically eschewed any attempt to elicit
such testimony from David Koch. Trial Transcript at 1280.
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magnitude as to have seriously prejudiced their respective
right to a fair trial.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the “Plaintiffs’ Mo-
tion for Mistrial”  (Dk.808) is denied.
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APPENDIX E
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Before EBEL, McWILLIAMS, and MURPHY, Circuit
Judges.

___________________________________

The petitions for rehearing are denied.

The petitions for rehearing en banc are also denied.

The petitions for rehearing en banc were transmitted to all
of the judges of the court who are in regular active service as
required by Fed. R. App. P. 35.  As no member of the panel
and no judge in regular active service on the court requested
that the court be polled, those petitions are also denied.

Entered for the Court

PATRICK FISHER, Clerk of the Court

by: /s/
Deputy Clerk


